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The Department of Indigenous Affairs has faced criticism 
over the years for its inability to resolve ingrained issues 
that continue to have an impact on Aboriginal people in 
Western Australia (WA). This year the Department made  
a commitment to address these challenges. 

This commitment meant some difficult decisions  
had to be made. 

The Department addressed the long term systemic 
issues at Oombulgurri Aboriginal Community following 
a coronial inquest in March 2011 and, in consultation 
with the community, relocated residents in temporary 
accommodation at Wyndham. Securing safe, sustainable 
long term accommodation options is our key priority for 
the residents of the community.

In 2006, the Commonwealth Parliament Senate 
Standing Committee on Legal and Constitutional Affairs 
recommended action on the matter of ‘stolen wages’. 
This matter was not finalised until December 2011, when 
the current Government approved a reparation payment 
of up to $2,000 to eligible Aboriginal people. The Stolen 
Wages Reparation Scheme is an acknowledgement by 
Government that the practice of stolen wages occurred.

Following a coronial inquest into the death of a teenage 
Aboriginal girl at the Swan Valley Nyungah Community, the 
2002 Gordon Action Plan (GAP) comprised 120 initiatives 
undertaken between 2003 and 2007. In September 
2011, the Department completed a review of the status 
of the GAP’s initiatives, including an assessment of which 
activities are still in place and the extent to which the 
programs funded under the GAP have been incorporated 
into agency core business. 

Various reviews highlighting the 
need for legislative change to 
the aboriginal Heritage act 1972 
(AHA) have resulted in only a few 
amendments to the legislation 
since 1972. With the engagement 
of a specialised consultant, the 
Department conducted a review 
of the AHA with the primary focus 
of providing better protection for 
Aboriginal cultural heritage in WA.

Part IV of the aboriginal affairs 
planning authority act 1972 (AAPA), 
relating to the estates of Aboriginal 
people who die intestate, has long been criticised for being 
discriminatory towards Aboriginal people. The Department 
resolved to address this issue and developed a Cabinet 
proposal to repeal Part IV of the AAPA in its entirety. The 
Government approved the proposal and the Department will 
continue to progress this legislative change.

The Department has focused on re-establishing and 
improving our relationship with our boards this year and this 
has resulted in strong, effective chairpersons and greater 
engagement of board members. This refreshed partnership 
has assured the boards’ interactive support and enhances 
their ability to strategically advise Government.

O V E R V I E W

F R O M  t H E  D I R E C t O R  G E N E R A L

Smoking Ceremony at new office premises.
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O V E R V I E W

F R O M  t H E  D I R E C t O R  G E N E R A L

The Department has also revitalised its relationship 
with other key government, industry and community 
stakeholders. For example, the creation of a new  
industry committee, the Aboriginal Heritage and Native 
Title Industry Liaison Committee (AHNTILC), has provided 
a forum for resource industry groups to raise and  
discuss issues relating to Aboriginal heritage and 
native title in WA. AHNTILC is just one of many valuable 
stakeholders the Department relies on to provide advice 
and support for the protection of Aboriginal heritage and 
divestment of land. 

To address the criticism of poor corporate capacity and 
governance, the Department reviewed its organisational 
framework and developed a functional structure that 
would serve to attract, retain and foster strong, effective 
staff. This new structure embraces staff expertise and 
provides relevant tools and staff training to improve our 
capacity and advance our priority areas. The move to our 
new office premises in East Perth in June encapsulated 
this restructure and our new direction.

These are just some of the sustained issues the 
Department has addressed this year, strengthening our 
capacity to provide better life outcomes for Aboriginal 
people across the State.

In June 2012, the Indigenous Affairs Strategic Framework 
2012-2014 was launched, placing the Department in a 
key position to both influence and reform. The Framework 
will assist us to take significant steps toward addressing 
issues in the four priority areas of Aboriginal Heritage, 
Aboriginal Land, Accountable Government and Community 
Development. These four areas inform the Government’s 
Indigenous Affairs policy intentions and reflect a balanced 
approach to satisfy the needs of as many stakeholders  
as possible. 

Our refocus signals a significant shift in the way the 
Department contributes to Government and community.  
It provides the way forward for a new operation and policy 
framework designed to meet the contemporary needs 
of Aboriginal people. In doing so, the framework also 
focuses on Aboriginal people receiving maximum benefit 
of Government investment and sharing in the wealth  
of this State.

By setting strategic priorities that deliver tangible results, 
the Department continues to be in a strong position to 
play a key role in influencing Government for improvement 
in the lives of Aboriginal people. Better outcomes for 
Aboriginal people will only come from a desire to face the 
challenges, ask the hard questions and demonstrate the 
capacity to deal with the issues that demand improvement 
and reform.

Cliff Weeks

Director General

Department of Indigenous Affairs

Kym Carter addresses guests at the launch 
of the Department’s Strategic Framework 
2012-14.

New office premises in East Perth. Perth Homeless Response Forum.
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Leading action to improve life opportunities for Aboriginal people

Our Purpose

managing aboriginal heritage and land held in trust for 
future generations.

ensuring outcomes for aboriginal people through 
community development and government investments.

Our Future

aboriginal people benefit from the same opportunities, 
expectations and standards as non-aboriginal people 
whilst maintaining a strong, vibrant culture.

Our Values

We...

 � Embrace Aboriginal culture 

respect aboriginal cultural values and ways of working 
and promote an improved understanding in the wider 
community.

 � Show respect 

Value the worth of individuals, aboriginal expertise, the 
knowledge of elders and our australian Indigenous history.

 � take responsibility 

take ownership of our actions and clearly articulate their 
purpose and outcomes.

 � Act with integrity 

earn and sustain public trust by performing our work 
conscientiously, reliably and transparently.

 � Foster innovation 

Develop leading edge approaches and translate them into 
tangible action for the benefit of the community.

 � Achieve excellence 

strive to do things better and collectively create a culture 
of achievement.

Leadership

We...

 � Set clear, consistent and achievable goals 

Communicate clear direction; be proactive; promote 
innovative ideas; and be prepared to make tough 
decisions.

 � Build and support our team to perform 

offer opportunities; recognise contributions; encourage 
staff development; delegate responsibility; and engage the 
right people to do the right job.

 � Collaborate 

Create purposeful and strategic relationships in which all 
parties choose to cooperate in order to accomplish shared 
outcomes for aboriginal people.

 � Set an example 

share information; take responsibility for actions; admit 
mistakes; be receptive to ideas and feedback; and model 
desired behaviours in all situations.

Responsible Minister

the Department of Indigenous affairs is responsible to 
the Hon peter Collier mlC, minister for education; energy; 
Indigenous affairs.

Enabling Legislation

the Department of Indigenous affairs is established 
as a department under section 35 of the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994.

O V E R V I E W

A N  I N t R O D U C t I O N  t O  t H E  D E P A R t M E N t
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Administered Legislation

the Department of Indigenous affairs is responsible for administering the following legislation that affects the well-being of 
aboriginal people:

Aboriginal Affairs Planning 
Authority Act 1972

Consultation, planning, coordination and adequacy of services 
to aboriginal people. 

establishes the aboriginal lands trust, which has operational 
functions related to land.

Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972 specific responsibilities relating to the management and 
protection of heritage sites.

Aboriginal Communities Act 1979 enables aboriginal people to establish by-laws that govern 
conduct on and access to community lands.

Organisational Structure

Note: structure current to 30 June 2012. the Department is reviewing its executive level structure in 2012-13.

O V E R V I E W

A N  I N t R O D U C t I O N  t O  t H E  D E P A R t M E N t

Director General
Of�ce of the Director 
General
Director General Support & 
  Ministerial Management
Corporate Communications

Deputy Director General
Operations
Economic Development
Strategic Initiatives
Remote Service Delivery, 
  East & West Kimberley
Operational Services 
South & Central

Deputy Director General 
Corporate Strategy
Finance
Human Resources
Information Solutions
Program Management 
  & Development
Business Management

Executive Director
Operations Services
Heritage & Culture
Land 
Registrar

Executive Director
Strategy & Advice
Policy
Legal
Community Partnerships
Intergovernmental Unit

Chief Operating Of�cers
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the Department primarily contributes to the government 
goal of outcome Based service Delivery – greater focus 
on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the 
benefit of all Western australians.

the Department works with aboriginal and torres 
strait Islander people, local, state and Commonwealth 
government agencies, to progress sustainable 
improvement in social, cultural and economic  
outcomes for Indigenous people. this is achieved  
through two key services:

 � it works in partnership with key stakeholders to 
undertake initiatives that provide agreed outcomes 
for aboriginal communities.  for example, the setting 
up of the regional operations Centre in Broome in 
conjunction with the Commonwealth Department of 
families, Housing, Community services and Indigenous 
affairs to implement reforms in the delivery of services 
to priority locations; and

 � it provides information and advice on Indigenous 
policy, resource developments, land management 
and social issues (among others) to government, 
aboriginal people, industry, and other key stakeholders.  
for example, the Department provides advice to 
government through statutory boards and committees 
such as the aboriginal lands trust.

the following diagram illustrates our key outcome, 
services and performance indicators.

there were no changes to the performance management 
framework during the reporting period.

the Department of Indigenous affairs does not have any 
shared responsibilities with other agencies.

O V E R V I E W

G O V E R N M E N t  G O A L S

Performance Management Framework

Outcome-based Service Delivery
Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery 

areas for the bene�t of all Western Australians

Desired Indigenous Affairs Outcome for Government
Sustainable improvement in social, cultural and economic 

outcomes for Indigenous people

Measures of Effectiveness

The extent to which parties in a 
sample of partnering arrangements 
indicate they have been assisted to 
achieve agreed outcomes, which 

contribute to Government objectives

The extent to which users indicated 
the policy and or advice assisted their 

decision-making

Measures of Ef�ciency

Service 1:
Support to partnerships, 

partnering initiatives

Average cost per land partnering and 
project initiative

Average cost per heritage and culture 
partnership and project initiative

Average cost per coordinating, cooperating 
partnership and project initiative

Service 2:
Information and advice

Average cost per unit of 
advice offered

Average cost per request 
answered/recommendations made

Average cost per unit of 
information supplied
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Summary of Performance 

a summary of the actual results against targets contained in the Department’s annual resource agreement with the 
minister and the treasurer are below. the resource agreement contains financial and non-financial performance targets.  
explanations of significant variances between actual results and targets are also provided.

for detailed information, including commentary on trends, refer to the financial statements and Key performance Indicators 
included in the Disclosures and legal Compliance section of this report.

Financial targets

Estimate 
$000

Actual 
$000

Variance 
$000

total cost of services (expense limit) 41,263 39,921 1,342

Net cost of services 39,931 37,610 2,321

total equity 9,757 4,022 5,735

the variance is primarily related to the receipt of funds for stolen 
Wages and Decommissioning of shared services as well as funds 
relating to 2010-11 supplementary funding.  

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 8,059 4,074 3,985

the variance is primarily related to the receipt of funds for stolen 
Wages and Decommissioning of shared services as well as funds 
relating to 2010-11 supplementary funding.  

Approved full time equivalent (FtE)  
staff level

186 171 15

the variance is mainly due to delays in the recruitment process.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E 

S U M M A R Y  O F  P E R F O R M A N C E
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Key Effectiveness Indicators

Service 1:  the extent to which parties in a sample of partnering arrangements indicate they have been assisted to achieve 
agreed outcomes, which contribute to government objectives

2011-12 2010-11

agree / strongly agree 56.8 61.2

neither agree nor Disagree 17.6 16.9

Disagree / strongly Disagree 24.3 20.4

not applicable 1.4 1.6

total 100 100

note: actual results are calculated by combining the percentage of agree and strongly agree responses.

Service 2:  the extent to which users indicated the policy and or advice assisted their decision-making

2011-12 2010-11

agree / strongly agree 59.4 56.9

neither agree nor Disagree 16.9 20.0

Disagree / strongly Disagree 23.7 18.8

not applicable - 4.3

total 100 100

note: actual results are calculated by combining the percentage of agree and strongly agree responses.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E 

S U M M A R Y  O F  P E R F O R M A N C E

Leeuwin II, Minister for Indigenous Affairs with  
Tarquinn and Tobin Brownley. 

Minister lays a wreath at the Honouring Indigenous War Graves memorial wall.
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Key Efficiency Indicators

Service 1: Support to partnerships, 
partnering initiatives

target  
$

Actual  
$

Variance  
$

1.1  average cost per land partnering and 
project initiative

71,201 53,782 (17,419)

1.2  average cost per heritage and culture 
partnership and project initiative

68,575 84,279 15,704

1.3  average cost per coordinating,  
cooperating and collaborating partnership 
and project initiative

166,671 126,047 (40,624)

Service 2: Information and advice
target  

$
Actual  

$
Variance  

$

2.1 average cost per unit of advice offered 48,946 40,939 (8,007)

2.2  average cost per request answered/
recommendation made

2,412 3,266 854

2.3  average cost per unit of information supplied 79 57 (22)

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E 

S U M M A R Y  O F  P E R F O R M A N C E
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Report on Operations

Dealing with the past to prepare for the future…

over the last 12 months, the Department of Indigenous 
affairs (the Department) has embarked on a period of 
reform that has seen the organisation grow, strengthen 
and build its capacity. as a result, the Department has 
better positioned itself to more effectively meet the needs 
of government and of aboriginal people in Western 
australia (Wa). In doing so, there has been a need to 
address a number of legacy issues that have remained 
unresolved for far too long.  

this year, the Department developed a strategic direction 
that gives staff and the community a clear understanding 
of the role and priorities of the organisation. the 
Department’s Corporate executive has also reviewed the 
structure of the organisation and, in conjunction with 
staff and the public sector Commission, has made the 
necessary changes to more effectively utilise its human 
resources to meet the challenges that lie ahead.

the Department has faced criticism over the years about 
its inability to resolve longstanding issues that continue 
to have an impact on aboriginal people across the state.  
this year, the Department made a commitment to meet 
these challenges and has successfully addressed many of 
these issues.

Oombulgurri Aboriginal Community

In consultation with the residents, the Department has 
addressed the long term systemic issues at oombulgurri 
aboriginal Community. ex-residents of the community 
have been housed in temporary accommodation and the 
Department will continue to work with key stakeholders 
to develop appropriate and sustainable long term 
accommodation options. the Department is also engaging 
with native title Claimants to discuss land issues and the 
future of the oombulgurri reserve.

Indigenous Implementation Board

the government response to the Indigenous 
Implementation Board’s third report has been completed 
with input from relevant public sector agencies. It is 
anticipated that this response will be published on the 
Department’s website in the near future.

Gordon Action Plan

the gordon action plan (2002) was government’s 
response to an inquiry by Dr sue gordon following a 
Coronial inquest into the death of a teenage aboriginal girl 
at the swan Valley nyungah Community.

the state government’s gordon action plan 2003-2007 
comprised 120 initiatives supported by approximately 
$72 million in funding over four years to June 2007 to 
reduce family violence, abuse and neglect experienced 
by aboriginal children and families. the funds allocated 
under the gordon action plan were not provided by the 
Department but through normal budgetary processes. 

In september 2011, the Department completed a review 
of the status of gordon action plan initiatives, including an 
assessment of which activities are still in place and the 
extent to which the programs funded under the gordon 
action plan have been incorporated into agency core 
business. this review was undertaken in consultation with 
all the relevant agencies and will be provided to the public 
accounts Committee.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E

R E P O R t  O N  O P E R A t I O N S
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Stolen Wages

following the 2006 recommendations of the 
Commonwealth parliament senate standing Committee 
on legal and Constitutional affairs for action on the 
matter of ‘stolen wages’, the former Western australian 
state government approved in may 2007 a taskforce to 
examine the practices relating to the government control 
of aboriginal people’s money.

the Department subsequently undertook a process of 
consultation, archival research and policy analysis to 
understand the nature and scope of the issue. While the 
stolen Wages taskforce concluded that many aboriginal 
people experienced some form of government control over 
their lives, including their income, the limited documentation 
available made it difficult to verify the number of people 
affected and how much had been held.

on 12 December 2011, the state government approved a 
reparation payment of up to $2,000 to aboriginal people 
born before 1958 who experienced direct government 
control over their income while resident at government 
native welfare settlements in Western australia. the 
stolen Wages scheme (scheme) is not an attempt to 
repay wages withheld, but, rather the ex gratia payment is 
an acknowledgement by government that the practice of 
stolen Wages did occur.

as at 30 June 2012, the Department had received 
in excess of 550 applications for the scheme and 
has commenced payments to eligible applicants. the 
Department worked with the relevant agencies to ensure 
that the payments were exempted from taxation and 
for the purposes of the Social Security Act 1991, thus 
reducing any further impacts on eligible applicants. 
further details are available on the Department’s website 
http://www.dia.wa.gov.au/en/stolen-Wages/

Legislative review

since 1972, there have been numerous reviews that 
have highlighted the need for legislative change to 
the Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972 (aHa). However, few 
amendments to the legislation have been made, despite 
significant changes to the legal, economic and social 
environments surrounding the preservation and protection 
of aboriginal cultural heritage. the robust debate 
surrounding past reviews and absence of amendments to 
the aHa reflects the complex balance that exists between 
upholding the social and cultural values of the community, 
and meeting its economic and development needs.  With 
the engagement of Dr John avery, the Department has 
conducted a review of the aHa with the primary purpose 
of providing better protection for aboriginal cultural 
heritage in Wa. further information about the review 
will be provided in the aboriginal Heritage section of this 
report, page 14.

similarly part IV of the Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority 
Act 1972 (aapa) relating to the estates of aboriginal 
people who die intestate, has long been criticised for 
being discriminatory towards aboriginal people and for 
causing delays in the administration of aboriginal people’s 
estates. this year, the Department resolved to address 
this issue and in doing so has consulted extensively with 
the Western australian aboriginal advisory Council, the 
arts law Centre of australia, the public trustee, the state 
solicitor’s office and the Department of the attorney 
general. With consideration of the Wa law reform 
Commission’s 2006 report on aboriginal customary 
law, which made a number of criticisms of part IV, the 
Department developed a cabinet proposal to repeal part IV 
of the aapa in its entirety.  

the state government approved the proposal to repeal 
part IV of the aapa and the Department will continue to 
work closely with the parliamentary Council’s office to 
progress this legislative change in the coming months.

the Department has continually strengthened its 
capacity to effectively engage with key stakeholders. 
the reform process was undertaken in consultation 
with the Western australian aboriginal advisory 
Council, the aboriginal lands trust and the 
aboriginal Cultural material Committee. their 
involvement has ensured that all boards will be well 
placed to increase their effectiveness in meeting 
their objectives and assisting the Department to 
address the needs, priorities and aspirations of 
aboriginal people in Wa.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E

R E P O R t  O N  O P E R A t I O N S

Minister for Indigenous Affairs with Department trainees Odette and Khyla.

http://www.dia.wa.gov.au/en/Stolen-Wages/
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Fair Game WA: Health, Fitness and Wellness Program 2012

Fair Game is a health prevention and community development organisation that recycles 
donated sports equipment and provides education and inspiration to under-serviced 
communities, including remote Aboriginal communities. 

By partnering with local communities and organisations, fair game aims to deliver culturally-appropriate programs to 
areas of need. fair game increases an awareness of aboriginal issues for a large number of private school students, 
sport/fitness club members and competitive sports teams in major urban centres through its programs.  Volunteers 
are also given the opportunity to understand local aboriginal culture and form friendships and relationships with 
communities through their ongoing involvement with the programs. 

Volunteers receive cultural training and briefing through the Indigenous Community Volunteers organisation, educating 
and inspiring their participation. the program has a diverse group of volunteers, including students, nurses, teachers, 
doctors, podiatrists, corporate professionals, graphic designers and media staff. 

the Department provided sponsorship to fair game to facilitate the participation of a greater numbers of student 
volunteers. this will lead to stronger community relations, greater program efficiency and a deeper understanding  
of pertinent aboriginal issues. 

projects will be delivered in the pilbara, east Kimberley, West Kimberley and perth metropolitan areas  
in the coming months. for more information about fair game, visit http://www.fairgamewa.org/ 

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E

R E P O R t  O N  O P E R A t I O N S

Fair Game WA: Health, Fitness and Wellness Program 2012.

http://www.fairgamewa.org/
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Aboriginal Heritage

The Aboriginal Cultural Material Committee (ACMC) 
has been in existence for almost 40 years. In that time 
although its structure has altered a little and, of course, 
its personnel has changed radically, its function has 
essentially remained constant. That function, set out in 
section 39 of the aboriginal Heritage act 1972 (the Act), 
is to evaluate on behalf of the community the importance 
of places and objects alleged to be associated with 
Aboriginal persons and, where appropriate, record and 
preserve Aboriginal lore related to such places and 
objects. The ACMC is also required to recommend to the 
relevant Minister places and objects which in its opinion 
are or have been of special significance to persons of 
Aboriginal descent and which should be preserved, 
acquired and managed by the Minister. In addition, the 
ACMC can be required to advise the Minister on matters 
related to the Act when requested to do so by the Minister.

Currently, the great bulk of the ACMC’s work involves 
evaluating the importance and significance of places of 
Aboriginal association. In performing this task, the Act 
requires the ACMC to have regard for a wide range of 
factors. Principal amongst them are associated sacred 
beliefs and ritual or ceremonial usage, in so far as they 
can be ascertained.

As the Department of Indigenous Affair’s recently released 
Strategic Framework 2012-14 suggests, there is tension 
between the statutory heritage responsibilities and 
economic priorities. This is especially the case at this 
time, with significant activity in the mining and resource 
sectors of the economy. As the framework indicates, 
this tension is “exacerbating uncertainty and conflict 
for industry and community”. One way of dealing with 
this tension is to make conditional recommendations 
which permit development whilst, as far as is practical, 
preserving Aboriginal heritage. In doing so, the ACMC 
endeavours to recommend conditions that are clear and 
precise, confined to protection of heritage and limited to 
the circumstances of the case. 

No one can argue rationally that 
there is not a need to protect 
Aboriginal heritage.  
As well as being of significance 
to Aboriginal people, that 
heritage is an important 
aspect of the history of this 
State. Whether this need 
necessitates an industry of the 
kind that has developed out 
of the process set up by the 
Parliament to protect Aboriginal 
heritage is open to question. In 
particular, I question whether 
it was ever the intention of the 
Parliament that the processes 
associated with the function of the ACMC should involve 
costly consultations, voluminous heritage reports and a 
requirement for costly monitoring of projects affecting 
Aboriginal heritage. 

I take this opportunity to thank each of my colleagues 
for their contribution to the ACMC. Although the 
ACMC operates independently of the Department, the 
Department as the manager of Aboriginal heritage in 
this State provides valuable administrative support to the 
ACMC. I thank the Departmental officers, in particular  
the Director General and the Registrar, for their support 
and assistance.

Hon. gavin fielding am

Chair 

Aboriginal Cultural Material Committee

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E

A B O R I G I N A L  H E R I t A G E
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the Department of Indigenous affairs (the Department) 
is responsible for administering the Aboriginal Heritage 
Act 1972 (aHa) which prescribes specific responsibilities 
relating to the management and protection of heritage 
sites. the aboriginal Cultural material Committee (aCmC) 
is the statutory committee convened under the aHa. 
the aCmC advises the minister for Indigenous affairs on 
aboriginal heritage matters.

Our shared history…

evidence of aboriginal heritage in australia dates back 
more than 50,000 years. as well as being historically 
important, aboriginal heritage is of continuing significance 
to the state and provides aboriginal people with an 
important link to their culture and past. In Western 
australia (Wa), there are approximately 15,000 registered 
aboriginal heritage sites and records of an additional 
15,000+ places across the state. these heritage 
sites and places vary in type and include artefacts, 
ceremonial, engravings, fish traps, grinding patches/
grooves, historical, human made structures, midden 
scatters, modified trees, paintings, quarries, repositories 
and skeletal remains/burials. protecting this heritage and 
history remains of critical importance to the Department 
and to the aboriginal people of Wa.

Burrup.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E
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Arts Law Centre of Australia: Aboriginal Wills Project 

The Arts Law Centre of Australia (Arts Law) is the national community legal centre for the 
arts. Arts Law operates the Artists in the Black service, which provides a legal service for 
Indigenous artists, communities and arts organisations.

aboriginal artists in remote and regional communities have limited 
access to legal advice and when they pass away, can leave estates 
containing copyright, resale royalty entitlements and unsold works. 

through funding assistance from the Department and pro bono 
support of legal professionals, arts law drafts wills for aboriginal 
artists and provides legal assistance for families and art centres of 
artists who have passed away to deal with intestacy. 

Communities that this project has supported include martumili artists 
in the pilbara, spinifex artists in the goldfields, and artists in the 
murchison/gascoyne. plans for the 2012-13 financial year include 
assisting communities in the Kimberley and south West with wills.

Chrissie Sailor, sewing, Jigalong.  
Courtesy Ashburton Aboriginal Corporation.
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the need for better protection…

Having committed to reviewing the aHa, the Department 
sought the best advice possible and appointed Dr John 
avery, as an independent consultant to conduct the 
review. Dr avery has considerable expertise in the area 
of aboriginal heritage reforms, having worked with 
the Commonwealth government on the reforms to the 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Heritage Protection 
Act 1984 (Cth) previously. Dr avery was also involved with 
the development of heritage legislation in the northern 
territory and is an eminent senior anthropologist with 
experience in land rights and aboriginal heritage who has 
engaged for many years with aboriginal people.  

In april 2012, the Department released for public 
comment a paper entitled ‘seven proposals’ to regulate 
and amend the Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972 for improved 
clarity, compliance, effectiveness, efficiency and certainty, 
which outlines the proposed reforms to the aHa. 

the seven proposals to improve outcomes under the  
aHa are:

Proposal 1:  prescribe the manner and form of the 
register.

Proposal 2:  additional criteria pertaining to aboriginal 
sites of state importance.

Proposal 3:  stronger compliance measures including 
civil penalties and remediation orders and 
adjustment to the onus of proof provisions.

Proposal 4:  site impact avoidance certificates.

Proposal 5:  enable the Department to levy fees and 
recover costs for surveys and other services.

Proposal 6:  remove risk that section 18 consents 
may be technically invalid because of the 
definition of ‘the owner of any land’.

Proposal 7:  Investigate options to amend the Aboriginal 
Heritage Act 1972 and the Environmental 
Protection Act 1986 to streamline decisions 
about aboriginal heritage.

of the seven proposals for improvement to the operation 
of the aHa recommended by Dr avery, five comprise 
amendments to the aHa and two include amendments to 
the Aboriginal Heritage Regulations 1974. the Department 
committed to effectively consult with stakeholders before 
any such changes were made and the paper was released 
for public comment. the Department and Dr avery targeted 
key aboriginal, government, and industry stakeholders for 
briefing sessions during the consultation period.

the consultation period for the paper closed on 26 June 
2012, and more than 100 submissions were received.  
Dr avery is reviewing the submissions and will further 
advise the government on the proposals for reform prior 
to a decision being taken to implement them.

Koomal Dreaming. Josh in Gnilgi Cave. Courtesy WAITOC.
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Hearson Cove

The Hearson Cove Compound (the Compound) is a significant heritage site on the Burrup 
Peninsula and a priority heritage protection project for the Department. 

the Compound is located on Crown land reserve and currently vested in the Western 
australian museum. It contains approximately 1,808 petroglyphs which were relocated 
primarily from Woodside-operated leases in the north West shelf Venture liquid natural 
gas project. for many years, the petroglyphs in the Compound have been a source of 
concern to traditional owners of the area. 

During 2011-12, the Department undertook extensive consultation with traditional owners, 
community members, industry and government agencies to develop a heritage 
management plan for the future of the management and protection of the Compound.

the primary aim of the plan is to provide a long term solution for the Compound 
and ensure that the rock art is more appropriately located in the surrounding 
natural environment. the plan also ensures that relocation is consistent with the 
cultural directions of traditional owners and heritage management best practice 
and provides for agreed principles identified by the senior men from the ngarluma, 
Yaburara/mardudhunera, Wong-goo-tt-oo and Yindjibarndi groups.

In september 2012, the Department, in partnership with consulting archaeologists, will undertake stages 2 and 3  
of the plan, which includes an audit of the Compound and a survey of the rock outcrop area adjacent to the 
Compound. this audit and survey will inform the future stages of the plan to remediate the area.

A systematic approach….

to complement the proposed reforms, the Department is 
developing new business systems to improve compliance 
and information management, including the development 
of the aboriginal Heritage electronic lodgements 
program (aHelp) online application lodgement project.  
this initiative is also part of the state government’s 
overall commitment to reforming approvals processes 
for development projects and, from the Department’s 
perspective, protecting aboriginal heritage.

the proposed reforms and aHelp will bring about 
significant improvements to how heritage information is 
received and managed by the Department.  Benefits of 
the project will include: 

 � greater compliance and capacity to protect the state’s 
legislative obligations under the aHa with aboriginal 
heritage and culture; 

 � a reduction in costs to industry proponents for land 
applications; and 

 � vastly improved collaboration, communication  
and information sharing between government  
approval agencies.

the Department has completed a proof of concept and 
pilot for the aHelp system. the Department is currently 
working to develop the pilot to improve functionality 
and enable applications to be lodged and handled 
electronically. significant improvements have been made 
already and the aCmC receives most of its information in 
digital format.  

the Department anticipates that the aHelp program 
development will take place over a two to three year 
period, with staged implementation planned to deliver 
early benefits. the next installation of improvements to 
the aHelp system will go live by november 2012, and 
the Department will have the ability to conduct heritage 
business without the need for any paper copies by the 
end of 2013.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E
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taking action…

early in 2011, the office of the auditor general (oag) 
considered the performance of land approval agencies 
(including the Departments of mines and petroleum, 
environment and Conservation, and state Development 
and the office of the environmental protection authority) 
regarding compliance with conditions imposed on 
mining activity in Wa. the findings were critical of the 
Department’s performance in monitoring and enforcing 
compliance with conditions attached to section 18 
consents pursuant to the aHa.

prior to the release of the oag report, the Department 
was aware of the need to more effectively respond to 
potential breaches of the aHa. the Department has made 
significant improvements in the time taken to respond to 
compliance matters and allegations of damage to sites.  
the Department is now well placed to make decisions 
on compliance investigations within a 28 day period; that 
is, whether to proceed or close the matter. the reforms 
outlined previously will complement the Department’s 
ability to respond to compliance matters.  

a compliance unit was established in the latter stages 
of financial year 2010-11 and was fully operational 
as of 1 July 2011. the Department’s strengthened 
approach to compliance has seen an increased focus 
on building positive relationships and engaging with 
stakeholders. regional and metropolitan staff members 
have undertaken a program of auditing, training and 
education which has seen an improvement on how the 
Department reacts to requests for assistance and advice 
on compliance matters. the Department now has  
37 staff members trained in compliance/audit functions, 
providing state-wide coverage for heritage compliance 
and increasing the Department’s ability to investigate and 
respond to potential breaches of the aHa.

the Aboriginal Heritage and Native title Industry 
Liaison Committee

the aboriginal Heritage and native title Industry liaison 
Committee (aHntIlC) was established to formalise 
communication between government and the mining 
industry for issues related to aboriginal heritage and 
native title in Wa. the aHntIlC is the central forum 
for liaison between industry, stakeholder groups, the 
Department and the Department of the premier and 
Cabinet to address industry concerns with the aboriginal 
heritage and land access regimes, and other policy, 
procedures and regulations. It promotes a collaborative 
approach to the protection of aboriginal heritage.

aHntIlC meetings are held quarterly. to date, there have 
been two aHntIlC meetings held in 2011-12, the first of 
which was held in December 2011.

the Department at work…

Aboriginal History Research Unit

the aboriginal History research unit (aHru) continues to 
provide access to restricted government records and the 
privately owned collection of the south australian museum 
as part of its service for people seeking information on 
themselves or their ancestors.

further work to the processes and procedures which 
will enhance the services that the unit provides to clients 
is ongoing. ensuring that access to and dealing with 
personal information is in line with legislation has been 
a key focus of the aHru. a new access to restricted 
Information policy has been developed, as well as an 
updated staff manual documenting all the changes to 
processes and procedures within aHru. the Department 
has also undertaken a review of the information on the 
website relating to the aHru.

In 2011-12, aHru processed 182 applications:

 � family History: 130

 � native title: 41

 � access to archives: 11

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E
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Section 18 and 16 applications

the functions of the aCmC include evaluating, on behalf 
of the community, the importance of places and objects 
alleged to be associated with aboriginal people and 
providing advice to the minister on all aboriginal heritage 
matters across the state. the aCmC also considers 
applications made by landowners under section 18 of the 
aHa to use land on which aboriginal sites and objects are 
located and provides recommendations to the minister in 
relation to them.

During 2011-12, the Department received 133 section 
18 applications. the proportion of section 18 applications 
finalised within 70 days of receipt for this period was 53 
per cent.  a number of other heritage approvals were also 
issued during this time, including 21 section 16 permits 
for archaeological investigation. 

the Department is working to improve the quality of 
information supplied by section 18 applicants and to 
refine internal processes to increase the number of 
section 18 notices given consent by the minister within 
the required 70 day timeframe. Key initiatives of the 
Department include the development of aHelp and 
aHntIlC outlined earlier.

ACMC Approvals

2011-12
Section 

18
Section 

16

applications received 133 33

applications considered  
by aCmC

131 21

applications given consent 
by the minister

125 20

With its increased capacity, the Department’s Compliance 
unit has also commenced an audit program.  all section 
18 Consents, section 16 permits, regulation 10 permits 
and program of Works orders are subject to audit and a 
total of 52 audits were underway at the end of financial 
year 2011-12, six of which have been completed.

In 2011-12 the Compliance unit has:

 � increased section 18 annual compliance reports from 
45 per cent to 100 per cent;

 � received 57 new cases of potential incidences of 
disturbance to aboriginal sites; 

 � resolved and/or closed a further 94 cases of potential 
incidences of disturbance to aboriginal sites; and

 � demonstrated its increased ability to deal with potential 
incidences in a more timely manner.

Ancestral Remains

there were a total of nine ancestral remains dealt with by 
the Department in 2011-12, eight from the pilbara and 
one from the Kimberley region.

Deep Gorge, Burrup Peninsula.
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Aboriginal Land

The primary focus for the Aboriginal Lands Trust (ALT) is to effectively manage the 
Aboriginal Lands Trust estate on behalf of Aboriginal people in Western Australia, 
proactively supporting the divestment of land into appropriate Aboriginal ownership, 
supporting land tenure reform and ensuring economic development opportunities 
are identified and supported. These are key outcomes for the ALT and the Aboriginal 
people of Western Australia.

The responsibilities of the ALT associated with the effective management of the 
estate are varied. They range from compliance with statutory responsibilities as a 
land holder to considering and approving applications for the use of the estate for 
community, local enterprise and business purposes, including:

 � transit and mining entry permits;

 � special rail licenses; 

 � the grant of sandalwood licences;

 � building and infrastructure development in communities and outstations; and

 � leases and sub leases for various purposes, including an aged care facility, a renal clinic, a youth centre,  
community training centres, staff housing for health services in remote Aboriginal communities, and a short-term 
accommodation hostel.

This year, the ALT has handled the granting of easements and other appropriate access to enable service providers for the 
provision of normalised services and satellite communication facilities to communities. It has also dealt with the approval of 
liquor licence restrictions at the request of communities or families and the provision of short term accommodation facilities.

The ALT developed partnerships with mining companies, pastoralists, and private enterprise to build capacity to leverage 
and increase economic returns from the estate for the direct benefit of Aboriginal people.

The ALT makes decisions regarding the estate after careful consideration whilst taking into account the interests of a range 
of stakeholders, including the native title parties, other Aboriginal community organisations and government and non-
government organisations with an interest in the estate.

The ALT membership has changed, with half of the members’ terms expiring at the end of June 2012, and as a result the 
Minister for Indigenous Affairs will appoint four new members. The new ALT will be in place for the next two years.

In the next 12 months, the ALT will continue to focus on the divestment of estate and provide economic development 
opportunities working with the Department to address issues that impact on this, working to better utilise the estate to 
improve the lives of Aboriginal Western Australians.

Clinton Wolf

Chair 

Aboriginal Lands trust

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E
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Living on our Lands project

The Living on our Lands (LooL) project was commissioned by the Aboriginal Lands Trust 
(ALT) and the Department to identify and assess the range of land tenure arrangements on 
Aboriginal held land and determine how these lands can be best used to increase economic 
development, provide greater home ownership opportunities and improve asset management 
and service delivery. The final consultant’s report has now been provided to the Department, 
along with a number of case studies representing particular types of land in the ALT estate.

the Department’s strategic framework 2012-2014 clearly identifies the goal of better utilising the alt estate 
to achieve improved economic and social outcomes for aboriginal people.  the projects identified under the 
Department’s land focus area will utilise the information and tools provided by the lool report as part of the 
Department’s response to the historically poor utilisation of the alt estate.

the aboriginal lands trust (alt) is established under the 
Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority Act 1972 (aapa) and 
is charged with advising the minister for Indigenous affairs 
of alt land issues. the alt estate is held in trust on 
behalf of aboriginal people and is home to approximately 
10,000 aboriginal people (12 per cent of the state’s 
aboriginal population). aboriginal owned or controlled land 
has the potential to significantly contribute to increasing 
aboriginal wealth and wellbeing; however, the Department 
of Indigenous affairs (the Department) recognises that 
there is a need to address issues that impact on the 
ability of aboriginal people using the estate to maximise 
economic outcomes. 

Maximising the potential…

Land projects

the alt and the Department have provided $500,000 
for the management of the buildings and other 
infrastructure on the alt estate, including repairs to the 
roof of the Boomerang Hostel in geraldton as a part of its 
refurbishment and the demolition of a derelict building in 
Quairading to address community and public safety issues.

In addition, the alt approved eight leases and registered 
eight leases with landgate. the alt also consented to 
three subleases on the estate in 2011-12.

Mining Permits

mining access permits are required for any mining activity 
(surveying and/or marking out of tenements, fossicking, 
prospecting, exploring and mining, or for travelling through 
such aboriginal reserves to access mining tenements) on 
any aboriginal reserve subject to part III of the aapa. 

the alt and the Department issued 25 mining entry 
permits to enable mining activities on the estate during 
2011-12. 

transit Permits

transit permits are required to enter and pass through 
aboriginal reserves subject to part III of the aapa. these 
permits are generally issued on a short-term basis and 
apply to people: 

 � wishing to visit reserves for tourism or  
recreation purposes; 

 � wishing to travel through reserves for tourism, 
recreation or business purposes  
(other than mining purposes); 

 � visiting art or cultural centres; or 

 � conducting pre-arranged business with communities 
(such as consultation on matters that are of interest  
to communities). 

In 2011-12, the Department issued 4,071 transit permits.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E
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Gnangara

The Aboriginal Lands Trust (ALT) Gnangara property, comprising three freehold lots, was leased 
to the Nyoongah Community Inc. (NCI) in 1987 for a period of 99 years. During 2010, Linc 
Property Ltd (Linc) approached the Department and ALT with a joint venture partnership (JV) 
proposal for a rezoning and light industrial development on some of the Gnangara property.

In order to develop the JV proposal further, an extensive consultation process was undertaken with linc, the 
Department, the south West aboriginal land and sea Council (sWalsC), existing gnangara residents and nCI. 

sWalsC supported the proposal and alt and the minister for Indigenous affairs agreed to transfer the property to a 
noongar land-holding body as the JV partner. this will allow any benefits from the JV to flow directly to noongar people. 
sWalsC subsequently established a land holding body, the noongar Charitable trust (nCt), for the transferal of the 
gnangara property to the nCt as an outcome of the native title settlement negotiations.

the transfer will be in accordance with any future settlement coming from the state’s negotiations with sWalsC 
regarding the south West alternative settlement. as a part of the divestment and development process, nCI also 
established a new organisation, the nyoongah Community aboriginal Corporation, to lease a whole or part of one of 
the lots for housing purposes.

apart from benefits to the wider noongar community from the industrial development, expected outcomes include the 
eventual formalisation of the existing cemetery, the retention of the Bush forever area, the lease of one lot to nCI and 
the construction of two replacement houses to relocate the existing residents. 

the Department is currently finalising the necessary documentation for the transfer of the property to nCt  
in consultation with key stakeholders. 

Investing into the future…

In february 2012, the alt board supported the motion to 
fund two aboriginal school based trainees (one male and 
one female) with a sum of $25,428 allocated from the 
mining rents and royalties account. It is intended that the 
trainees will be rotated across all areas of the Department 
with one of the trainees working within the Department’s 
land Branch. the placement has provided additional 
resources within the Branch and an opportunity for the 
Department to provide support and training focused on 
activities directly related to the administration and function 
of the alt Board. 

trainee Isaac says,“Working at the Department has given 
me some valuable insights and experience in working 
for the government and I hope to be able to use this 
experience to help Aboriginal people in any way I can.”

the Commonwealth attorney generals Department 
funded the Wirrimanu aboriginal Corporation (WaC) for 
the construction of a youth centre in Balgo as a part of 
a youth suicide intervention prevention program in the 
community. as a part of its funding arrangements, the 
Commonwealth required that the funding recipient have a 
long term lease. the WaC approached the alt to lease a 
portion of land adjacent to the existing basketball courts 
for the youth centre. WaC’s funding agreement required 
the lease to be issued within a 
set time frame or the funding 
would be reallocated to another 
project. the Department, 
alt and the minister for 
Indigenous affairs progressed 
and approved the lease within 
the required timeframe to 
ensure that WaC could utilise 
this opportunity to address the 
needs of young people within 
their community.
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Achieving shared social and economic 
outcomes…

Bundiyarra Aboriginal Community Aboriginal 
Corporation

the Bundiyarra aboriginal Community aboriginal 
Corporation (BaCaC) applied to the alt and the minister 
for Indigenous affairs for a lease over the freehold 
property located at gregory street, geraldton that 
currently houses their operations.

the BaCaC has completed a considerable amount of 
work to refresh the operations of the hostel. BaCaC has 
put in place a referral process, rules of occupancy and 
a follow up process with support agencies. this year 
the Department, through the alt, provided the BaCaC 
with funding of $107,000 to assist with major repairs of 
damaged roof and structures, fencing and drainage. the 
Department also assisted BaCaC to secure funding from 
other agencies, including:

 � royalties for regions - $65,000 for the upgrade of 
laundry and the male and female bathrooms;  

 � lotterywest - $75,000 for the kitchen and playground 
equipment upgrades; and 

 � aboriginal Hostels limited funding for electrical works, 
furniture and equipment.

Mogumber

mogumber is an iconic alt property situated along 
the moore river, comprising the historical precinct, 
areas of farming land and areas with natural resource 
management values. the entire property is a registered 
site under the Aboriginal Heritage Act 1972 (aHa).  
mogumber was the site of an aboriginal mission where 
aboriginal people from across the state were placed 
following their removal from their families. following 
community interest through the south West aboriginal 
land and sea Council (sWalsC), it was proposed that 
mogumber be leased back to aboriginal people and 
an interim advisory board established. the mogumber 
mission Interim advisory Board (mmIag) was established 
to make decisions about the management and future 
development of the property. sWalsC established a 
noongar land holding body and applied to the alt to 
lease mogumber as a precursor to the divestment of 
the property. the alt and minister for Indigenous affairs 
approved the lease to the mmIag in 2011-12.

the alt agreed to continue to provide the normal ongoing 
funding for the maintenance of the property as it has done 
previously for the term of the lease. the signing of the 
lease will be the prelude to the divestment of the property 
into aboriginal ownership, recognising both the native title 
holders and those people across the state with historical 
interests in the property. the lease will also facilitate the 
investment in the property from other sources the alt 
would not otherwise have been able to access.
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A B O R I G I N A L  L A N D

Mogumber. Department Heritage staff visits Mogumber. Department Heritage staff visits Mogumber.
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Lake Gregory and Billiluna pastoral leases

the alt holds the lease to the lake gregory and Billiluna 
pastoral leases. there have been a range of issues 
associated with the appropriate management and 
operation of the leases that the alt has been working 
towards addressing over a period of time. this has 
been done in consultation with a range of stakeholders, 
including the Billiluna and mulan communities.  

following community and stakeholder consultation, the 
alt and the Department committed $1.5 million for 
the investment in the development of the necessary 
infrastructure on the leases. 

the Department and the alt will incorporate investment 
in infrastructure on both pastoral leases and complete 
the implementation of improved pastoral management 
regimes with the aim of restoring a viable cattle business.  
this will also provide economic and training opportunities 
for the Billiluna and mulan communities.

Native title and the ALt estate…

the state government recognises that native title is 
of particular importance in Western australia (Wa). 
government policy is based on acknowledging the 
concept of native title, negotiating native title issues 
positively and genuinely making the Native Title Act 1993 
work in order to produce practical solutions. the state has 
developed a government Indigenous land use agreement, 
to be entered into as part of the native title settlement 
process, which will provide greater certainty about the 
ways in which the state will do business following a 
determination. for the land function of the Department, 
the agreements will, amongst other things, facilitate public 
works and housing in aboriginal communities and provide 
avenues for the divestment of alt land to appropriate 
aboriginal ownership, thus increasing economic and 
social opportunities for aboriginal people.

the longer term challenge for the alt will be to ensure 
that lands are divested back to aboriginal organisations 
in good condition with developed opportunities. the 
Department’s strategic framework will enable the future of 
the estate to be better determined and will largely dictate 
future possible outcomes for aboriginal people in Wa.
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Teaching in Baldivis Children’s Forest.

Desert Feet Tour in Jigalong. Weeding in Hearson Cove. Joe and Yagan - Maar Koodjal.
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Accountable Government

The Aboriginal Affairs Coordinating Committee (AACC) 
continues to facilitate change for Aboriginal people across 
the State. This year, AACC’s two Chief Operating Officers 
(COOs) continued to assist the progress of the work of the 
AACC and considerable work was undertaken by the State 
Government in key priority locations, including Roebourne, 
Carnarvon and Kalumburu. 

As a priority location, the Department of Indigenous  
Affairs (the Department) and the the AACC have continued 
to work with the Roebourne community on a number of 
projects, including the creation and operation of a local 
Aboriginal Congress, the relocation of elderly people, 
youth night patrol services and water issues at the 
Mingullatharndo community.

The Department, in partnership with the Commonwealth 
Department of Families and Housing, Community Services 
and Indigenous Affairs (FaHCSIA), funded an economic 
and community development coordinator in Kalumburu 
to drive economic opportunities, community participation 
and to oversee a program that improves social and 
emotional well-being in the community. This role will build 
relationships with external service providers and identify 
economic opportunities for the community. This position 
was filled in 2012 and continues to work actively with  
participating AACC agencies. 

The Carnarvon Aboriginal Congress (Congress) is another 
successful initiative of the AACC and was formed in early 
2010 to provide a strong and supported voice for Aboriginal 
people in Carnarvon. The Congress meets monthly in 
Carnarvon and engages with all levels of government, 
non-government and the private sector to address issues 
impacting upon Aboriginal people in Carnarvon. The 
Congress has been instrumental and was involved in the 
establishment of Clontarf Football Academy in Carnarvon, 
the consultation process for the new Carnavon Police and 
Justice Complex, and was integral to the introduction of the 
Aboriginal Visitors Scheme in Carnarvon.

In 2010, the AACC commenced 
a trial of a One Stop Shop at the 
Champion Centre in Armadale, 
operating two days a week. 
Following a successful trial, 
management of the One Stop 
Shop was transitioned back to the 
City of Armadale earlier this year.

AACC’s most significant 
achievement this year has been 
to secure Cabinet agreement 
to provide $10 million Royalties 
for Regions funding towards the 
Aboriginal Community Emergency 
Response Fund (ACERF) this year. This funding will cover 
a five-year period and provide a rolling fund that will 
enable the AACC to allocate funding to respond in a timely 
manner to emergencies impacting on regional and remote 
Aboriginal communities across Western Australia.

The AACC has determined its strategic priorities for the 
next 12 months. They include:

 � maximising the current investment in Aboriginal 
communities;

 � improving Aboriginal people’s access to services, and 
involvement in the design of services to break the cycle 
of disadvantage;

 � increasing Aboriginal training, employment and 
business opportunities in WA; and

 � improved service delivery to Aboriginal people through 
greater coordination between government agencies.

Cliff Weeks

Chair

Aboriginal Affairs Coordinating Committee
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the aboriginal affairs Coordinating Committee (aaCC) is 
the statutory committee convened under section 19 of the 
Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority Act 1972 (aapa). the 
aaCC coordinates effectively the activities of all persons 
and bodies, corporate or otherwise, providing or proposing 
to provide service and assistance in relation to aboriginal 
people. membership comprises the Directors general, 
or equivalent, of the Departments of Indigenous affairs 
(Chair); premier and Cabinet; treasury; Child protection; 
education; regional Development and lands; Corrective 
services; Housing; training and Workforce Development; 
Health; Wa police; and the Chairperson of the Western 
australian aboriginal advisory Council.

It is estimated that the Western australian government 
spends approximately $2.04 billion per annum on 
services related to aboriginal people; 89 per cent of 
expenditure is attributed to mainstream services accessed 
by aboriginal people, including hospitals, schools, and 
public housing.

the greatest proportion of aboriginal expenditure, 39.6 
per cent, is allocated to safe communities, which includes 
public order, community support and welfare, and 
recreation and culture. the lowest proportion of aboriginal 
expenditure, 0.3 per cent, is allocated to economic 
participation related activities. the Department of 
Indigenous affairs (the Department) believes that targeted 
investment is needed to enable a shift from welfare 
dependency to economic participation.  

the aaCC takes action in three ways, each focused  
on cause and effect, improved service delivery and  
good governance:

1.  Priority Locations: a small number of metropolitan, 
regional and remote communities are identified as 
models to introduce sustainable improvement. the 
learnings from these models will provide the basis for 
delivering sustainable improvement state-wide.

2.  Crisis Response: the aaCC will provide fast, effective 
response to key critical incidents involving aboriginal 
people. learnings from the incidents will be used to 
establish actions to prevent or address future situations.

3.  Strategic Policy: the aaCC aims to make decisions 
to resolve long standing systemic issues that prevent 
progress in achieving better outcomes for aboriginal 
people. these issues will be addressed through the 
development of strategic policy responses that identify 
appropriate solutions. 

Chief Operating Officers

the whole-of-government approach to problem solving 
and risk management has been accepted as ideal and 
best practice for many years. Its successful application 
has been seen in isolated locations, projects or programs.  
the achievements of the existing aaCC Chief operating 
officers (Coos) can be attributed to this whole of 
government approach. a ‘position’ empowered by the 
heads of agencies to take a leadership role in locations, 
coordinating and collaborating with others to address 
opportunities and issues; addressing them from a multi-
disciplinary and interagency perspective; developing and 
delivering plans and actions to obtain outcomes; joining 
the dots; being the ‘grease or the glue’ between agencies, 
individuals, programs and practices.

this year, the Coos, with the support of Departmental 
staff, focused on the following communities:

 � armadale;

 � Burringurrah;

 � Carnarvon;

 � Kalumburu; and

 � roebourne.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E

A C C O U N t A B L E  G O V E R M E N t

All Departmental staff contributed to the development of the 
Strategic Framework 2012-14.



29

A
C

C
O

U
N

TA
B

LE G
O

VER
N

M
EN

T

Building our workforce (cont)… 

The Department recognises that employment leads not 
only to improved incomes for the individual, family and 
communities, but also enhances self-esteem, increases 
opportunities for self-development and reduces social 
isolation.  It is essential that the growing Aboriginal 
population has the opportunity to benefit from the 
mainstream economy – this means real jobs, business 
opportunities, economic independence and wealth creation.

It is widely acknowledged that high and/or persistent 
unemployment increases the risk of poverty and 
contributes to disadvantage. This year, the Department 
increased its focus on Aboriginal economic development 
to encourage involvement by Aboriginal Western 
Australians in employment, business, and acquiring 
assets and growing wealth.

The Department has developed an Aboriginal Economic 
Participation Strategy that aims to increase the potential 
for Aboriginal people to participate fully in the State’s 
economy, strengthen Aboriginal culture and society, and 
ensure Aboriginal people have the same opportunities in 
life as non-Aboriginal people.

The Minister for Indigenous Affairs launched the Aboriginal 
Economic Participation Strategy in September 2012.

Gnaala Karla Booja Baseline Profile

Since 2008, the Department has been working with the Gnaala Karla Booja people through a 
partnership established between the Minerals Council of Australia, the Australian Government 
and the South West Aboriginal Land and Sea Council.

The partnership, known as the Employment and Enterprise Development Agreement, works to build capacity and 
leadership within the local communities for improving sustained employment opportunities in mining and other 
industries, and to provide pathways and improved education outcomes for the Gnaala Karla Booja people.

Through the Department’s participation in the Agreements and Quarterly Forums, it was noted that the stakeholders 
lacked reliable information on the people who live throughout the sub region.

The Department offered to produce a baseline profile that covered the population, employment, education and housing 
situation of Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people using the Australian Bureau of Statistics Census of Population and 
Housing 2006. The profile was completed in March this year and was presented at the Working in Partnership forum 
held in Mandurah shortly afterwards. 

The Baseline Profile is helping to better influence the work and direction of the Steering Committee to the Gnaala 
Karla Booja Employment and Economic Development Agreement through the monitoring of employment and 
enterprise, education and housing outcomes throughout the region.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E

A C C O u N t A B l E  G O v E R M E N t

Building our workforce.

http://www.dia.wa.gov.au/Documents/AEP_Strategy.pdf
http://www.dia.wa.gov.au/Documents/AEP_Strategy.pdf
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Warmun Aboriginal Community

on 14 march 2011, turkey Creek rose and inundated 
Warmun, severely damaging all houses in the community.  
the housing re-establishment program at Warmun is 
now complete, with all residents being rehoused in 
new or refurbished accommodation. the temporary 
accommodation village established in 2010-11 has  
been decommissioned.  

Construction and repair of non-housing infrastructure  
with the community office, childcare centre and works 
depot was completed in June 2012. Construction of  
the new recreation centre and ablutions, family centre  
and temporary aged care facility; and refurbishment  
of the community hall, women’s centre, football oval 
change rooms and clubhouse commenced in June 2012. 
It is anticipated that these works will be complete by  
the end of 2012, along with road and essential  
services infrastructure.

Building our workforce… 

the australian Bureau of statistics indicates that 
australia’s aboriginal population has a young profile, with 
about half under 21 years of age compared with 37 years 
for the non-aboriginal population. In Wa, 75 per cent of 
the aboriginal population is under the age of 40 years, 
and 33 per cent is under the age of 15 years.  

Workforce pressures associated with the expansion of the 
mining sector across the state are estimated to result in a 
deficit of up to 150,000 workers by 2017. Comparatively, 
only 56.3 per cent of the working age aboriginal 
population in Wa is employed. the Department believes 
it is critical that work readiness and training programs 
are implemented to ensure aboriginal people are able to 
take advantage of the opportunities resulting from Wa’s 
economic growth.

Perth Homeless Response Forum

On 3 August 2011, more than 100 representatives of relevant government agencies and  
non-government organisations, elected members, and other key stakeholders participated  
in the Perth Homeless Response Workshop sponsored by the Department, City of Perth  
and City of Vincent.

the purpose of the workshop was to encourage collaboration amongst key stakeholders towards delivering 
appropriate support and accommodation outcomes for aboriginal people and others who are experiencing primary 
homelessness in parks and inner city areas of the City of perth and the City of Vincent. 

participants of the workshop investigated options to address the long term homelessness of people frequenting the 
parks and homelessness among people who move to the city from remote locations.

a final report was produced and relevant recommendations were adopted by the Department for Child protection. 
subsequently, the Western australian government announced funding of $5.4 million for the construction of an acute 
homeless night shelter for men. other recommendations from the workshop are being considered for inclusion in the 
Western australia Homeless strategy.

Perth Homeless Response Forum.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E

A C C O U N t A B L E  G O V E R M E N t
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Building our workforce (cont)… 

the Department recognises that employment leads not 
only to improved incomes for the individual, family and 
communities, but also enhances self-esteem, increases 
opportunities for self-development and reduces social 
isolation.  It is essential that the growing aboriginal 
population has the opportunity to benefit from the 
mainstream economy – this means real jobs, business 
opportunities, economic independence and wealth creation.

It is widely acknowledged that high and/or persistent 
unemployment increases the risk of poverty and 
contributes to disadvantage. this year, the Department 
increased its focus on aboriginal economic development 
to encourage involvement by aboriginal Western 
australians in employment, business, and acquiring 
assets and growing wealth.

the Department has developed an aboriginal economic 
participation strategy that aims to increase the potential 
for aboriginal people to participate fully in the state’s 
economy, strengthen aboriginal culture and society, and 
ensure aboriginal people have the same opportunities in 
life as non-aboriginal people.

the minister for Indigenous affairs launched the aboriginal 
economic participation strategy in september 2012.

Gnaala Karla Booja Baseline Profile

Since 2008, the Department has been working with the Gnaala Karla Booja people through a 
partnership established between the Minerals Council of Australia, the Australian Government 
and the South West Aboriginal Land and Sea Council.

the partnership, known as the employment and enterprise Development agreement, works to build capacity and 
leadership within the local communities for improving sustained employment opportunities in mining and other 
industries, and to provide pathways and improved education outcomes for the gnaala Karla Booja people.

through the Department’s participation in the agreements and Quarterly forums, it was noted that the stakeholders 
lacked reliable information on the people who live throughout the sub region.

the Department offered to produce a baseline profile that covered the population, employment, education and housing 
situation of aboriginal and non-aboriginal people using the australian Bureau of statistics Census of population and 
Housing 2006. the profile was completed in march this year and was presented at the Working in partnership forum 
held in mandurah shortly afterwards. 

the Baseline profile is helping to better influence the work and direction of the steering Committee to the gnaala 
Karla Booja employment and economic Development agreement through the monitoring of employment and 
enterprise, education and housing outcomes throughout the region.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E

A C C O U N t A B L E  G O V E R M E N t

Building our workforce.

http://www.dia.wa.gov.au/Documents/AEP_Strategy.pdf 
http://www.dia.wa.gov.au/Documents/AEP_Strategy.pdf 
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Aboriginal Online Business Directory WA

the Department, in partnership with projectConnect – 
Chamber of Commerce and Industry, the Department 
of training and Workforce Development and the small 
Business Development Corporation has developed the 
online aboriginal Business Directory Wa. 

this Directory allows Western australian aboriginal 
businesses to register and promote their business and 
allows the private and public sectors to search for the 
services and goods that they require from aboriginal 
suppliers through the Directory. It is free for aboriginal 
businesses to register (businesses have to be at least 
50 per cent owned by an aboriginal interest and have 
aboriginal people represented in the management and 
operations of the business), and is designed to open up 
new markets and boost the profile of these businesses.

the Department is promoting the Directory to 
aboriginal businesses that are eligible to register and 
to organisations and companies who may utilise the 
Directory for the procurement of goods and services from 
aboriginal suppliers.

the Directory will enhance the opportunities for aboriginal 
businesses and support their sustainability and growth.  
It is envisaged that through the Directory there will be 
increased sponsorship and advertising opportunities, as 
well as the capacity for increasing aboriginal enterprises 
in public and private sector procurement strategies.

the aboriginal Business Directory is accessible at  
http://www.abdwa.com.au

Council of Australian Governments – National 
Indigenous Reform Agreement 

the state government committed to the national 
Indigenous reform agreement (nIra) in 2008. the nIra 
provides an overarching framework for closing the gap in 
aboriginal disadvantage and addressing six key targets: 
life expectancy, child mortality, access to early childhood 
education, numeracy and literacy, educational attainment 
and economic participation.

through the Council of australian governments (Coag) and 
nIra, the Department is responsible for coordinating and 
representing state positions related to national aboriginal 
reform, including reporting and monitoring, and developing 
national frameworks and policies.

the Department coordinated the response to the third 
nIra report for 2010-11, which was publicly released in 
June 2012 and focused on assessing progress over time 
in reducing the gap between aboriginal and non-aboriginal 
australians. special attention was given to the areas of 
improving health and education for aboriginal australians.

Highlighted positive progress:

 � Considerable progress is being made to halving the 
gap in the child mortality rate.

 � the combined aboriginal child death rate in  
Western australia, new south Wales, Queensland, 
south australia and the northern territory decreased 
in 2010. this was a faster reduction rate than that of 
non-aboriginal children.

 � the proportion of low birth weight babies born to 
aboriginal mothers in Wa also declined. 

 � from 2007 to 2009, the proportion of Western 
australian aboriginal women who smoked during 
pregnancy slightly decreased from 54 to 52 per cent.

Highlighted areas of concern: 

 � there was no significant reduction in the aboriginal 
mortality rate between 2006 and 2010. 

 � In 2009-10, dialysis and injury/poisoning were the 
major reasons for hospitalisation of aboriginal people, 
accounting for about 50 per cent and 7.5 per cent of 
all hospitalisation, respectively.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E

A C C O U N t A B L E  G O V E R M E N t

Ashburton Aboriginal Corporation (AAC) directors and members. 
Courtesy AAC.

http://www.abdwa.com.au
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Indigenous Economic Participation  
National Partnership Agreement 

The Department is the lead agency in the development and implementation of the  
National Partnership Agreement on Indigenous Economic Participation (NPA IEP) which  
seeks to contribute to the Council of Australian Governments’ (COAG) closing the gap target  
of halving the gap in employment outcomes between Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal people 
within a decade. 

In 2011-12, npa Iep highlights included:

 � state government funding of $19 million over four 
years for 156 sustainable jobs created across eight 
agencies with all positions filled;

 � agreements signed by Western australian 
government agencies and relevant Commonwealth 
government agencies for 69 agreed positions;

 � Indigenous workforce strategies piloted through the 
east Kimberley Development package and remote 
Indigenous Housing national partnership agreement;

 � supporting the sustainability and growth of 
aboriginal businesses by establishing the free  
on-line aboriginal Business Directory Wa;

 � implementing the Western australian public sector 
aboriginal employment strategy with an aboriginal 
employment target of 3.2 per cent by 2015;

 � developing the Western australian aboriginal 
economic participation strategy 2012-2016; and

 � in collaboration with the public sector Commissioner, 
monitoring and reporting on aboriginal economic 
participation, one of the cross-sector initiatives 
included in chief executive officer performance 
agreements. 

Department staff members.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E

A C C O U N t A B L E  G O V E R M E N t
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Community Development

The primary role of the Western Australian Aboriginal Advisory Council (WAAAC) is to provide 
advice to the Minister for Indigenous Affairs on matters affecting Aboriginal people in  
Western Australia.  

Subsequent to Ministerial endorsement of the WAAAC Strategic Plan, the Council resolved to 
focus its efforts on three major strategies for 2011-12: 

 � amendments to Part IV of the Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority; 

 � development and promotion of Reconciliation Action Plans (RAPs); and, 

 � an audit of Government boards and committees.  

A key outcome for the WAAAC has been the commitment by Government to amend Part IV of the 
AAPA. The WAAAC played a pivotal role in advising the Minister of the necessity to amend the Act 
and enable Aboriginal people to manage the estates of those family members who do not have a 
legal will. This action will for the first time provide Aboriginal people across Western Australia with 
the ability to manage an estate in a more culturally sensitive and appropriate manner.

The WAAAC has also been actively promoting the development and implementation of RAPs.  
This resulted in a number of new enquiries to the Department of Indigenous Affairs regarding 
the establishment of RAPs from local government agencies and private enterprise.

The final project for the WAAAC involved an analysis of all current Aboriginal boards and committees that exist across State 
Government agencies. The results of the project were distributed to Aboriginal Affairs Coordinating Committee agencies for 
information and action. 

The role and responsibilities of the WAAAC continues to evolve and in the last 12 months the Council has been provided 
with a fresh opportunity to develop an alignment with the future direction of the Department. The WAAAC has aligned to one 
of the Department’s Strategic Frameworks - Community Development. This will ensure that the WAAAC remains focussed in 
its work whilst providing a unique cultural perspective on issues and outcomes for Aboriginal people in  
Western Australia.

michael Hayden

Chair

Western Australian Aboriginal Advisory Council

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E

C O M M U N I t Y  D E V E L O P M E N t
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the Western australian aboriginal advisory Committee 
(WaaaC) is the statutory council convened under the 
Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority Act 1972 (aapa). 
It provides advice to the minister for Indigenous affairs 
on matters relating to the interests and well-being of 
aboriginal people. 

Communities in action….

Aboriginal Community Patrols

the state government provides approximately  
$4.6 million per annum towards the provision of patrol 
services in a number of communities. patrols currently 
operate in Broome, Carnarvon, Derby, geraldton, Hedland, 
Kalgoorlie, Kununurra, meekatharra, mullewa, perth, 
roebourne and Wyndham.  

patrols currently employ 98 people, the majority of whom 
are local aboriginal people. In 2011-12, the Department 
of Indigenous affairs (the Department) received an 
additional appropriation of $1.355 million for additional 
patroller positions and extension of patroller hours, bus 
replacement, equipment and training. this additional 
funding enabled the expansion of perth’s nyoongar patrol 
to further metropolitan corridors.  

With the increase in funding, the nyoongar patrol 
expanded its services across the north and south 
metropolitan areas of perth. the nyoongar patrol operates 
from mirrabooka and across the northern corridor on 
tuesdays, Wednesdays, and thursdays during the hours 
of 11.00am to 7.00pm. the patrol engages with people in 
nollamara, mirrabooka and the surrounding areas. Having 
a patrol presence has reduced the level of antisocial 
complaints reported.  

the south east metropolitan patrol covers the corridor 
from Victoria park to armadale. there are two nyoongar 
patrol teams and two vehicles. the frontline officers 
attend nightly briefings at Cannington and Kensington 
police stations. all patrollers work in pairs and attend 
specific training courses suited to their work. 

Honouring Indigenous War Graves Incorporated:  
memorial wall 

Honouring Indigenous War graves Incorporated (HIWg) was 
established as a non-profit organisation in June 2005 by  
mr John schnaars, an aboriginal Vietnam veteran, a 
number of members from the Bruce rock Vietnam 
Veteran’s group and many other supporters and volunteers.  

HIWg members travel across the state placing headstones 
on aboriginal veterans’ graves. to date, HIWg has funded 
and erected more than 100 headstones at the resting 
places of fallen aboriginal service personnel. the group also 
organises services acknowledging australian veterans, and 
funeral services for service men and women, if requested 
by their families.

With funding assistance from the Department, a memorial 
wall was erected in the aboriginal and torres strait 
Islander people’s Keeping place at Karrakatta Cemetery to 
commemorate service men and women who were killed 
and buried in graves overseas. a holding place for the 
remains of aboriginal people which have been previously 
stored in museums around the state and australia, the 
Keeping place was the first of its kind in australia.

following consultation with the Department and members 
of the aboriginal community, the metropolitan Cemeteries 
Board agreed to upgrade the landscaping surrounding the 
Keeping place. this area will be named Ken Colbung grove 
as a dedication to the memory of the late mr Colbung am 
mBe, a respected aboriginal elder and a member of the 
metropolitan Cemeteries Board from 1988 to 2010.

Honouring Indigenous War Graves memorial wall.

Nyoongar Patrol office opening.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E
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Fairbridge Ngulla Wirn Kaanya Koort Boodja  
Karlup Initiative

The Department recognises the importance of addressing the over 
representation of Aboriginal young people in the criminal justice system 
and is focused on diverting youth at-risk from the system through 
expanding capacity building programs for families and individuals.

In march 2012, a roundtable discussion was held at government House where fairbridge Western australia 
Incorporated outlined the fairbridge ngulla Wirn Kaanya Koort Boodja Karlup Initiative, which aims to break the cycle 
of generational involvement in the justice system for aboriginal people.

the Director general of the Department attended this discussion and 
agreed to fund a project coordinator to oversee and further develop this 
initiative in partnership with the Department, other government agencies, 
the corporate and community sectors, families, community leaders and 
young people. the role of the project coordinator is to scope a series 
of programs that will reduce the number of aboriginal young people 
in detention and bring about positive sustainable life and employment 
outcomes for aboriginal young people involved in the justice system and 
their families.

Building inclusive communities…

PALS

Based on the core attributes of partnership,  
acceptance, learning and sharing, pals encourages 
young Western australians to develop projects that 
promote and advance reconciliation. 

Young people are encouraged to take a lead role in 
strengthening the relationships that exist in their local 
community between aboriginal and non-aboriginal people. 
students expand their knowledge of traditional and 
contemporary Indigenous culture and lifestyle, exploring 
how traditional cultures have been impacted during 
the past two hundred years by external factors such 
as european settlement, government policies, religion, 
technology and education. pals works to translate this 
new level of understanding into a positive change in the 
wider community through active reconciliation.

pals plays an important role in creating a more inclusive 
environment for students around the state. In Western 
australia (Wa), aboriginal children aged under 15 years 
comprise roughly 33 per cent of the total aboriginal 
population (compared with 19 per cent in the non-
aboriginal population). 

pals has reached in excess of 110,000 Western 
australian school children since its inception in 2004.

In 2011, 107 schools received pals funding to complete 
120 projects. some examples of pals projects include:

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E
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Newman College

the year 5 students at newman College’s lavella Campus 
in Churchlands used the pals program to learn about the 
importance of having a special place to go to. they read 
nadia Wheatley’s book My Place and listened to stories 
of culture and heritage from aboriginal elders, ms Doolan 
leisha and mr Walter eatts. this helped them understand 
how good it felt to belong to a place and how aboriginal 
people feel connections to their special places. all of the 
students recorded journals, writing about their own family 
culture and heritage. 

some students commented on the project. Jesse said, “It 
is important that you feel like you belong somewhere, so 
that you can feel really happy when you are there and just 
enjoy the moment. You need to respect and care for your 
place if you want it to survive”. 

emily said, “If you connect to a place, you look after it and 
the place looks after you. It is good to connect to a place 
because it makes you feel like you belong”. the Year 5 
students presented their new knowledge of aboriginal 
culture and heritage through the creation of class books 
entitled our place. they contributed their own pages 
containing messages of what belonging means to them, 
as well as for aboriginal people.

Newton Moore Senior High School

the Yaakiny program at newton moore senior High school 
aims to give aboriginal students a better opportunity 
to achieve graduation from the Bunbury school. the 
program’s name, Yaakiny, comes from the noongar word 
meaning ‘standing up’.

for their pals project, students aged 15 to 17 shared 
their stories through art, creating something that identified 
with being an aboriginal teenager in the community. their 
artworks were then exhibited as part of the noongar 
Country exhibition at the Bunbury regional art galleries 
earlier this year. Year 11 student Herman chose to paint 
his impression of the pinjarra massacre. “It should be a 
proper part of our history books. The painting shows my 
connection to land,” he said. 

a landscape painting by another student, tiana showed 
sunset over a beach. tiana said, “Our beautiful coastline 
in Noongar country is something that we love and this 
painting is trying to help people understand how important 
it is to look after this special part of the world.”

In 2012, 194 schools applied to develop 217  
pals projects.

PALS Awards 2011. Newton Moore Senior High School wins Troy Cook  
PALS Ambassadors Award.

Newman College students study Noongar  
language posters.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E
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the PALS Award winners for 2011 were:

BHP Billiton Prize (overall winner)
newman College 

‘My Place’ – Belonging

troy Cook PALS Ambassadors Award
newton moore senior High school

Yaakiny Program Art Project

Category winners
Arts & Culture
newman College (winner)

‘My Place’ – Belonging

nannup District High school (runner up)

Native Animal Awareness in Nannup

Community Development 
Coodanup Community College (winner)

Community Fair

Challis early Childhood school (runner up)

Stand Tall

Education
Xavier primary school (winner)

Sharing the Dream – Geckos Program

ellen stirling primary school (runner up)

To Protect, Honour and Preserve our Legacy

Environment
east manjimup primary school (winner)

Smoking Ceremony

parkfield primary school (runner up)

Living the Language

Health
Beachlands primary school 

Indigenous Interactive Panels

Sustainable Partnerships
spencer park primary school (winner)

Getting School Ready on the Bus

mount Barker Community College (runner up)

Sustainability Garden

PALS 2011 Showcase School
Dawson park primary school

Filming Science Experiment of Min Noongar Glue  
(roo poo glue)

Ongoing Commitment to the Creative Arts
Wagin District High school

Seasonal Cycles Street Banners

Kallen Otway from Newman College accepts the  
BHP Billiton Overall Prize at the PALS Awards 2011.

Marie Taylor and Troy Cook showcase Santa Clara School’s  
2011 PALS project.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E
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NAIDOC Week 2012

naIDoC Week is a national celebration of aboriginal and 
torres strait Islander peoples, cultures and communities. 
naIDoC Week runs annually in the first full week of July, 
and has been officially running since 1957.

the Department strongly supported the naIDoC perth 
Committee this year, with funding assistance of $43,000 
in sponsorship of the naIDoC perth opening Ceremony, 
naIDoC perth awards, miss naIDoC and the survival 
Concert in January 2012.

approximately 4,000 people braved the heat to attend the 
survival Concert at the supreme Court gardens in perth 
on 26 January 2012. this year’s theme, Celebrating our 
resilience, was in honour of the 40 year anniversary of 
the aboriginal tent embassy and aboriginal and torres 
strait Islander resilience since colonisation. Deadly award 
winners the Yabu Band headlined the concert.

miss naIDoC perth is a leadership and empowerment 
program for young aboriginal and torres strait Islander 
women in perth, which culminates in the miss naIDoC 
perth Crowning held during reconciliation Week. 

on 26 may, ms rachel Visser was crowned miss naIDoC 
perth 2012 at a ceremony held at the parmelia Hilton. 

naIDoC perth Chairperson ms glenda Kickett says, “It 
was inspiring to see all our beautiful aboriginal and torres 
strait Islander women and the things they are achieving 
in the community. I’m very proud of them all and inspired 
by them all. I think our winner, rachel Visser, is a fantastic 
role model for our young women.” 

the naIDoC perth awards honour the outstanding 
achievements of aboriginal and torres strait Islander 
individuals, organisations and businesses in perth. the 
2012 awards were held on 15 June at government 
House. the Department was pleased to sponsor the 
outstanding achievement award, which was this year 
won by ms anne garlett, a strongly committed carer and 
community volunteer.

the naIDoC perth opening Ceremony is the official start 
to naIDoC Week in perth, and this year was celebrated 
on 1 July 2012 at Wellington square in east perth. more 
than 5,000 people attended the celebrations, and the 
minister for Indigenous affairs participated in the official 
proceedings on the day.

NAIDOC Week 2012.

Coodanup Community College wins PALS 2011  
Community Development Award.
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Polytechnic West – Moorditj Moodle 

In 2011-12, the Department provided funding to Polytechnic West for the  
Moorditj Moodle project. 

During the consultation process for the development of a reconciliation action plan (rap), 
polytechnic West identified that many students and staff had a yearning to learn more about 
aboriginal culture, and specifically noongar culture, as part of their learning at polytechnic West. 
there was also a desire from aboriginal people in the community to offer their knowledge to 
polytechnic West about their experiences and history. 

this formed the idea for the moorditj moodle platform, developed as an e-learning tool that lecturers use to deliver 
courses to their students online and including resources, pictures and videos. staff and students are able to access 
information on aboriginal culture and student services, including the Indigenous tutor assistance scheme, Indigenous 
Jobs Board, raps and external services.

the content for the moorditj moodle was developed in partnership with langford aboriginal association and the south 
West aboriginal land and sea Council and officially launched on 29 may 2012, during reconciliation Week. the 
project is an innovative learning platform that creates an awareness of noongar culture and builds an understanding 
of all aspects of the noongar way of life and history. 

 

Reconciliation Action Plans

reconciliation action plans (raps) are business plans 
that use a holistic approach to building meaningful 
relationships and creating sustainable opportunities 
for aboriginal and torres strait Islander australians.  
reconciliation australia (ra) provides the framework, 
advice, networks, and support for organisations to  
develop a rap.  

the Department works as an agent on behalf of ra 
to provide support and guidance to state and local 
government agencies and the corporate and private 
sectors in the development and implementation of raps.  

Wa is the lead jurisdiction in the nation for the number of 
raps endorsed by ra. Currently, there are 47 Wa state 
government, four Wa local government, two universities, 
one peak organisation and one community organisation 
raps registered with ra.

Above: Moorditj Moodle, part of the crowd. 
Left: Polytechnic West Managing Director Wayne Collyer and attendees. 
Below: Derek Nannup plays didge at the launch. 
Images courtesy of Polytechnic West.

Reconciliation Week in Narrogin.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E

C O M M U N I t Y  D E V E L O P M E N t
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Planning for the future…

Leeuwin Youth Leadership Program

the 2012 leeuwin Youth leadership program was a 
partnership between the Department and the leeuwin 
ocean adventure foundation. the 2012 voyage was the 
second of three to be coordinated by the Department, with 
the program set to run until at least 2013.

In march 2012, 19 young aboriginal leaders from across 
the state, including Kununurra, merredin, manjimup, 
esperance and metropolitan perth, participated in the 
program to develop their leadership and communication 
skills. the program aims to ensure participants are 
supported in their leadership aspirations through developing 
their communication skills, understanding teamwork and 
recognising the importance of a strong sense of community.

seven days on the high seas aboard the Leeuwin II tall ship 
working with a range of people from different backgrounds 
is a truly unique experience that builds confidence and 
leadership qualities. participants then return to their 
communities to share their experiences and encourage the 
development of their peers. the voyage was a completely 
new experience for some of the participants, who have not 
had the opportunity to sail on the ocean, or to be away from 
home, friends and family for long.

In 2012, the partnership expanded to include fugro-tsm, 
who provided $7,000 of additional funding to enable more 
young aboriginal people to participate in the program.  
the funding provided by the Department and fugro-tsm, 
combined with the scholarships provided by leeuwin 
foundation and Woodside energy ltd, provided a total of 21 
places for aboriginal young people on the 2012 voyage.

Clontarf Aboriginal College

In 2011-12, the Department provided $2 million in 
funding for the provision of additional bed places at the 
Clontarf aboriginal College’s Boarding Hostel, located in 
Waterford. funding provided by the Department allowed 
for the extension of the hostel to be expanded from 80 to 
120 beds, allowing for an additional 80 boys and 40 girls 
to board at the College. the minister for Indigenous affairs 
recognised this as significant and an opportunity for a 
royal visit. on 27 october 2011, Her majesty the Queen 
opened Clontarf’s new boarding house, with the premier 
and the minister for Indigenous affairs attending.  

the extension has now been completed and the additional 
construction of new beds for the girls will allow for an 
intake of 40 female students to begin studying at the 
College in second semester of 2012. 

the Department also continues to work closely with the 
Clontarf foundation and the Department of education 
to extend the programme and expand coverage to other 
schools in Wa to improve retention rates and academic 
achievement of aboriginal students across the state.

Leeuwin Youth Leadership Program participants.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E

P L A N N I N G  F O R  t H E  F U t U R E

Leeuwin II. Minister for Indigenous Affairs with  
Kadisha Quartermaine.

Phillip Narkle aboard Leeuwin II.
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Kimberley Girl

Kimberley Girl is a community based activity within the Kimberley region organised by Goolarri 
Media Enterprises Pty Ltd. Kimberley Girl and, more recently, Pilbara Girl support young 
Aboriginal women throughout all aspects of their lives and cultivate female leaders through a 
unique combination of workshops and showcase/competition.  

the Department committed a one-off grant of $55,000 for the 2012 Kimberley girl program.

the Kimberley and pilbara girl activities are staged in six different locations in australia’s north West. since it 
commenced in 2004, Kimberley girl has provided 219 young aboriginal women with personal and professional 
development training and social and emotional wellbeing support. a significant number of Kimberley girls have since 
drawn on their experience to attain employment and seek further training and education.

the Department’s West Kimberley office plays an active role in the Kimberley girl program by providing in-kind 
support to goolarri media through judging, parade and workshop support. the Department also supports goolarri 
media in their endeavours to create linkages with other government agencies, non-government organisations and 
private organisations.

Kimberley Girl finalists. Courtesy Goolarri Media.

A G E N C Y  P E R F O R M A N C E

P L A N N I N G  F O R  t H E  F U t U R E
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DEPARtMENt OF INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS

CERtIFICAtION OF tHE FINANCIAL StAtEMENtS

FOR tHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

the accompanying financial statements of the Department of Indigenous affairs have been prepared in compliance with 
the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial 
transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 and the financial position as at 30 June 2012.

at the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial 
statements misleading or inaccurate.

 

Josephine Cabahug Cliff Weeks

Chief Finance Officer Director General

Date: 13 september 2012 Date: 13 september 2012

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

F I N A N C I A L  S t A t E M E N t S
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DEPARtMENt OF INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 2012 
$000

2011 
$000

COSt OF SERVICES

Expenses

employee benefits expense 6  18,232  17,320

supplies and services 7  13,328  8,526

Depreciation expense 8  254  253

accommodation expenses 9  2,259  2,192

grants and subsidies 10  4,381  4,174

other expenses 11  867  791

total cost of services  39,321  33,256

Income

Revenue

Commonwealth grants and contributions 12  110  292

other revenue 13  1,601  1,331

total Revenue  1,711  1,623

total income other than income from State Government  1,711  1,623

NEt COSt OF SERVICES  37,610  31,633

Income from State Government

service appropriation 15  38,906  30,901

resources received free of charge 15  243  236

royalties for regions fund 15  144  74

total income from State Government  39,293  31,211

SURPLUS /(DEFICIt) FOR tHE PERIOD  1,683 (422)

OtHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 25  -  - 

total other comprehensive income  -  - 

tOtAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR tHE PERIOD  1,683 (422)

See also the ‘Income and Expenses by Service’ at page 53.  
the statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E
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DEPARtMENt OF INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2012 

Note 2012 
$000

2011 
$000

ASSEtS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 26  7,954  3,738

restricted cash and cash equivalents 16  488  705

receivables 17  1,909  839

amounts receivable for services 18  400  489

other current assets 19  113  89

total Current Assets  10,864  5,860

Non-Current Assets

restricted cash and cash equivalents 16  470  395

receivables 17  -  - 

amounts receivable for services 18  96  60

plant and equipment 20  477  703

other non-current assets 19  -  - 

total Non-Current Assets  1,043  1,158

tOtAL ASSEtS  11,907  7,018

LIABILItIES

Current Liabilities

payables 22  3,627  823

provisions 23  3,343  3,068

other current liabilities 24  63  62

total Current Liabilities  7,033  3,953

Non-Current Liabilities

provisions 23  852  726

total Current Liabilities  852  726

tOtAL LIABILItIES  7,885  4,679

NEt ASSEtS  4,022  2,339

EQUItY

Contributed equity 25  2,481  2,481

reserves 25  186  186

accumulated surplus/(deficit) 25  1,355 (328)

tOtAL EQUItY  4,022  2,339

See also the ‘Schedule of Assets and Liabilities’ by service at page 54.

the statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

F I N A N C I A L  S t A t E M E N t S
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DEPARtMENt OF INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS

Statement of Cash Flows as at 30 June 2012

Note 2012 
$000

2011 
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM StAtE GOVERNMENt

service appropriations  38,470  30,434

Capital contributions  -  - 

Holding account drawdowns  489  356

royalties for regions fund  144  74

Net cash provided by State Government  39,103  30,864

utilised as follows:

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERAtING ACtIVItIES

Payments

employee benefits (17,910) (16,193)

supplies and services (11,643) (5,529)

accommodation (2,168) (2,129)

grants and subsidies (4,381) (6,834)

gst payments on purchases (1,937) (1,564)

gst payments to taxation authority (124) (162)

other payments (685) (577)

Receipts

Commonwealth grants and contributions  110  292

gst receipts on sales  149  141

gst receipts from taxation authority  1,988  1,543

other receipts  1,601  2,461

Net cash used in operating activities 26 (35,000) (28,551)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVEStING ACtIVItIES

Payments

purchase of non-current physical assets (29) (162)

Receipts

proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  -  - 

Net cash used in investing activities (29) (162)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  4,074  2,151

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  4,838  2,687

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENtS At tHE END OF tHE PERIOD 26  8,912  4,838

the statement of Cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E
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DEPARtMENt OF INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended as at 30 June 2012

Note Contributed 
equity 

 
$000

Reserves 
 
 

$000

Accumulated 
surplus / 
(deficit)  

$000

total equity 
 
 

$000

Balance at 1 July 2010 25  1,351  186  94  1,631

Changes in accounting policy or correction of 
prior period errors

 -  -  -  - 

Restated balance at 1 July 2010  1,351  186  94  1,631

surplus/(deficit) - - (422) (422)

other comprehensive income - - - -

total comprehensive income  
for the period

 -  - (422) (422)

transactions with owners in their capacity as owners

Capital appropriations  -  -  -  - 

other contributions by owners  1,130  -  -  1,130

Distributions to owners  -  -  -  - 

total  1,130  -  -  1,130

Balance at 30 June 2011  2,481  186 (328)  2,339

Balance at 1 July 2011  2,481  186 (328)  2,339

surplus/(deficit) - -  1,683  1,683

other comprehensive income - - - -

total comprehensive income  
for the period

 -  -  1,683  1,683

transactions with owners in their capacity as owners

Capital appropriations  -  -  -  - 

other contributions by owners  -  -  -  - 

Distributions to owners  -  -  -  - 

total  -  -  -  - 

Balance at 30 June 2012  2,481  186  1,355  4,022

the statement of Changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

F I N A N C I A L  S t A t E M E N t S
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DEPARtMENt OF INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS

Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service for the year ended as at 30 June 2012

Support to 
Partnerships, 

Partnering Initiatives

Information and 
Advice

total

2012 
$000

2011 
$000

2012 
$000

2011 
$000

2012 
$000

2011 
$000

COSt OF SERVICES

Expenses

employee benefits expense  11,936  10,437  6,296  6,883  18,232  17,320

supplies and services  8,726  5,138  4,602  3,388  13,328  8,526

Depreciation expense  166  152  88  101  254  253

accommodation expenses  1,479  1,321  780  871  2,259  2,192

grants and subsidies  2,868  2,515  1,513  1,659  4,381  4,174

loss on disposal of non-current assets  -  -  -  -  -  - 

other expenses  568  477  299  314  867  791

total cost of services  25,743  20,040  13,578  13,216  39,321  33,256

Income

Commonwealth grants and contributions  72  176  38  116  110  292

other revenue  1,048  802  553  529  1,601  1,331

total income other than income from 
State Government

 1,120  978  591  645  1,711  1,623

NEt COSt OF SERVICES  24,623  19,062  12,987  12,571  37,610  31,633

INCOME FROM StAtE GOVERNMENt

service appropriation  25,472  18,621  13,434  12,280  38,906  30,901

resources received free of charge  159  142  84  94  243  236

royalties for regions fund  94  45  50  29  144  74

total income from State Government  25,725  18,808  13,568  12,403  39,293  31,211

Surplus/(deficit) for the period  1,102 (254)  581 (168)  1,683 (422)

the schedule of Income and expenses by service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E
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DEPARtMENt OF INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS

Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service as at 30 June 2012

Support to 
Partnerships, 

Partnering Initiatives

Information and Advice total

2012 
$000

2011 
$000

2012 
$000

2011 
$000

2012 
$000

2011 
$000

ASSEtS

Current assets  7,113  3,531  3,751  2,329  10,864  5,860

non-current assets  683  698  360  460  1,043  1,158

total assets  7,796  4,229  4,111  2,789  11,907  7,018

LIABILItIES

Current liabilities  4,605  2,382  2,428  1,571  7,033  3,953

non-current liabilities  558  437  294  289  852  726

total liabilities  5,163  2,819  2,722  1,860  7,885  4,679

NEt ASSEtS  2,633  1,410  1,389  929  4,022  2,339

the schedule of assets and liabilities by service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

F I N A N C I A L  S t A t E M E N t S
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DEPARtMENt OF INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS

Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year ended 30 June 2012

2012

Estimate

$000

2012

Actual

$000

Variance

$000

2012

Actual

$000

2011

Actual

$000

Variance

$000

DELIVERY OF SERVICES

Item 41 net amount provided to deliver 
services

 41,025  38,668 (2,357)  38,668  30,149  8,519

section 25 transfer of service 
appropriation

 -  -  -  -  550 (550)

amount authorised by other statutes

 - salaries and allowances act 1975  238  238  -  238  202  36

total appropriations provided to 
deliver services

 41,263  38,906 (2,357)  38,906  30,901  8,005

CAPItAL

Item 117 Capital appropriations  -  -  -  -  -  - 

GRAND tOtAL  41,263  38,906 (2,357)  38,906  30,901  8,005

Details of Expenses by Service

support to partnerships, partnering 
Initiatives

 27,137  25,743 (1,394)  25,743  20,040  5,703

Information and advice  14,126  13,578 (548)  13,578  13,216  362

total Cost of services  41,263  39,321 (1,942)  39,321  33,256 (6,065)

less total Income  (1,332) (1,711) (379) (1,711) (1,623) (88)

net Cost of services  39,931  37,610 (2,321)  37,610  31,633  5,977

adjustments (a) 1,332  1,296  (36)  1,296 (732)  2,028

total appropriations provided to 
deliver services

 41,263  38,906 (2,357)  38,906  30,901  8,005

Capital Expenditure

purchase of non-current physical assets  1,311 (29) (1,340) (29) (162)  133

adjustments for other funding sources (1,311)  29  1,340  29  162 (133)

Capital Contribution (appropriation)  -  -  -  -  -  - 

(a)  adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables  
and superannuation.

note 31. ‘Explanatory statement’ provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 
2012 and between the actual results for 2012 and 2011.
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DEPARtMENt OF INDIGENOUS AFFAIRS 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2012

1 Australian Accounting Standards

General

the Department’s financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2012 have been prepared in accordance 
with australian accounting standards. the term 
‘australian accounting standards’ refers to standards 
and Interpretations issued by the australian accounting 
standards Board (aasB). 

the Department has adopted any applicable new and 
revised australian accounting standards from their 
operative dates. 

Early adoption of standards

the Department cannot early adopt an australian 
accounting standard unless specifically permitted by tI 
1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Other Pronouncements. there has been no early adoption 
of australian accounting standards that have been issued 
or amended (but not operative) by the Department for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2012.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies

(a)  General statement

the Department is a not-for-profit reporting entity 
that prepares general purpose financial statements 
in accordance with australian accounting standards, 
the framework, statements of accounting Concepts 
and other authoritative pronouncements of the aasB 
as applied by the treasurer’s instructions. several of 
these are modified by the treasurer’s instructions to 
vary application, disclosure, format and wording. 

the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions 
that govern the preparation of financial statements 
and take precedence over australian accounting 
standards, the framework, statements of accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements  
of the aasB.

Where modification is required and has had a material 
or significant financial effect upon the reported results, 
details of that modification and the resulting financial 
effect are disclosed in the notes to the  
financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation

the financial statements have been prepared on 
the accrual basis of accounting using the historical 
cost convention, modified by the revaluation of land, 
buildings and infrastructure which have been measured 
at fair value. 

the accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of the financial statements have been consistently 
applied throughout all periods presented unless 
otherwise stated.

the financial statements are presented in australian 
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($000).

note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in 
applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements 
that have been made in the process of applying the 
Department’s accounting policies resulting in the 
most significant effect on amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.

note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses 
key assumptions made concerning the future, and other 
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 
reporting period that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year.

(c) Reporting entity

the reporting entity comprises the Department only.

Mission

the Department’s mission is to close the gap 
between the social, cultural and economic well-being 
of Indigenous and non-Indigenous people through 
strategic leadership of land, heritage and culture, and 
whole of government coordination of Indigenous issues.

the Department is predominantly funded by 
parliamentary appropriation.

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E
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Services

the Department provides the following services:

Service 1: Support to Partnerships, Partnering 
Initiatives

the provision of support to current partnering or new 
partnerships which involves Indigenous individuals, 
families, communities, and representatives participating 
with government, the private sector, community groups 
and others to achieve agreed priorities.

Service 2: Information and Advice

state, Commonwealth, relevant local governments 
and others involved in Indigenous issues are provided 
with information and advice on policy, legislation 
and the planning, coordination, history, delivery and 
effectiveness of services.

(d) Contributed equity

aasB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by owners 
made to Wholly-owned public sector entities requires 
transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other 
than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the government 
(the owner) as contributions by owners (at the 
time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers 
can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital 
appropriations have been designated as contributions 
by owners by tI 955 Contributions by owners made 
to Wholly owned public sector entities and have been 
credited directly to Contributed equity.

the transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, 
other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, are designated as contributions by  
owners where the transfers are non-discretionary  
and non-reciprocal.

(e) Income

Revenue recognition

revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value 
of consideration received or receivable. revenue is 
recognised for the major business activities as follows:

Sale of goods

revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and 
disposal of other assets when the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser and 
can be measured reliably. 

Provision of services

revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of 
completion of the transaction.

Interest

revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 

Service appropriations

service appropriations are recognised as revenues at 
fair value in the period in which the Department gains 
control of the appropriated funds. the Department 
gains control of appropriated funds at the time those 
funds are deposited to the bank account or credited to 
the ‘amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) 
held at treasury.  

Net Appropriation Determination

the treasurer may make a determination providing for 
prescribed receipts to be retained for services under 
the control of the Department. In accordance with 
the determination specified in the 2011-12 Budget 
statements, the Department retained $1.711 million in 
2012 ($1.623 million in 2011) from the following: 

 �  grants and subsidies; 

 �  other Departmental revenue; and

 �  gst input credits.

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal 
contributions

revenue is recognised at fair value when the 
Department obtains control over the assets comprising 
the contributions, usually when cash is received.

other non-reciprocal contributions that are not 
contributions by owners are recognised at their fair 
value. Contributions of services are only recognised 
when a fair value can be reliably determined and the 
services would be purchased if not donated.

royalties for regions funds are recognised as revenue 
at fair value in the period in which the Department 
obtains control over the funds. the Department 
obtains control of the funds at the time the funds are 
deposited into the Department’s bank account.
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Gains

realised or unrealised gains are usually recognised 
on a net basis. these include gains arising on the 
disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations 
of non-current assets.

(f) Plant and equipment

Capitalisation / expensing of assets

Items of plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more 
are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets 
is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items 
of plant and equipment and works of art costing less 
than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the 
statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where 
they form part of a group of similar items which are 
significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement

plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

for items of plant and equipment acquired at no cost  
or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the  
date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the 
revaluation model is used for the measurement of 
works of art and the cost model for all other plant 
and equipment. Works of art are carried at fair value. 
all other items of plant and equipment are stated at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

the Department revalues its works of art every three 
years by a specialist in the valuation of aboriginal art.  

the valuation determined at this time is the fair value 
of the works of art. any additional purchases between 
revaluations are recognised at purchase cost.

Derecognition

upon disposal or derecognition of an item of plant 
and equipment or works of art, any revaluation 
surplus relating to that asset is retained in the asset 
revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus

the asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments 
and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets, 
as described in note 20 ‘plant and equipment’.

Depreciation

all non-current assets having a limited useful life are 
systematically depreciated over their estimated useful 
lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their 
future economic benefits.  

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line 
method, using rates which are reviewed annually. 
estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable  
asset are:

 � plant and equipment (excluding leasehold 
Improvements) - 8 to10 years,

 � leasehold Improvements - over the remaining  
term of lease,

 � office equipment - 3 to 5 years, and

 � motor vehicles - 3 to 8 years.

Works of art controlled by the Department are 
classified as property, plant and equipment, which 
are anticipated to have very long and indefinite useful 
lives. their service potential has not, in any material 
sense, been consumed during the reporting period 
and so no depreciation has been recognised.

(g) Intangible Assets

Capitalisation / expensing of assets

acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000  
or more and internally generated intangible assets 
costing $50,000 or more are capitalised. the cost of 
utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their 
useful lives.  Costs incurred below these thresholds 
are immediately expensed directly to the statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. for 
assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the 
cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

the cost model is applied for subsequent 
measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated  
impairment losses.

Computer Software

software that is an integral part of the related 
hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment. 
software that is not an integral part of the related 
hardware is treated as an intangible asset. software 
costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year  
of acquisition.
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Website costs

Website costs are charged as expenses when they 
are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or 
development of an asset when they may be capitalised 
and amortised. generally, costs in relation to feasibility 
studies during the planning phase of a website, and 
ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating 
phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or 
enhancing a website, to the extent that they represent 
probable future economic benefits that can be reliably 
measured, are capitalised.

(h) Impairment of Assets

plant and equipment are tested for any indication of 
impairment at each reporting period. Where there is 
an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is 
estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than 
the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired 
and is written down to the recoverable amount and 
an impairment loss is recognised. as the Department 
is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been 
identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount 
is the higher of the asset’s fair value less cost to sell 
and depreciated replacement cost.

the risk of impairment is generally limited to 
circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is 
materially understated, where the replacement cost is 
falling or where there is a significant change in useful 
life. each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually 
to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
reflects the level of consumption or expiration of 
asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any 
impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

the recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus 
assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 
the present value of future cash flows expected to be 
derived from the asset. surplus assets carried at fair 
value have no risk of material impairment where fair 
value is determined by reference to market-based 
evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to 
depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk 
of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured.  
surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(i) Leases

the Department holds operating leases for head 
office and a number of branch office buildings. lease 
payments are expensed on a straight line basis 
over the lease term as this represents the pattern of 
benefits derived from the leased properties.

(j) Financial Instruments

In addition to cash, the Department has two categories 
of financial instruments:

 � loans and receivables; and

 � financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

financial instruments have been disaggregated into 
the following classes: 

 � financial assets

- Cash and cash equivalents

- restricted cash and cash equivalents

- receivables

 � financial liabilities

- payables

Initial recognition and measurement of financial 
instruments is at fair value, which normally equates 
to the transaction cost or the face value. subsequent 
measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

the fair value of short-term receivables and payables 
is the transaction cost or the face value because 
there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent 
measurement is not required as the effect of 
discounting is not material.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents

for the purpose of the statement of Cash flows, cash 
and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash 
equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-
term deposits with original maturities of three months 
or less that are readily convertible to a known amount 
of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in value.
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(l) Accrued salaries

accrued salaries [refer to note 22 ‘payables’] 
represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the 
end of the financial year, as the pay date for the last 
pay period for that financial year does not coincide 
with the end of the financial year. accrued salaries are 
settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. the 
Department considers the carrying amount of accrued 
salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value.

the accrued salaries suspense account [refer to note 
16 ‘restricted cash and cash equivalents’] consists 
of amounts paid annually into a suspense account 
over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the 
additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 
pay days occur instead of the normal 26. no interest is 
received on this account.  

(m)  Amounts receivable for services  
(holding account)

the Department receives funding on an accrual basis 
that recognises the full annual cash and non-cash 
cost of services. the appropriations are paid partly 
in cash and partly as an asset (holding account 
receivable) that is accessible on the emergence of the 
cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements 
and asset replacement.

(n) Receivables

receivables are recognised and carried at original 
invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible 
amounts (i.e. impairment). the collectability of 
receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any 
receivables identified as uncollectible are written off 
against the allowance account. the allowance for 
uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when 
there is objective evidence that the Department will 
not be able to collect the debts. the carrying amount 
is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement 
within 30 days.  

(o) Payables

payables are recognised at the amounts payable 
when the Department becomes obliged to make 
future payments as a result of a purchase of assets 
or services. the carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value, as they are generally settled within 30 days. 

(p) Provisions

provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount 
and are recognised where there is a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and 
when the outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. provisions are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period.  

(i) Provisions - employee benefits

all annual leave and long service leave provisions are 
in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the 
reporting period.

Annual leave 

the liability for annual leave that is expected to  
be settled within 12 months after the reporting  
period is recognised and measured at the 
undiscounted amounts expected to be paid  
when the liability is settled. 

annual leave that is not expected to be settled within 
12 months after the reporting period is recognised 
and measured at the present value of amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled 
using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the 
time of settlement.  

When assessing expected future payments, 
consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels, including non-salary components such 
as employer superannuation contributions, as well as 
the experience of employee departures and periods of 
service. the expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields at the end of the reporting period 
on national government bonds with terms to maturity 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows.

the provision for annual leave is classified as a 
current liability as the Department does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability 
for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Long service leave

the liability for long service leave that is expected  
to be settled within 12 months after the reporting 
period is recognised and measured at the 
undiscounted amounts expected to be paid  
when the liability is settled.  
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long service leave that is not expected to be settled 
within 12 months after the reporting period is 
recognised and measured at the present value of 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply 
at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments, 
consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels, including non-salary components such 
as employer superannuation contributions, as well as 
the experience of employee departures and periods of 
service. the expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields at the end of the reporting period 
on national government bonds with terms to maturity 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows.

unconditional long service leave provisions are 
classified as current liabilities as the Department does 
not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 
period. pre-conditional and conditional long service 
leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities 
because the Department has an unconditional right to 
defer the settlement of the liability until the employee 
has completed the requisite years of service.

Purchased Leave

the provision for purchased leave relates to public 
service employees who have entered into an 
agreement to self-fund up to an additional ten weeks 
leave per calendar year. the provision recognises 
the value of salary set aside for employees and is 
measured at the nominal amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled. this liability is 
measured on the same basis as annual leave.

Superannuation

the government employees superannuation Board 
(gesB) and other funds administers public sector 
superannuation arrangements in Western australia in 
accordance with legislative requirements. eligibility 
criteria for membership in particular schemes 
for public sector employees varies according to 
commencement and implementation dates.

eligible employees contribute to the pension 
scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed 
to new members since 1987, or the gold state 
superannuation scheme (gss), a defined benefit lump 
sum scheme closed to new members since 1995. 

the gss is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes 
of employees and whole of government reporting.  
However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency 
purposes because the concurrent contributions 
(defined contributions) made by the Department to 
gesB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the 
related superannuation liability.

the Department has no liabilities under the pension 
scheme or the gss. the liabilities for the unfunded 
pension scheme and the unfunded gss transfer 
benefits attributable to members who transferred from 
the pension scheme, are assumed by the treasurer.  
all other gss obligations are funded by concurrent 
contributions made by the Department to the gesB. 

employees commencing employment prior to  
16 april 2007 who were not members of either the 
pension scheme or the gss became non contributory 
members of the West state superannuation scheme 
(Wss). employees commencing employment on 
or after 16 april 2007 became members of the 
gesB super scheme (gesBs). from 30 march 
2012, existing members of the Wss or gesBs 
and new employees became able to choose their 
preferred superannuation fund. the Department 
makes concurrent contributions to gesB or other 
funds on behalf of employees in compliance with 
the Commonwealth government’s Superannuation 
Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. Contributions 
to these accumulation schemes extinguish the 
Department’s liability for superannuation charges in 
respect of employees who are not members of the 
pension scheme or gss.

the gesB makes all benefit payments in respect of 
the pension scheme and gss, and is recouped from 
the treasurer for the employer’s share.

(ii) Provisions - other

Employment On-Costs

employment on-costs, including workers’ 
compensation insurance, are not employee benefits 
and are recognised separately as liabilities and 
expenses when the employment to which they relate 
has occurred. employment on-costs are included as 
part of ‘other expenses’ and are not included as part 
of the Department’s ‘employee benefits expense’.  
the related liability is included in ‘employment  
on-costs provision’. 
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(q) Superannuation expense

the superannuation expense in the statement of 
Comprehensive Income comprises of employer 
contributions paid to the gss (concurrent 
contributions), the Wss, the gesBs, or other 
superannuation fund.

the gss scheme is a defined benefit scheme for the 
purposes of employees and whole of government 
reporting. However, it is a defined contribution 
plan for agency purposes because the concurrent 
contributions (defined contributions) made by the 
agency to gesB extinguishes the agency’s obligations 
to the related superannuation liability.

(r)  Resources received free of charge or for 
nominal value

resources received free of charge or for nominal  
cost that can be reliably measured are recognised  
as income and as assets or expenses as appropriate, 
at fair value.

Where assets or services are received from another 
state government agency, these are separately 
disclosed under Income from state government  
in the statement of Comprehensive Income.

(s) Comparative Figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, 
reclassified to be comparable with the figures 
presented in the current financial year.

(t)  Support Provided to AAPA/Aboriginal  
Lands trust

Decision making Department in respect of the 
aboriginal land estate effectively resides with the 
aboriginal lands trust (alt), a body established 
under the auspices of the Aboriginal Affairs Planning 
Department Act 1972.

When the aboriginal affairs Department (now titled 
the Department of Indigenous affairs) was established 
on 1 november 1994, it effectively took over the 
operations of its originating agencies, including the 
aboriginal affairs planning Department (aapa). staff 
previously employed by the aapa at that time were 
transferred to the aaD. 

as a consequence, administrative support for the aapa 
and the alt was provided by staff employed by the 
aaD. see note 27 ‘resources provided free of charge’.

3.  Judgements made by management in 
applying accounting policies

the preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make judgements about the application 
of accounting policies that have a significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements. the 
Department evaluates these judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitment

the Department has entered into a number of leases 
for buildings for branch office accommodation.  some 
of these leases relate to buildings of a temporary nature 
and it has been determined that the lessor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership. accordingly, these leases have been classified 
as operating leases.

Leasehold improvements

the Department capitalises leasehold improvements 
where significant economic benefit is obtained.

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

the Department makes key estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. these estimates and assumptions 
are based on historical experience and various other 
factors that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

Long Service Leave

several estimations and assumptions used in calculating 
the Department’s long service leave provision include 
expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee 
retention rates and expected future payments. Changes 
in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the 
carrying amount of the long service leave provision.

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

F I N A N C I A L  S t A t E M E N t S



63

5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

the Department has applied the following australian accounting standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning 
on or after 1 July 2011 that impacted on the Department:

aasB 1054  Australian Additional Disclosures 
this standard, in conjunction with aasB 2011-1 amendments to australian accounting standards 
arising from the trans-tasman Convergence project, removes disclosure requirements from other 
standards and incorporates them in a single standard to achieve convergence between australian 
and new Zealand accounting standards. there is no financial impact.

aasB 2009-12  amendments to australian accounting standards [aasB 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 
1023 & 1031 and Int 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052].

this standard makes editorial amendments to a range of australian accounting standards and 
Interpretations. there is no financial impact.

aasB 2010-4  further amendments to australian accounting standards arising from the annual Improvements 
project [aasB 1, 7, 101 & 134 and Int 13].

the amendments to aasB 7 clarify financial instrument disclosures in relation to credit risk.  
the carrying amount of financial assets that would otherwise be past due or impaired whose terms 
have been renegotiated is no longer required to be disclosed. there is no financial impact. 
the amendments to aasB 101 clarify the presentation of the statement of Changes in equity.  
the disaggregation of other comprehensive income reconciling the carrying amount at the 
beginning and the end of the period for each component of equity can be presented in either the 
statement of Change in equity or the notes.

aasB 2010-5  amendments to australian accounting standards [aasB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 119, 121, 
132, 133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and Int 112, 115, 127, 132 & 1042].

this standard makes editorial amendments to a range of australian accounting standards and 
Interpretations. there is no financial impact.

aasB 2010-6  amendments to australian accounting standards – Disclosures on transfers of financial assets  
[aasB 1 & 7].

this standard introduces additional disclosure relating to transfers of financial assets in aasB 7.  
an entity shall disclose all transferred financial assets that are not derecognised and any continuing 
involvement in a transferred asset, existing at the reporting date, irrespective of when the related 
transfer transaction occurred. there is no financial impact.

aasB 2011-1  amendments to australian accounting standards arising from the trans-tasman Convergence 
project [aasB 1, 5, 101, 107, 108, 121, 128, 132 & 134 and Int 2, 112 & 113].

this standard, in conjunction with aasB 1054, removes disclosure requirements from other 
standards and incorporates them in a single standard to achieve convergence between australian 
and new Zealand accounting standards. there is no financial impact.

aasB 2011-5  amendments to australian accounting standards – extending relief from Consolidation, the equity 
method and proportionate Consolidation [aasB 127, 128 & 131].

this standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity method and proportionate 
consolidation by removing the requirement for the consolidated financial statements prepared by 
the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity to be Ifrs compliant, provided that the parent entity, 
investor or venturer and the ultimate or intermediate parent entity are not-for-profit non-reporting 
entities that comply with australian accounting standards. there is no financial impact.
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

the Department cannot early adopt an australian accounting standard unless specifically permitted by tI 1101 application 
of australian accounting standards and other pronouncements. Consequently, the Department has not applied early any 
following australian accounting standards that have been issued that may impact the Department. Where applicable, the 
Department plans to apply these australian accounting standards from their application date.

title Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning  
on / after

aasB 9 Financial Instruments 

this standard supersedes aasB 139 financial Instruments: recognition and 
measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

the standard was reissued in December 2010. the Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the standard.

01-January-2013

aasB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

this standard supersedes requirements under aasB 127 Consolidated and 
separate financial statements and Int 112 Consolidation – special purpose 
entities, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

the standard was issued in august 2011. the Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the standard.

01-January-2013

aasB 11 Joint Arrangements

this standard supersedes aasB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments.

the standard was issued in august 2011.  the Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the standard.

01-January-2013

aasB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

this standard supersedes disclosure requirements under aasB 127 Consolidated 
and separate financial statements, aasB 128 Investments in associates and 
aasB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures.

the standard was issued in august 2011. the Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the standard.

01-January-2013

aasB 13 Fair Value Measurement

this standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value 
and requires disclosures about fair value measurements.  there is no financial 
impact. 

01-January-2013 
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title Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning  
on / after

aasB 119 Employee Benefits

this standard is not applicable to aapa as the Department does not have  
any employees.

this standard supersedes aasB 119 (october 2010).  as the Department 
does not operate a defined benefit plan, the impact of the change is limited 
to measuring annual leave as a long-term employee benefit. the resultant 
discounting of the annual leave benefit has an immaterial impact.

01-January-2013

aasB 127 Separate Financial Statements

this standard supersedes requirements under aasB 127 Consolidated and 
separate financial statements, introducing a number of changes to accounting 
treatments.

the standard was issued in august 2011. the Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the standard.

01-January-2013

aasB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

this standard supersedes aasB 128 Investments in associates, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments.

the standard was issued in august 2011. the Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the standard.

01-January-2013

aasB 1053 Application of tiers of Australian Accounting Standards

this standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting 
of two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing general purpose financial 
statements. there is no financial impact.

01-July-2013

aasB  
2009-11

amendments to australian accounting standards arising from aasB 9 [aasB  1, 
3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 
& 1038 and Int  10 & 12]. [modified by aasB 2010-7]. 

01-July-2013

aasB  
2010-2

amendments to australian accounting standards arising from reduced 
Disclosure requirements [aasB  1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 
112, 116, 117, 119, 121, 123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 
140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Int  2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 & 1052].

this standard makes amendments to australian accounting standards and 
Interpretations to introduce reduced disclosure requirements for certain types of 
entities. there is no financial impact. 

01-July-2013
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title Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning  
on / after

aasB  
2010-7

amendments to australian accounting standards arising from aasB 9 (December 
2010) [aasB  1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 
132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int  2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]. 
 
this standard makes consequential amendments to other australian accounting 
standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing aasB 9 in December 2010. 
the Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the standard. 

01-January-2013

aasB  
2011-2

amendments to australian accounting standards arising from the trans-tasman 
Convergence project – reduced Disclosure requirements [aasB 101 & 1054]. 
 
this standard removes disclosure requirements from other standards and 
incorporates them in a single standard to achieve convergence between 
australian and new Zealand accounting standards for reduced disclosure 
reporting. there is no financial impact. 

01-July-2013

aasB  
2011-6

amendments to australian accounting standards – extending relief from 
Consolidation, the equity method and proportionate Consolidation – reduced 
Disclosure requirements [aasB 127, 128 & 131]. 
 
this standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity method and 
proportionate consolidation by removing the requirement for the consolidated 
financial statements prepared by the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity 
to be Ifrs compliant, provided that the parent entity, investor or venturer and 
the ultimate or intermediate parent entity comply with australian accounting 
standards or australian accounting standards – reduced Disclosure 
requirements. there is no financial impact.

01-July-2013

aasB  
2011-7

amendments to australian accounting standards arising from the Consolidation 
and Joint arrangements standards [aasB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 101, 107, 112, 
118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]. 
 
this standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance 
of aasB 10, aasB 11, aasB 127 separate financial statements and aasB 128 
Investments in associates and Joint Ventures.  
the Department has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the standard.

01-January-2013
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title Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning  
on / after

aasB  
2011-8

amendments to australian accounting standards arising from aasB 13  
[aasB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 
119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 
& 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132]. 
 
this standard replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in other 
australian accounting standards and Interpretations as the result of issuing 
aasB 13 in september 2011. there is no financial impact. 

01-January-2013

aasB  
2011-9

amendments to australian accounting standards – presentation of Items of  
other Comprehensive Income [aasB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 
1039 & 1049]. 
 
this standard requires to group items presented in other comprehensive 
income on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or 
loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). the Department has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the standard.

01-July-2012

aasB  
2011-10

amendments to australian accounting standards arising from aasB 119 
(september 2011) [aasB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 & 2011-8 and Int 14].   
 
this standard makes amendments to other australian accounting standards 
and Interpretations as a result of issuing aasB 119 employee Benefits in 
september 2011. there is limited financial impact.

01-January-2013

aasB  
2011-11

amendments to aasB 119 (september 2011) arising from reduced Disclosure 
requirements.   
 
this standard gives effect to australian accounting standards – reduced 
Disclosure requirements for aasB 119 (september 2011).  
there is no financial impact.

01-July-2013

aasB  
2012-1

amendments to australian accounting standards - fair Value measurement - 
reduced Disclosure requirements [aasB 3, 7, 13, 140 & 141]. 
 
this standard establishes and amends reduced disclosure requirements for 
additional and amended disclosures arising from aasB 13 and the consequential 
amendments implemented through aasB 2011-8.   
there is no financial impact.

01-July-2013

Changes in accounting estimates

there were no changes in accounting estimates that will have an effect on the current reporting period.
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6. Employee benefits expense

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Wages and salaries (a) 16,870  16,038

superannuation  
- defined contribution plans (b)

 1,362  1,282

total  18,232  17,320

(a)  Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements 
including superannuation contribution component.

(b)  Defined contribution plans include West state, gesB and gold state super scheme (contributions paid).

employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance are included at note 11 ‘Other expenses’.  
the employment on-costs liability is included at note 23 ‘Provisions’.

7. Supplies and services

2012 
$000

2011 
$000

Communications 240  346

services and contractors  4,882  3,182

service purchased from  
non-government agencies

 5,691 2,754

Consumables  650  348

operating leases  623  532

repairs and maintenance  26  27

electricity and water  141  133

travel  905  1,081

other 170  123

total  13,328  8,526
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Department of treasury advised that patrols should be treated as services purchased from non government agencies 
(spfngs) instead of grants. Details of the services purchased from non-government agencies are listed below:

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Bloodwood tree association Inc.  308  34

emu services  309  254

garl garl Walbu aboriginal Corporation  254  - 

geraldton Yamatji patrol aboriginal Corporation  424  371

Halls Creek people’s Church  134  45

Kununurra Waringarri aboriginal Corporation  456  - 

laverton leonora Cross Cultural association  455  331

mamabulanjin aboriginal Corporation  381  43

midwest employment and economic Development 
aboriginal Corporation

 919  422

ngnowar aerwah aboriginal Corporation  400  45

nyoongar patrol system Inc.  958  760

Warmun Community (turkey Creek)  200

Warburton Community Inc.  -  190

Yaandina family Centre  176  - 

Yulella aboriginal Corporation  317  259

total 5,691 2,754

8. Depreciation expense

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Depreciation

motor vehicles  -  - 

plant and equipment  59  69

It equipment  195  184

total  254  253

see also  Note 2(f) Plant & Equipment, and Note 5 Disclosure of changes in accounting policy & estimates.

9. Accommodation expenses

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

lease rentals  2,170  2,124

repairs and maintenance  12  41

other  77  27

total  2,259  2,192
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10. Grants and subsidies

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Recurrent

grants to non-government agencies  2,298  3,873

transfers/contributions to other state government agencies  83  301

Capital  2,000  - 

total 4,381 4,174

Details of grants in excess of $100,000 are listed below:

Other Grants

fairbridge Western australia Inc.  120

Jawun - Indigenous enterprise partnership  -  200

mirima Council Inc. - Kimberley interpreting services 100  200

Karrayili adult education Centre  200  - 

Kimberley aboriginal law & Culture Centre - fitzroy 
futures, Youth Justice Business and marketing plan

 -  175

Kimberley foundation australia limited - Development of 
tafe recognised modules in Kimberley rock art

 -  125

Kimberley language resource Centre 100  - 

Department of families, Housing, Community services and 
Indigenous affairs - mCatsIa population project & Yawuru 

120  224

university of Western australia 125  - 

Capital

Catholic education office of Wa -  Clontarf Hostel extension  2,000  - 

11. Other expenses 

2012 
$000

2011 
$000

Bad debts  4  56

Doubtful debts expense  3  47

Building maintenance  185  220

employment on-costs (a)  
(see note 6 ‘employee benefits expense’)

 635  428

other (b)  40  40

total  867  791

(a)  Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs. the on-costs liability associated with the 
recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at note 23 ‘provisions’. superannuation contributions 
accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.

(b)  audit fee, see also note 34 ‘Remuneration of auditor’.
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12. Commonwealth grants and contributions

2012 
$000

2011 
$000

narrogin Crisis response (a)  -  87

Halls Creek Healing Centre (b)  -  55

West Kimberley tripartite forum (c)  -  150

Kalumburu local area Community Coordinator (d)  100  - 

oombulgurri potential site use planning (e) 10  - 

total  110  292

(a) Narrogin Crisis Response

Funds Received 
$000

Funds Expended 
$000

Balance  
$000

2009-10 200 146 54

2010-11 87 134 -47

2011-12 - 7 -7

total 287 287 -

funding received from Department of families, Housing, Community services and Indigenous affairs. this project has  
been running for three financial years. this summary represents the combined funds received and expended over the life  
of the project.

(b) Halls Creek Healing Centre

Funds Received  
$000

Funds Expended  
$000

Balance  
$000 

2010-11 55 - 55

2011-12 - 55 -55

total 55 55 -

a grant received from Department of families, Housing, Community services and Indigenous affairs for a group of Halls 
Creek residents to undertake a scoping study tour of Queensland Healing Centres.
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(c) West Kimberley tripartite Forum

Funds Received  
$000

Funds Expended  
$000

Balance  
$000 

2010-11 150  - 150

2011-12  -  -  - 

total 150  - 150

a grant received from Department of families, Housing, Community services and Indigenous affairs to fund Kimberley land 
Council and its nominated organisations to attend meetings of the West Kimberley tripartite forum and its working groups.

(d) Kalumburu Local Area Community Coordinator

Funds Received  
$000

Funds Expended  
$000

Balance  
$000 

2011-12 100 5 95

total 100 5 95

a grant received from Department of families, Housing, Community services and Indigenous affairs to engage a local area 
Commumnity Coordinator to work with the Kalumburu Community to improve their well-being and capability.

(e) Oombulgurri Potential Site Use Planning

Funds Received  
$000

Funds Expended  
$000

Balance  
$000 

2011-12 10  - 10

total 10  - 10

a grant received from Department of families, Housing, Community services and Indigenous affairs to meet the costs of 
potential site use planning.

See also note 16 ‘Restricted Cash and cash equivalents’ for more detail.
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13. Other revenue

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Contributions from state government agencies  514  535

Other contributions

Contributions for special projects  -  - 

miscellaneous revenue  875  631

Revenues from non-operating activities

government Vehicle scheme  37  38

staff housing contributions  175  118

Other 

rent revenue  -  9

total  1,601  1,331

14. Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets

there was no disposal of non-current assets in 2011-12.
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15. Income from State Government

appropriations received during the period:

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

service appropriations (a) 38,906 30,901

Sub total 38,906 30,901

resources received free of charge (b)

Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by agencies:

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

state solicitor’s office - legal 
advice

152 173

Department of treasury & 
finance - property management 
services

91 63

Sub total 243 236

total  39,149 31,137

royalties for regions fund:

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

regional Community services 
fund (c)

144 74

total 144 74

(a)  service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the net cost of services delivered. the appropriation revenue 
comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). the receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation 
expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year.

(b)  Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal cost, the Department recognises revenue 
equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably measured and which 
would have been purchased if they were not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised as assets or expenses, 
as applicable. Where the contributions of assets or services are in the nature of contributions by owners, the Department 
makes an adjustment direct to equity.

(c)  this is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘royalties for regions fund’. the recurrent funds are committed to projects 
and programs in Wa regional areas.
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16. Restricted cash and cash equivalents

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Current

mCatsIa (a)  29  153

Wa Indicator framework system (WaIfs) 
Website (b)

 38  38

narrogin Crisis response (c)  -  8

murchison gascoyne mapping and gapping (d)  1  1

Halls Creek Healing Centre (e)  -  55

Kimberley science & Conservation strategy (f)  175  300

remote Indigenous Housing West Kimberley 
tripartite forum (g)

 150  150

Kalumburu local area Community Coordinator 
(h)

 95  - 

total Current  488  705

Non-current

accrued salaries suspense account (i)  470  395

total Non-Current  470  395

total  958  1,100

(a)  funds held by the Department for the administration of the ministerial Council of aboriginal and torres strait Islander 
affairs (mCatsIa). see also note 12, ‘Commonwealth grants and contributions’.

(b)  funding to develop the WaIfs website.

(c)  funding provided to respond to the suicide Crisis in the narrogin community.

(d)  funding to support the completion of a process to identify services provided and gaps in the provision of services in the 
murchison gascoyne region.

(e)  funding to support a group of Halls Creek residents to undertake a scoping study tour of Queensland Healing Centres. 

(f)  funding to support a position of Chair/ Director, Centre for rock art studies at the university of Western australia.

(g)  funding to support the Kimberley land Council and its nominated organisations to attend meetings of the West 
Kimberley tripartite forum and its working groups.

(h)  funding to support engagement of a local area Commumnity Coordinator to work with the Kalumburu Community to 
improve their well being and capability.

(i)  amount held in the suspense account is only to be used for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay in a financial year that 
occurs every 11 years.
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17. Receivables

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Current

receivables  1,763  591

loans (a)  -  50

allowance for impairment of receivables (23) (47)

gst receivable  169  245

total  1,909  839

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables.

Balance at start of period  47  - 

Doubtful debts expense recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income

 3  47

amounts written off during the period  (4)  - 

amount recovered during the period (b) (23)  - 

Balance at end of period  23  47

the Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to receivables.

See also note 2(n) ‘Receivables’ and note 32 ‘Financial Instruments’.

(a)  DIa made an interest free loan to ngarluma aboriginal Corporation for the purposes of developing a structure plan for 
the ngarluma aboriginal sustainable Housing project. this loan was repaid in full in september 2011.

18. Amounts receivable for services

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Current 400 489

non-current 96 60

total 496 549

represents the non-cash component of service appropriations.  see note 2(m) ‘amounts receivable for services (Holding 
account)’. It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.
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19. Other assets

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Current

prepayments 113 89

total 113 89

20. Plant and equipment

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Vehicles

at cost 53 53

accumulated depreciation (53) (53)

total Vehicles  -  - 

Plant and equipment 

at cost 422 411

accumulated depreciation (269) (266)

total plant and equipment 153 145

Information technology equipment

at cost 893 875

accumulated depreciation (737) (485)

total information technology equipment 156 390

Works of art (a)

at fair value 168 168

total Works of art 168 168

tOtAL 477 703

(a)  Works of art were revalued in accordance with a valuation which was undertaken by an independent contractor, michael 
a o’ferrall Consultant Curator on the basis of current market value, as at June 2010. Works of art will again be revalued 
in the year ended June 2013.  

See note 2(f) ‘Plant and Equipment’.
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Works of 
Art 

 
$000

Vehicles 
 
 

$000

Plant & 
equipment 

 
$000

Information 
technology 
equipment 

$000

total 
 
 

$000

2012

Carrying amount at start of period  168  -  145  390  703

re-distribution of assets between 
classes - shared services roll-in

 -  -  -  -  - 

additions  -  -  10  19  29

Disposals  -  -  -  -  - 

revaluation increments  -  -  -  -  - 

Depreciation  -  - (2) (253) (255)

Carrying amount at end of 
period

 168  -  153  156  477

Works of 
Art 

 
$000

Vehicles 
 
 

$000

Plant & 
equipment 

 
$000

Information 
technology 
equipment 

$000

total 
 
 

$000

2011

Carrying amount at start of period  168   -   141  486  795

re-distribution of assets between 
classes - shared services roll-in

  -    -   61 (61)  - 

additions   -    -   12  150  162

Disposals   -    -    -    -   - 

revaluation increments   -    -    -    -   - 

Depreciation   -    -  (69) (185) (254)

Carrying amount at end of 
period

 168  -  145  390  703

21. Impairments of assets

there were no indications of impairment to plant and equipment assets at 30 June 2012.

the Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period, and at the 
end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

all surplus assets at 30 June 2012 have either been classified as assets held for sale or written off.
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22. Payables

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Current

trade payables 1,754 168

accrued expenses 1,538 416

accrued salaries 335 239

total Current 3,627 823

See also note 2(o) ‘Payables’ and note 32 ‘Financial Instruments’.

23. Provisions

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Current

employee benefits provision

annual leave (a) 1,297 1,441

long service leave (b) 1,537 1,286

purchased leave (c) 26 28

2,860 2,755

Other provisions

employment on-costs (d) 483 313

483 313

total current provisions 3,343 3,068

Non-current

employee benefits provision

long service leave (b) 777 656

777 656

Other provisions

employment on-costs (d) 75 70

75 70

total non current provisions 852 726

total provisions 4,195 3,794
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(a)  annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 
12 months after the end of the reporting period. assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected 
to occur as follows:

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Within 12 months of reporting period 880 765

more than 12 months after end of the  
reporting period

417 521

total 1,297 1,286

(b)  long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for 
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is 
expected to occur as follows:

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Within 12 months of reporting period 1,537 1,286

more than 12 months after end of the  
reporting period

777 656

total 2,314 1,942

(c)  purchased leave has been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least  
12 months after the end of the reporting period. all purchased leave must be settled by 31 December each year or it is 
automatically paid out.

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Within 12 months of reporting period 26 28

more than 12 months after end of the  
reporting period

 -  - 

total 26 28

(d)  the settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including 
workers’ compensation insurance. the provision is the present value of expected future payments. the associated 
expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 11 ‘other expenses’.
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Movements in Other Provisions

movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below:

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Employment on-cost provision

Carrying amount at start of period 382 320

additional provisions recognised 176 62

Carrying amount at end of period 558 382

24. Other liabilities

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Current

Income received in advance  -  - 

unclaimed monies 2 2

fringe benefits tax 57 57

other 4 3

total current 63 62

25. Equity

Contributed Equity

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Balance at start of period 2,481 1,351

Contributions by owners

Capital appropriation (b)  -  - 

Other contributions by owners:

transfer net assets from other agencies (a) 
 
represents the fitzroy futures program 
transferred from Department of finance, 
Building management & Works

 - 1,130

Balance at end of period 2,481 2,481

(a)  under aasB 1004 ‘Contributions’, transfers of net assets as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements are 
to be accounted for as contributions by owners and distributions to owners.

(b)  under tI 955 Contributions by owners made to Wholly owned public sector entities capital appropriations have been 
designated as contributions by owners in accordance with aasB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by owners made to 
Wholly-owned public sector entities.

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

F I N A N C I A L  S t A t E M E N t S

FIN
A

N
C

IA
L S

TATEM
EN

TS



82

fin
a

n
c

ia
l s

tatem
en

ts

Reserves

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Asset revaluation surplus

Balance at the start of period 186 186

net revaluation increments/(decrements):

Works of art  -  - 

Balance at the end of period 186 186

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Balance at the start of period (328) 94

Changes in accounting policy  -  - 

result for the period 1,683 (422)

Balance at the end of period 1,355 (328)

26. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of Cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
statement of financial position as follows:

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Cash and cash equivalents 7,954 3,738

restricted cash and cash equivalents  
(see also note 16)

958 1,100

total  8,912 4,838
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Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Net cost of services (37,610) (31,633)

Non-cash items:

Depreciation 254  253

Doubtful debts expense 3  47

net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets  -  - 

resources received free of charge 243 236

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Current receivables (1,146) (69)

other current assets (24) 168

non-current receivables  - 50

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Current payables 2,804 486

Current provisions 275 783

other current liabilities 1 18

non-current provisions 126 26

net gst receipts/(payments)  76 (42)

Change in gst receivables/payables (2) (4)

Equity Contributions (non-Capital)

transfer of net cash assets from other agencies  - 1,130

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating 
activities

(35,000) (28,551)

at the end of the reporting period, the Department had fully drawn on all financing facilities, details of which are disclosed in 
the financial statements.
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27. Resources provided free of charge

During the period the following resources were provided to other agencies free of charge for functions outside the normal 
operations of the Department.

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Aboriginal Affairs Planning Department 1,129 1,231

See also note 2(t) Support provided to Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority/Aboriginal Lands Trust.

28. Commitments

Lease commitments (a) (b)

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as follows:

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Within 1 year 664 1,756

later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 492 535

later than 5 years  -  - 

total 1,156 2,291

representing:

non-cancellable operating leases 1,156 2,291

1,156 2,291

(a)  the property leases are non-cancellable leases for periods up to five years with rent payable monthly in advance.  
Contingent rent provisions within the lease agreements require that the lease payments shall be increased by the CpI or 
other criteria such as independent valuations or fixed percentages. options may exist to renew the leases at the end of 
the lease term.

(b)  motor vehicle leases are non-cancellable leases over a fixed period and/or targeted number of kilometres.

Expenditure Commitments

the Department has contracted commitments for its grants program via service/grant agreements at the end of the 
reporting period that are not recognised as liabilities and are payable as follows:

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Within 1 year 865 2,188

later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 210 416

later than 5 years 127 306

total 1,202 2,910

29. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

the Department had no contingent liabilities or contingent assets as at 30 June 2012.
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30. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

no information has become apparent since the end of the reporting period which materially affects the financial statements.

31. Explanatory statement

significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as presented in the financial statement 
titled ‘summary of Consolidated account appropriations and Income estimates’ are shown below:  significant variations are 
considered to be those greater than 10 per cent or $200,000. 

total appropriations provided to deliver services

Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2012

adjustments to the original budget as supplementary funding were received for stolen Wages, Decommissioning of shared 
services and deferrals of 2010-11 supplementary funding. these funds were received in June 2012 and are envisaged to 
be spent in 2012-13.

2012  
Estimate  

$000

2012  
Actual  

$000

 
Variance  

$000

support to partnerships, partnering Initiatives (a) 27,137 25,743 (1,394)

Information & advice (b) 14,126 13,578 (548)

(a) Support to Partnering Initiatives

the variance is primarily related to the receipt of stolen Wages, Decommissioning of shared services, and funds relating to 
2010-11 supplementary funding. In addition, some projects are still in progress and funds for these projects will be carried 
forward in 2012-13.

(b) Information and Advice

the variance is primarily due to the additional resources and focus on improving the delivery of this service.

Significant variances between actual results for 2012 and 2011

major spending changes as per the approved budget, which included aboriginal Community emergency response fund, 
aboriginal Community patrols, Clontarf Hostel extension and governance and leadership Development program had 
resulted in the increase of the spending in 2012 compared to 2011.

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Variance  
$000

total appropriation provided to deliver services 
for the period (a)

38,906 30,901 8,005

total income (b) 1,711 1,623 88
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Service Expenditure

Significant variances between actual results for 2012 and 2011

2012 
$000

2011 
$000

Variance 
$000

support to partnerships, partnering Initiatives 25,743 20,040 5,703

Information & advice 13,578 13,216 362

Support to Partnering Initiatives

the increase in funding is primarily due to additional funding under the major spending changes as mentioned above.  
some budgeted expenditures on project are to be carried forward in 2012-13.

Information and Advice

the increase in funding is primarily due to the redistribution of existing resources to cover increased costs associated with 
improving the delivery of this service.

Capital Contribution

significant variances between actual results for 2011 and 2012.

2012 
$000

2011 
$000

Variance 
$000

Capital Contribution  -  -  - 

32. Financial instruments

(a)  Financial risk management objectives and policies Financial

financial Instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, 
receivables and payables. all of the Department’s cash is held in the public bank account (non-interest bearing), 
including restricted cash. the Department has limited exposure to financial risks. the Department’s overall risk 
management program focuses on managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is a possibility of the Department’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to the Department. 

the maximum exposure to credit risk at end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial 
assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any allowance for impairment, as shown in the table at 
note 32(c) ‘financial instruments disclosures’ and note 17 ‘receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is minimal because the main receivable is the amount 
receivable for services (holding account). for receivables other than government, the Department trades only with 
recognised, creditworthy third parties. the Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and 
services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an 
ongoing basis with the result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. at the end of the reporting period 
there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

the Department monitors receivables on a monthly basis and follows up any that are past due. Debtors are contacted to 
determine the reason for non-payment via phone and by follow up letters. In instances where this proves unsuccessful 
and the amount outstanding is considered material, the debt is referred to a debt collector after consideration of the 
nature of the debt and any impact this would have on our client base.
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Liquidity risk

liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. the Department is 
exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

the Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdowns of appropriations by 
monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk

market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the 
Department’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. the Department does not trade in foreign 
currency and is not materially exposed to other price risks. other than as detailed in the Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
table at note 32(c), the Department is not exposed to interest rate risk because apart from minor amounts of restricted 
cash, all other cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and have no borrowings.

(b) Categories of financial instruments

In addition to cash and bank overdraft, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and 
financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2012 2011

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7,954 3,738

restricted cash and cash equivalents 958 1,100

loans and receivables (a) 1,763 591

Financial Liabilities

financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 3,690 885

(a) the amount of receivables excludes gst recoverable from the ato (statutory receivable).

(c) Financial instrument disclosures

Credit risk 

the following tables detail the Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the aging analysis of financial assets. 
the Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of financial 
assets as shown below. the table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and 
impaired financial assets. the table is based on information provided to senior management of the Department.

the Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.
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Aged analysis of financial assets 

past due but not impaired

Carrying 
Amount 

Not past 
due 

and not 
impaired

Up to 1 
month

1 - 3 
months

3 months 
to 1 year

1 - 5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years 

Impaired 
financial 

assets 

Financial Assets

2012

Cash assets 7,954 7,954  -  -  -  -  -  - 

restricted cash 
assets

958 958  -  -  -  -  -  - 

receivables (a) 1,763 1,763  -  -  -  -  -  - 

total 10,675 10,675  -  -  -  -  -  - 

2011

Cash assets 3,738 3,738  -  -  -  -  -  - 

restricted cash 
assets

1,100 1,100  -  -  -  -  -  - 

receivables (a) 591 591  -  -  -  -  -  47

total 5,429 5,429  -  -  -  -  -  47

(a) the amount of receivables excludes the gst recoverable from the ato (statutory receivable).

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

the following table details the Department’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial 
assets and financial liabilities. the maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows. the interest rate 
exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.
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Interest rate exposures and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure maturity Dates

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 
Rate %

Carrying 
Amount  

 
 

$000

Non 
interest 
bearing  

 
$000

Nominal 
Amount  

 
 

$000

1 - 3 
months  

 
 

$000

3 months 
to 1 year  

 
 

$000

1 - 5 
years  

 
 

$000

More 
than 5 
years  

 
$000

2012

Financial Assets

Cash assets  - 7,954 7,954  -  -  -  -  - 

restricted cash 
assets

 - 958 958  -  -  -  -  - 

receivables (a)  - 1,763 1,763  -  -  -  -  - 

total  - 10,675 10,675  -  -  -  -  - 

Financial Liabilities

payables  - 3,690 3,690  - 3,690  -  -  - 

total  - 3,690 3,690  - 3,690  -  -  - 

2011

Financial Assets

Cash assets  - 3,738 3,738  -  -  -  -  - 

restricted cash 
assets

 - 1,100 1,100  -  -  -  -  - 

receivables (a)  - 591 591  -  -  -  -  - 

total  - 5,429  5,429  -  -  -  -  - 

Financial Liabilities

payables  - 885 885  - 885  -  -  - 

total  - 885 885  - 885  -  -  - 

(a) the amount of receivables excludes the gst recoverable from the ato (statutory receivable).

the amounts disclosed are the contractual undiscounted cash flows of each class of financial liabilities.

Interest Rate Sensivity Analysis

the Department does not have any items which are subject to interest rate fluctuations. 

Fair Values

all financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are carried at cost or fair 
value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the 
applicable notes.
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33. Remuneration of senior officers

Remuneration

the number of senior officers whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non monetary benefits and other benefits for the 
financial year fall within the following bands are:

$ 2012 2011

70,001 to 80,000 1  -

100,001 to 110,000  - 1

110,001 to 120,000  - 1

120,001 to 130,000 1 1

130,001 to 140,000 2 1

140,001 to 150,000 1  -

170,001 to 180,000  - 3

180,001 to 190,000 1  -

190,001 to 200,000 2  -

200,001 to 210,000 1  -

240,001 to 250,000 1 1

$000 $000

total remuneration of senior officers: 1,653 1,315

the total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect of senior officers.

no senior officers are members of the pension scheme.

34. Remuneration of auditor

remuneration payable to the auditor general in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

2012  
$000

2011 
$000

auditing the accounts, financial statements and 
performance indicators

44 44

total  44 44

the expense is included at note 11 ‘Other expenses’.

35. Affiliated bodies

During the course of the year, the Department provided funding to various government and non-government agencies. of 
the non-government organisations, it may have occurred during the financial year, that some of them would be defined as 
affiliated bodies under the terms of treasurer’s Instruction 951. Due to regulations imposed on grant recipients, financial 
acquittals are by the provision of a financial statement detailing expenditure of that particular grant only. the statement 
provided does not always disclose other income sources, and therefore the Department is not in a position to accurately 
determine which of the grant recipients are classified as an affiliated body.
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36. Supplementary financial information

Write-offs

During the financial year, no asset was written off the Department’s register:

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

the accountable authority  -  - 

the minister  -  - 

executive Council  -  - 

total  -  - 

Losses through theft, defaults and other causes

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

losses of public moneys and, public and other 
property through theft or default

 -  1

amounts recovered  -  - 

total  - 1

Gifts of Public Property
2012  
$000

2011  
$000

gifts of public property provided by the 
Department

 -  - 

total  -  - 
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ABORIGINAL AFFAIRS PLANNING AUtHORItY

CERtIFICAtION OF FINANCIAL StAtEMENtS 

FOR tHE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

the accompanying financial statements of the aboriginal affairs planning authority have been prepared in compliance 
with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial 
transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2012 and the financial position as at 30 June 2012.

at the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial 
statements misleading or inaccurate.

 

Josephine Cabahug Cliff Weeks

Chief Finance Officer Director General

Date: 13 september 2012 Date: 13 september 2012
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ABORIGINAL AFFAIRS PLANNING AUtHORItY

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2012

Note 2012 
$000

2011 
$000

COSt OF SERVICES

Expenses

supplies and services 6  1,911  1,715

Depreciation expense 7  1,031  731

grants and subsidies 8  3,884  340

other expenses 9  13  13

total cost of services   6,839  2,799

Income

revenue

Commonwealth grants and contributions 10  -  1,000

Interest revenue 11  275  322

other revenue 12  574  406

total Revenue   849  1,728

total income other than income from State Government   849  1,728

NEt COSt OF SERVICES   5,990  1,071

Income from state government

resources received free of charge 13  1,610  1,655

total income from State Government   1,610  1,655

SURPLUS /(DEFICIt) FOR tHE PERIOD  (4,380)  584

OtHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 22 (4,443)  9,126

gains/losses recognised directly in equity   -  - 

total other comprehensive income  (4,443)  9,126

tOtAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR tHE PERIOD  (8,823)  9,710

the statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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ABORIGINAL AFFAIRS PLANNING AUtHORItY

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2012

 �

Note 2012 
$000

2011 
$000

ASSEtS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 23  729  663

restricted cash and cash equivalents 14  4,084  6,604

receivables 15  -  83

other current assets 16  54  91

total Current Assets   4,867  7,441

Non-Current Assets

property 17  135,034  143,664

total Non-Current Assets   135,034  143,664

tOtAL ASSEtS   139,901  151,105

LIABILItIES

Current Liabilities

payables 19  1,015  23

provisions 20  2,414  2,414

other Current liabilities 21  -  218

total Current Liabilities   3,429  2,655

tOtAL LIABILItIES   3,429  2,655

NEt ASSEtS   136,472  148,450

EQUItY

Contributed equity 22  -  - 

reserves 22  145,399  149,842

accumulated surplus / (deficit) 22 (8,927) (1,392)

tOtAL EQUItY   136,472  148,450

the statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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ABORIGINAL AFFAIRS PLANNING AUtHORItY 

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2012 

Note 2012  
$000

2011 
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERAtING ACtIVItIES

Payments

supplies and services   691 (54)

grants and subsidies  (3,884) (340)

gst payments on purchases  (235) (40)

gst payments to taxation authority  (4) (209)

other payments  (13) (13)

Receipts

grants & contributions   -  1,000

Interest received   313  309

rent received   -  39

other receipts   440  1,499

gst receipts on sales   1  210

gst receipts from taxation authority   237  328

net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 23 (2,454)  2,729

 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (2,454)  2,729

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period   7,267  4,538

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENtS  
At tHE END OF tHE PERIOD

23  4,813  7,267

the statement of Cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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ABORIGINAL AFFAIRS PLANNING AUtHORItY

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2012

Note Contributed 
equity 

 
$000

Reserves 
 
 

$000

Accumulated 
surplus / 
(deficit) 

$000

total  
equity 

 
$000

Balance at 1 July 2010 22  -  140,716 (406)  140,310

Changes in accounting policy  -  -  -  - 

Correction of prior period errors  -  -  -  - 

Restated balance at 1 July 2010  -  140,716 (406)  140,310

surplus/(deficit)  -  -  584  584

other comprehensive income  -  9,126  -  9,126

total comprehensive income for the period  -  9,126  584  9,710

transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations  -  -  -  - 

other contributions by owners  -  -  -  - 

Distribution to owners - Clear Debit Balance 
Contributed equity

 -  - (1,570) (1,570)

total  -  - (1,570) (1,570)

Balance at 30 June 2011  -  149,842 (1,392)  148,450

Balance at 1 July 2011  -  149,842 (1,392)  148,450

surplus/(deficit)  -  - (4,380) (4,380)

other comprehensive income  - (4,443)  - (4,443)

total comprehensive income for the period  - (4,443) (4,380) (8,823)

transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations  -  -  -  - 

other contributions by owners  -  -  -  - 

Distribution to owners  -  - (3,155) (3,155)

total  -  - (3,155) (3,155)

Balance at 30 June 2012  -  145,399 (8,927)  136,472

the statement of Changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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ABORIGINAL AFFAIRS PLANNING AUtHORItY

Notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2012

1. Australian Accounting Standards

General

the authority’s financial statements for the year ended 
30 June 2012 have been prepared in accordance 
with australian accounting standards. the term 
‘australian accounting standards’ includes standards 
and Interpretations issued by the australian accounting 
standards Boards (aasB).

the authority has adopted any applicable, new and 
revised australian accounting standards from their 
operative dates. 

Early adoption of standards

the authority cannot early adopt an australian accounting 
standard unless specifically permitted by tI 1101 
application of australian accounting standards and other 
pronouncements.  there has been no early adoption of 
australian accounting standards that have been issued 
or amended (but not operative) by the authority for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2012.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) General Statement

the authority is a not-for-profit reporting entity that 
prepares general purpose financial statements in 
accordance with australian accounting standards, the 
framework, statements of accounting Concepts and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the australian 
accounting standards Board as applied by the 
treasurer’s instructions. several of these are modified 
by the treasurer’s instructions to vary application, 
disclosure, format and wording.

the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions 
that govern the preparation of financial statements 
and take precedence over australian accounting 
standards, the framework, statements of accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of 
the australian accounting standards Board.

Where modification is required and has had a material 
or significant financial effect upon the reported results, 
details of that modification and the resulting financial 
effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements.

(b) Basis of Preparation

the financial statements have been prepared on 
the accrual basis of accounting using the historical 
cost convention, except for land, buildings and 
infrastructure which have been measured at fair value.

the accounting policies adopted in the preparation 
of the financial statements have been consistently 
applied throughout all periods presented unless 
otherwise stated.

the financial statements are presented in australian 
dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($’000).

note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in 
applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements 
that have been made in the process of applying 
the authority’s accounting policies resulting in the 
most significant effect on amounts recognised in the 
financial statements.

note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ 
discloses key assumptions made concerning the 
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the end of the reporting period, that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year.

(c) Reporting Entity

the reporting entity comprises the authority and 
bodies included at note 30 ‘Related bodies’.

(d) Contributed Equity

aasB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by owners 
made to Wholly-owned public sector entities requires 
transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other 
than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, to be designated by the government 
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(the owner) as contributions by owners (at the 
time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers 
can be recognised as equity contributions. Capital 
appropriations have been designated as contributions 
by owners by tI 955 Contributions by owners made 
to Wholly owned public sector entities and have been 
credited directly to Contributed equity.

the transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, 
other than as a result of a restructure of administrative 
arrangements, are designated as contributions by 
owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and 
non-reciprocal.

(e) Income

Revenue recognition

revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable. revenue is recognised for the 
major business activities as follows:

Interest

revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Grants, Contributions and Royalties

revenue is recognised at fair value when the authority 
obtains control over the assets comprising the 
contributions, usually when cash is received.

other non-reciprocal contributions that are not 
contributions by owners are recognised at their fair 
value. Contributions of services are only recognised 
when a fair value can be reliably determined and the 
services would be purchased if not donated.

Gains

gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually 
recognised on a net basis. these include gains arising 
on the disposal of non-current assets and some 
revaluations of non-current assets.

(f) Property

Capitalisation / Expensing of assets

Items of property costing $5,000 or more are 
recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets  
is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives.  
Items of property costing less than $5,000 are 
immediately expensed direct to the statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

Initial recognition and measurement

all items of property are initially recognised at cost.
for items of property acquired at no cost or for 
nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of 
acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the 
revaluation model is used for the measurement of land 
and buildings. 

land and buildings are carried at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation (buildings only) and 
accumulated impairment losses. the authority does 
not hold any assets other than land and buildings.

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair 
value of land and buildings is determined on the 
basis of current market buying values determined 
by reference to recent market transactions. When 
buildings are revalued by reference to recent  
market transactions, the accumulated depreciation  
is eliminated against the gross carrying amount  
of the asset and the net amount restated to the 
revalued amount.

Where market-based evidence is not available, the fair 
value of land and buildings is determined on the basis 
of existing use. this normally applies where buildings 
are specialised or where land use is restricted.  
fair value for existing use assets is determined by 
reference to the cost of replacing the remaining 
future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e., 
the depreciated replacement cost. Where the fair 
value of buildings is determined on the depreciated 
replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount 
and the accumulated depreciation are restated 
proportionately. 

Independent valuations of land and buildings are 
provided annually by the Western australian land 
Information authority (Valuation services) and 
recognised annually to ensure that the carrying 
amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair 
value at the end of the reporting period.

the most significant assumptions in estimating 
fair value are made in assessing whether to apply 
the existing use basis to assets and in determining 
estimated useful life. professional judgement by the 
valuer is required where the evidence does not provide 
a clear distinction between market type assets and 
existing use assets.

Refer to note 17 ‘Property’ for further infomation on 
revaluations.
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Derecognition

upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, 
any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is 
retained in the asset revaluation surplus.

Asset revaluation surplus

the asset revaluation surplus is used to record 
increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-
current assets as described in note 17 ‘Property’.

Depreciation

all non-current assets having a limited useful life are 
systematically depreciated over their estimated useful 
lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their 
future economic benefits.

land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets 
is calculated using the straight line method, using 
rates which are reviewed annually.  estimated useful 
lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Buildings: 50 years

(g) Impairment of Assets

property is tested for any indication of impairment at 
the end of each reporting period. Where there is an 
indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is 
estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than 
the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired 
and is written down to the recoverable amount and 
an impairment loss is recognised. as the authority 
is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been 
identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
and depreciated replacement cost.

the risk of impairment is generally limited to 
circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is 
materially understated, where the replacement cost 
is falling or where there is a significant change in 
useful life. each relevant class of assets is reviewed 
annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/ 
amortisation reflects the level of consumption or 
expiration of asset’s future economic benefits and  
to evaluate any impairment risk from falling 
replacement costs.

the recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus 
assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and 
the present value of future cash flows expected to be 
derived from the asset. surplus assets carried at fair 
value have no risk of material impairment where fair 
value is determined by reference to market-based 
evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference 
to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are 
at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount 
is measured. surplus assets at cost are tested for 
indications of impairment at the end of each  
reporting period.

Refer to note 18 ‘Impairment of assets’ for outcome of 
impairment reviews and testing.

(h) Financial Instruments

In addition to cash, the authority has two categories of 
financial instrument:

 � loans and receivables, and

 � financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

financial instruments have been disaggregated into 
the following classes:

 � financial assets

- Cash and cash equivalents

- restricted cash and cash equivalents

- receivables

 � financial liabilities

- payables

Initial recognition and measurement of financial 
instruments is at fair value which normally equates 
to the transaction cost or the face value. subsequent 
measurement is at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

the fair value of short-term receivables and payables 
is the transaction cost or the face value because 
there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent 
measurement is not required as the effect of 
discounting is not material.
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(i) Cash and Cash Equivalents

for the purpose of the statement of Cash flows, cash 
and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash 
equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand and short-
term deposits with original maturities of three months 
or less that are readily convertible to a known amount 
of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

(j) Receivables

receivables are recognised and carried at original 
invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible 
amounts (i.e., impairment). the collectability of 
receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any 
receivables identified as uncollectible are written off 
against the allowance account. the allowance for 
uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when 
there is objective evidence that the authority will not 
be able to collect the debts. the carrying amount 
is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement 
within 30 days. 

(k) Payables

payables are recognised at the amounts payable 
when the authority becomes obliged to make future 
payments as a result of a purchase of assets or 
services. the carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value, as they are generally settled within 30 days.

(l) Provisions

provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount 
and are recognised where there is a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and 
when the outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. provisions are 
reviewed at the end of each reporting period. 

Restoration Costs

a provision is recognised where the authority has 
a legal or constructive obligation to undertake 
restoration work. estimates are based on the present 
value of expected future cash outflows.

the authority has a liability under the Contaminated 
Sites Act 2003 to rehabilitate affected parcels of land.  
Where contaminated sites have been identified and 
clasified as ‘contaminated - remediation required’ 
or it is probable that the site will be classified as 
‘contaminated - remediation’ required and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the cost of remediation of 
the site, a provision has been made. 

See note 20, ‘Provisions’.

(m)  Resources Received Free of Charge or for 
Nominal Cost

resources received free of charge or for nominal 
cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as 
income and as assets or expenses as appropriate, at 
fair value.

Where assets or services are received from another 
state government agency, these are separately 
disclosed under Income from state government in the 
statement of Comprehensive Income.

(n)  Support from Department of Indigenous 
Affairs

Decision making authority in respect of the aboriginal 
land estate effectively resides with the aboriginal 
lands trust (alt), a body established under the 
auspices of the Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority 
Act 1972.

When the aboriginal affairs Department (aaD) - now 
titled the Department of Indigenous affairs (DIa) - 
was established on 1 november 1994, it effectively 
took over the operations of its originating agencies, 
including the aboriginal affairs planning authority 
(aapa). staff previously employed by the aapa at that 
time were transferred to the aaD. as a consequence, 
administrative support for the aapa and the alt 
is provided by staff employed by the DIa. these 
expenses were brought to account as supplies and 
services and as resources received free of Charge.   
see note 6 ‘supplies and services’ and note 13 
‘Income from state government’.

(o) Comparative Figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, 
reclassified to be comparable with the figures 
presented in the current financial year.
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3. Judgements made by management in 
applying accounting policies

the preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make judgements about the application 
of accounting policies that have a significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements. the 
authority evaluates these judgements regularly.

Contaminated Sites

the provision toward restoration costs of contaminated 
sites are treated as current liabilities as the authority has 
reported these to the Department of environment and 
Conservation in accordance with the Contaminated Sites 
Act 2003 and has applied to the Contaminated sites 
management account (Csms) for funding to complete 
restoration works. If funds are provided, restoration  
works can be completed within 12 months from  
balance sheet date. see note 20 ‘provisions’ and  
note 24 ‘Contingent liabilities’.

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

the authority makes key estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. these estimates and assumptions 
are based on historical experience and various other 
factors that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

Contaminated Sites

the amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate 
of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation 
at reporting date. as the authority cannot reliably estimate 
the timing of future cash flows, the provision is based on 
current costs that are reviewed annually.
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5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

the authority has applied the following australian accounting standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on 
or after 1 July 2011 that impacted on the authority.

aasB 1054  Australian Additional Disclosures
this standard, in conjunction with aasB 2011-1 amendments to australian accounting standards 
arising from the trans-tasman Convergence project, removes disclosure requirements from other 
standards and incorporates them in a single standard to achieve convergence between australian 
and new Zealand accounting standards. there is no financial impact.

aasB 2009-12  amendments to australian accounting standards [aasB 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 
1023 & 1031 and Int 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052].

this standard makes editorial amendments to a range of australian accounting standards and 
Interpretations. there is no financial impact.

aasB 2010-4  further amendments to australian accounting standards arising from the annual Improvements 
project [aasB 1, 7, 101 & 134 and Int 13].

the amendments to aasB 7 clarify financial instrument disclosures in relation to credit risk. the 
carrying amount of financial assets that would otherwise be past due or impaired whose terms have 
been renegotiated is no longer required to be disclosed. there is no financial impact. 
the amendments to aasB 101 clarify the presentation of the statement of changes in equity. the 
disaggregation of other comprehensive income reconciling the carrying amount at the beginning and 
the end of the period for each component of equity is no longer required. there is no financial impact.

aasB 2010-5  amendments to australian accounting standards [aasB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 119, 121, 
132, 133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and Int 112, 115, 127, 132 & 1042].

this standard makes editorial amendments to a range of australian accounting standards and 
Interpretations. there is no financial impact.

aasB 2010-6  amendments to australian accounting standards – Disclosures on transfers of financial assets 
[aasB 1 & 7].

this standard introduces additional disclosure relating to transfers of financial assets in aasB 7. 
an entity shall disclose all transferred financial assets that are not derecognised and any continuing 
involvement in a transferred asset, existing at the reporting date, irrespective of when the related 
transfer transaction occurred. there is no financial impact.

aasB 2011-1  amendments to australian accounting standards arising from the trans-tasman Convergence 
project [aasB 1, 5, 101, 107, 108, 121, 128, 132 & 134 and Int 2, 112 & 113].

this standard, in conjunction with aasB 1054, removes disclosure requirements from other 
standards and incorporates them in a single standard to achieve convergence between australian 
and new Zealand accounting standards. there is no financial impact.

aasB 2011-5  amendments to australian accounting standards – extending relief from Consolidation, the equity 
method and proportionate Consolidation [aasB 127, 128 & 131].

this standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity method and proportionate 
consolidation by removing the requirement for the consolidated financial statements prepared by 
the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity to be Ifrs compliant, provided that the parent entity, 
investor or venturer and the ultimate or intermediate parent entity are not-for-profit non-reporting 
entities that comply with australian accounting standards. there is no financial impact.
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

the authority cannot early adopt an australian accounting standard unless specifically permitted by tI 1101 application 
of australian accounting standards and other pronouncements. Consequently, the authority has not applied early any 
following australian accounting standards that have been issued that may impact the authority. Where applicable, the 
authority plans to apply these australian accounting standards from their application date.

title Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

aasB 9 Financial Instruments 
this standard supersedes aasB 139 financial Instruments: recognition and 
measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

the standard was reissued in December 2010. the authority has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the standard.

01 January 2013

aasB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 
this standard supersedes requirements under aasB 127 Consolidated and 
separate financial statements and Int 112 Consolidation – special purpose 
entities, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

the standard was issued in august 2011. the authority has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the standard.

01 January 2013

aasB 11 Joint Arrangements

this standard supersedes aasB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments.

the standard was issued in august 2011. the authority has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the standard.

01 January 2013

aasB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

this standard supersedes disclosure requirements under aasB 127 Consolidated 
and separate financial statements and aasB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures.

the standard was issued in august 2011. the authority has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the standard.

01 January 2013

aasB 13 Fair Value Measurement

this standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring fair value 
and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. there is no financial 
impact.

01 January 2013

aasB 119 Employee Benefits

this standard is not applicable to aapa as the authority does not have any 
employees.

this standard supersedes aasB 119 employee Benefits, introducing a number of 
changes to accounting treatments.

the standard was issued in september 2011. the authority has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the standard.

01 January 2013
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title Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

aasB 127 Separate Financial Statements

this standard supersedes requirements under aasB 127 Consolidated and 
separate financial statements, introducing a number of changes to accounting 
treatments.

the standard was issued in august 2011. the authority has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the standard.

01 January 2013

aasB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

this standard supersedes aasB 128 Investments in associates, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments.

the standard was issued in august 2011. the authority has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the standard.

01 January 2013

aasB 1053 Application of tiers of Australian Accounting Standards

this standard establishes a differential financial reporting framework consisting 
of two tiers of reporting requirements for preparing general purpose financial 
statements. there is no financial impact.

01 July 2013

aasB 2009-11 amendments to australian accounting standards arising from aasB 9 [aasB  1, 
3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 
& 1038 and Int  10 & 12] [modified by aasB 2010-7].

01 July 2013

aasB 2010-2 amendments to australian accounting standards arising from reduced 
Disclosure requirements [aasB  1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 
112, 116, 117, 119, 121, 123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 
140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Int  2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 & 1052].

this standard makes amendments to australian accounting standards and 
Interpretations to introduce reduced disclosure requirements for certain types of 
entities. there is no financial impact.

01 July 2013

aasB 2010-7 amendments to australian accounting standards arising from aasB 9 (December 
2010) [aasB  1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 
132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int  2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127].

this standard makes consequential amendments to other australian accounting 
standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing aasB 9 in December 2010. 
the authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the 
standard.

01 January 2013

aasB 2011-2 amendments to australian accounting standards arising from the trans-tasman 
Convergence project – reduced Disclosure requirements [aasB 101 & 1054].

this standard removes disclosure requirements from other standards and 
incorporates them in a single standard to achieve convergence between 
australian and new Zealand accounting standards for reduced disclosure 
reporting. there is no financial impact.

01 July 2013
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title Operative for 
reporting periods 
beginning on/after

aasB 2011-6 amendments to australian accounting standards – extending relief from 
Consolidation, the equity method and proportionate Consolidation – reduced 
Disclosure requirements [aasB 127, 128 & 131].

this standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity method and 
proportionate consolidation by removing the requirement for the consolidated 
financial statements prepared by the ultimate or any intermediate parent entity 
to be Ifrs compliant, provided that the parent entity, investor or venturer and 
the ultimate or intermediate parent entity comply with australian accounting 
standards or australian accounting standards – reduced Disclosure 
requirements. there is no financial impact.

01 July 2013

aasB 2011-7 amendments to australian accounting standards arising from the Consolidation 
and Joint arrangements standards [aasB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 101, 107, 
112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 
17].

this standard gives effect to consequential changes arising from the issuance 
of aasB 10, aasB 11, aasB 127 separate financial statements and aasB 128 
Investments in associates and Joint Ventures. the authority has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the standard.

01 January 2013

aasB 2011-8 amendments to australian accounting standards arising from aasB 13 [aasB 1, 
2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 
120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 
1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132].

this standard replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in other 
australian accounting standards and Interpretations as the result of issuing 
aasB 13 in september 2011. there is no financial impact.

01 January 2013

aasB 2011-9 amendments to australian accounting standards – presentation of Items of other 
Comprehensive Income [aasB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 
& 1049].

this standard requires to group items presented in other comprehensive 
income on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss 
subsequently (reclassification adjustments). the authority has not yet determined 
the application or the potential impact of the standard.

01 July 2012

aasB 2011-10 amendments to australian accounting standards arising from aasB 119 
(september 2011) [aasB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 & 2011-8 and Int 14].

this standard makes amendments to other australian accounting standards 
and Interpretations as a result of issuing aasB 119 employee Benefits in 
september 2011. the authority has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the standard.

01 January 2013

aasB 2011-11 amendments to aasB 119 (september 2011) arising from reduced Disclosure 
requirements.

this standard gives effect to australian accounting standards – reduced 
Disclosure requirements for aasB 119 (september 2011).  there is no financial 
impact.

01 January 2013
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Changes in Accounting Estimates

there were no changes in accounting estimates that have an effect in the current period or are expected in the future.

6. Supplies and services

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

electricity and water

services and contracts 1  -

- support from Department of Indigenous affairs (a) (b) 1,129 1,231

- support from landgate (a) 481 424

- other services and contracts 300 60

travel  -  - 

administration  -  - 

total 1,911 1,715

(a) See also note 2(m) Resources received free of charge’ and note 13 ‘Income from State Government’.

(b) See also note 2(n) ‘Support from Department of Indigenous Affairs’.

7. Depreciation expense

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Buildings 1,031 731

total 1,031 731

8. Grants and subsidies

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

grants to organisations from

Recurrent Funds

- general funds  -  - 

- mining rents & royalties funds  - 320

- intestate funds  17 20

Capital Funds

Commonwealth funding

- multifunctional police facilities (a) 3,003  - 

- strategic Intervention package (a) 864  - 

total 3,884 340

(a) See note 14 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’ for more detail.
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Details of significant grants (above $40,000) paid are as follows.  
(Details of Intestate grants are not provided as each is limited to a maximum of $500).

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Mining Rents & Royalties

goldfields land & sea Council - maku stadium  - 170

south West aboriginal land & sea Council - management plan 
mogumber

 - 150

Multifunctional Police facilities

police service -  Develop police facilities at 4 remote locations 3,000  - 

strategic Intervention package  -

Department of Housing - refer to note 14(c) 864  - 

total  3,864 320

9. Other expenses

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Doubtful debts  -  - 

Bad debts  -  - 

Building maintenance  -  - 

restoration cost of contaminated sites  -  - 

other expenses (a) 13 13

total 13 13

(a) audit fees, see also note 29, ‘Remuneration of auditor’.

10. Commonwealth grants and contributions

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

multifunctional police facilities  - 1,000

total  - 1,000

11. Interest revenue

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Interest revenue 275 322

total 275 322
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12. Other revenue

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

rent  - 39

Intestate receipts 6 4

royalties received  323 315

other 245 48

total 574 406

13. Income from State Government

resources received free of Charge (a)

Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by the relevant agencies.

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

-   Department of Indigenous affairs (b) 1,129 1,231

-   landgate (land information and valuation) (c) 481 424

total 1,610 1,655

(a)  Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal cost, the authority recognises revenues 
equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably measured and which 
would have been purchased if they were not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised as assets or expenses, 
as applicable. Where the contribution of assets or services are in the nature of contributions by owners, the authority 
makes an adjustment direct to equity.

(b)  see also note 2(n) ‘support from Department of Indigenous affairs’.

(c)  the aboriginal affairs planning authority manages land and building assets totalling $131,795,000. landgate provide land 
information services for maps and aerial photography, land information enterprises and sale of digital data free of charge.
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14. Restricted cash and cash equivalents

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Current

mining rents and royalties (a) 1,371 907

Community facilities (b) 224 193

strategic Intervention package (c) 440 1,470

multilateral police facilities (d) 1,579 3,571

special purpose grants (e) 404 388

Intestate account (f) 63 72

Cl Johnson Bequest (g)  2 2

H Drake-Brockman (h) 1 1

total  4,084 6,604

Cash in these accounts is only used for:

(a) Mining rents and royalties

Improvements to land held by the authority, on which mining activity takes place.

(b) Community facilities

the provision of facilities, such as swimming pools, in certain regional communities.

(c) WA Strategic Intervention package

the strategic Intervention package is Commonwealth funding provided specifically for the following nine projects:

1  Kalumburu strategic Intervetion package  
- project being completed by the Department of Housing.

2  Halls Creek support project - Boys town and east Kimberley housing  
- project being completed by the Department of Housing.

3  Halls Creek treatment facility - ngnowar aerwah seven mile rehabilitation service  
- project being completed by the Drug and alcohol office of the Health Department.

4  Wiluna educational and Vocational training Complex  
- project being completed by the Department of education and training.

5  pilbara transition to work accommodation facilities  
- project being completed by the Department of Industry and resources.

6  mainstreaming east Kimberley town Based Communities  
- project being completed by Department of Housing.

7  urgent water quality upgrades  
- project being completed by the Department of Housing.

8  Home ownership to create wealth  
- project being completed by the Department of Housing.

9  Bidyadanga strategic Intervention  
- project being completed by the Department of Housing.
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(d) Multifunctional police facilities

Develop police facilities at four remote communities - Burringurrah, looma, Wingellina and Bidyadanga.

(e) Special Purpose Grants

funds received from outside organisations for defined projects.

(f) Intestate Account

funds received from the public trustee for intestate estates.

(g) CL Johnson Bequest

assisting aboriginal missionaries in Western australia (see also note 31 ‘Special purpose accounts’).

(h) H Drake-Brockman

awarding a prize each year to the highest achieving Indigenous student (see note 31 ‘Special purpose accounts’).

15. Receivables

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Current

receivables  -  83

total  - 83

the authority does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to receivables.

See also note 2(j) ‘Receivables’ and note 27 ‘Financial instruments’.

16. Other current assets

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

accrued interest 54 91

total 54 91
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17. Property

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Land at fair value (a)

freehold land (b) 23,198 24,600

reserves (c) 57,649 62,911

pastoral leases (d) 3,995 4,320

other leases (e) 263 263

total 85,105 92,094

Buildings at fair value (a) 54,257 55,084

accumulated depreciation of buildings (4,328) (3,514)

total 49,929 51,570

total Property 135,034 143,664

(a)  land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2011 by the Western australian land Information Department (Valuation 
services). the valuations were performed during the year ended 30 June 2012 and recognised at 30 June 2012. In 
undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market values for land: $85,105,000 and buildings: 
$49,929,000. for the remaining balance, fair value of land and buildings was determined on the basis of depreciated 
replacement cost. See note 2(f) ‘Property’.

(b)  freehold land is land that is alienated (removed) from the Crown estate and granted to an entity. this may be an individual or 
an organisation (government or non-government).

(c)  reserve land is Crown land set aside for public purposes: for example, hospitals, schools, conserving plants and animals, 
national parks, recreation, and for the use of aboriginal people. state reserves are created under the Land Administration Act.

(d)  pastoral leases are Crown land set aside for grazing stock and all purposes connected with that.

(e)  other leases are Crown land designated as general or state leases issued for a particular purpose. for the aboriginal affairs 
planning authority, a general lease may be for the purpose of the use and benefit of aboriginal people.
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reconciliation of the carrying amounts of property at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the  
table below.

Freehold 
Land 
$000

Reserves 
 

$000

Pastoral 
Leases 

$000

Other 
Leases 

$000

Buildings  
 

$000

 total  
 

$000

2012

Carrying amount at start of year 24,600 62,911 4,320 263 51,569 143,663

additions  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disposals  - (3,100)  -  - (55) (3,155)

revaluation increments/(decrements) (1,402) (2,162) (325)  - (797) (4,686)

Depreciation  -  -  -  - (788) (788)

Carrying amount at end of year  23,198  57,649  3,995  263  49,929  135,034

2011

Carrying amount at start of year  20,113  71,492  4,320  4,348  36,567  136,840

additions  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Disposals   -  (1,436)   -    -  (134) (1,570)

revaluation increments/(decrements)  4,487 (7,145)   -  (4,085) 15,577 8,834

Depreciation   -    -    -    -  (441) (441)

Carrying amount at end of year  24,600  62,911  4,320  263 51,569 143,663

18. Impairment of assets

there were no indications of impairment to property at 30 June 2012.

the authority held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period and at balance 
sheet date there were no intangible assets not yet available for use.

19. Payables

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Current

trade payables 1,015 22

accrued expenses  -  - 

goods and services tax (gst) payable  - 1

total 1,015  23

See also note 2(k) ‘Payables’ and note 27 ‘Financial instruments’.
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20. Provisions

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Current

Contaminated sites (a)  2,414 2,414

total 2,414 2,414

(a)  this provision represents liabilities associated with restoration of contaminated land under the Contaminated Sites Act 
2003. See note 2(l) ‘Provisions’, note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies and note 4 
‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’.

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Movement in provisions

Carrying amount at start of year 2,414 2,414

previous provisions reversed  -  - 

additional provisions recognised  -  - 

payments/other sacrifices of economic 
benefit

 -  - 

unwinding of discount  -  - 

Carrying amount at end of year 2,414 2,414

21. Other liabilities

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Current

Income received in advance  - 218

total  - 218
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22. Equity

equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the authority. the government holds the equity interest in the 
authority on behalf of the community. the asset revaluation reserve represents that portion of equity resulting from the 
revaluation of non-current assets.

Contributed equity

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Balance at start of period  -  - 

Contributions by owners

transfer of net assets from other 
agencies **

 -  - 

Distributions to owners

net assets transferred to government 
***

 -  - 

Balance at end of period  -  - 

transfers of land - no charge. See note 2(d) ‘Contributed Equity’.

Reserves

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Asset Revaluation Surplus

Balance at start of year 149,842 140,716

net revaluation (decrements)/increments:

land (3,889) (6,743)

Buildings (554) 15,869

Balance at end of year 145,399 149,842

Accumulated surplus / (deficit)

Balance at start of year (1,392) (406)

Changes in accounting policy  -  - 

Correction of prior period errors  -  - 

restated balance at start of year (1,392) (406)

Distribution to owners (3,155) (1,570)

result for the period (4,380)  584

Balance at end of year (8,927) (1,392)

**  under treasurers Instruction 955, (non-descretionary non-reciprocal) transfers of net assets between state government 
agencies have been designated as contributions by owners in accordance with aasB Interpretation 1038, where the 
transferee agency accounts for a non-discretionary (non-reciprocal) transfer of net assets as a contribution by owners 
and the transferor agency accounts for the transfer as a distribution to owners.

***  treasurers Instruction 955 requires non-reciprocal transfers of net assets to government to be accounted for as 
distributions to owners in accordance with aasB Interpretation 1038.
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23. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the statement of Cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
statement of financial position as follows :

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Cash and cash equivalents 729 663

restricted cash and cash equivalents 
(see note 14)

4,084 6,604

4,813 7,267

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Net cost of services (5,990) (1,071)

non-cash items:

Depreciation expense 1,031 731

Doubtful debts expense  -   -  

resources received free of charge 1,610 1,655

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

Current receivables (a) 83 897

other current assets 37 (13)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

Current payables (a) 993 22

provisions  -   -  

other current liabilities (218) 218

net gst receipts/(payments) (b) (1) 289

Change in gst receivables/payables (c) 1 1

Net cash used in operating activities (2,454) 2,729

(a)  note that the australian taxation office (ato) receivable/payable in respect of gst and the receivable/payable in respect of 
the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.

(b) this is the net gst paid/received, i.e., cash transactions.

(c) this reverses out the gst in receivables and payables.
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24. Contingent liabilities

In addition to the liabilities included in the financial 
statements, the authority has the following  
contingent liabilities:

Contaminated Sites

under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the authority is 
required to report known and suspected contaminated 
sites to the Department of environment and Conservation 
(DeC). In accordance with the act, DeC classifies these 
sites on the basis of the risk to human health, the 
environment and environmental values. Where sites 
are classified as contaminated - remediation required 
or possibly contaminated - investigation required, the 
authority may have a liability in respect of investigation or 
remediation expenses.

“In addition to the contaminated sites reported at Note 
20 ‘Provisions’, during the year the authority reviewed 
all sites and determined that their status remained 
unchanged from the previous year. these sites will 
remain as a contingent liability until such time as funding 
is identified to complete preliminary site Investigations, 
classifications determined and it is practicable to estimate 
the potential financial effect or to identify the uncertainties 
relating to the amount or timing of any outflows. While 
there is no possibility of reimbursement of any future 
expenses that may be incurred in the remediation of 
these sites, the authority may apply for funding from the 
Contaminated sites management account to undertake 
further investigative work or to meet remediation costs 
that may be required.”

Insurance

the authority currently has an insurance policy through 
riskcover for some of the buildings on alt held land, but 
it does not include all infrastructure. the value covered 
by insurance in 2012 was approximately $36 million. 
Buildings and infrastructure have been estimated to be 
worth substantially more than this amount. this includes 
assets that have been provided by parties other than 
state government. Whilst the alt does not have legal 
responsibility, if the assets remain uninsured and are 
damaged, the alt does not have the capacity or funding 
to repair or replace these assets. 

legal advice is that the authority is not obliged to  
provide insurance cover for fixed assets on alt land.  
once the government has made a policy decision on 
insuring buildings within Indigenous communities, the 
alt policy would then need to be reviewed and based 
on providing coverage for those assets for which it has 
exclusive possession and those for which there are 
external convenants. 

25. Events occurring after the end of the 
reporting period

there have been no material events occurring after 
30 June 2012.
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26. Explanatory statement

significant variations between actual results with the corresponding items of the preceding year are detailed below. 
significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10 per cent or $100,000. 

Significant variances between estimated and actual result for the financial year

2012  
Estimate  

$000

2012  
Actual  

$000

 
Variance  

$000

Income

Commonwealth grants and 
contributions

 -  -  - 

other revenue 586 849  263

Expenses

supplies and services 2,207 1,911 (296)

Depreciation expense 635 1,031 396

grants and subsidies 400 3,884 3,484

other expenses 80 13 (67)

Income from State Government

resources received free of 
charge

2,180 1,610 (570)

Other revenue

Variance reflects an increase in royalties for mining on aboriginal land.

Supplies and Services

Variance reflects a decrease in resources received free of charge from the Department of Indigenous affairs.

Depreciation expense

Variance reflects increase in value of buildings.

Grants and subsidies

Variance reflects increase in grants approved by the aboriginal lands trust.

Other expenses

Variance reflects a reduction of building maintenance.

Resources received free of charge

Variance reflects a decrease in resources received free of charge from the Department of Indigenous affairs.
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Significant variances between actual and prior year actual

2012 
$000

2011 
$000

Variance 
$000

Income

Commonwealth grants and 
contributions

 - 1,000 (1,000)

Interest revenue 275 322 (47)

other revenue 574 406  168

Expenses

supplies and services 1,911 1,715  196

Depreciation expense 1,031 731  300

grants and subsidies 3,884 340  3,544

other expenses 13 13  - 

Income from State Government

resources received free of 
charge

1,610 1,655 (45)

Commonwealth grants and contributions

Decrease reflects the winding down of the multifunctional police facilities grant.

Supplies and services

Increase in support provided by the Department of Indigenous affairs.

Grants and subsidies

Increase in planned cashflow for both the multifunctional police facilities and the strategic intervention package 
Commonwealth grants.

Resources received free of charge

Decrease reflects reduction in financial support provided by the Department of Indigenous affairs.
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27. Financial Instruments

(a)  Financial Risk Management Objectives  
and Policies

financial instruments held by the authority are cash 
and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash 
equivalents, receivables and payables. the authority 
has limited exposure to financial risks. the authority’s 
overall risk management program focuses on 
managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the 
authority’s receivables defaulting on their contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to the authority. 

the maximum exposure to credit risk at end of 
reporting period in relation to each class of recognised 
financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those 
assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment as 
shown in the table below.

Credit risk associated with the authority’s financial 
assets is minimal. for receivables, the authority trades 
only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. the 
authority has policies in place to ensure that it trades 
with organisations with an appropriate credit history. 
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on 
an ongoing basis with the result that the authority’s 
exposure to bad debts is minimal.

provision for impairment of financial assets is 
calculated based on past experience and current and 
expected changes in client credit ratings.  
Refer note 15 ‘Receivables’.

Liquidity Risk

the authority is exposed to liquidity risk through its 
trading in the normal course of business. liquidity 
risk arises when the authority is unable to meet its 
financial obligations as they fall due.

the authority has appropriate procedures to manage 
cash flows. the authority receives funding from 
activities on its land and for specific purposes from 
external organisations and manages forecasts to 
ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its 
commitments.

Market Risk

the authority does not trade in foreign currency and 
is not materially exposed to other price risks. the 
authority does not borrow money to fund any of its 
operations. other than as detailed in the interest rate 
sensitivity analysis table below the authority is not 
exposed to interest rate risk. all funds held by the 
authority are in interest bearing accounts.
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(b) Categories of Financial Instruments

the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the 
reporting period are as follows:

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 729 663

restricted cash and cash equivalents 4,084 6,604

loans and receivables (a) 54 174

Financial Liabilities

financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost

1,015 23

(a) the amount of loans and receivables excludes gst recoverable from the ato (statutory receivable).

Credit Risk 

the following table discloses the authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing analysis of financial assets.  
the authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of the financial 
assets as shown below. the table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and 
impaired financial assets. the table is based on information provided to senior management of the authority.

the authority does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement relating to the financial assets it holds.
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Aged analysis of financial assets

past due but not impaired

Carrying 
Amount  

 
 

%

Not past 
due 

and not 
impaired 

$000

Up to 1 
month 

 
 

$000

1 - 3 
months 

 
 

$000

3 months 
to 1 year 

 
 

$000

 1 - 5 
years  

 
 

$000

 More 
than 5 
years  

 
$000

 Impaired 
financial 

assets  
 

$000

Financial Assets

2012

Cash assets 729 729  -  -  -  -  -  - 

restricted cash 
assets

 4,084  4,084  -  -  -  -  -  - 

receivables (a)  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

accrued interest  54  54  -  -  -  -  -  - 

total  4,867  4,867  -  -  -  -  -  - 

2011

Cash assets  663  663  -  -  -  -  -  - 

restricted cash 
assets

 6,604  6,604  -  -  -  -  -  - 

receivables (a) 83 83  -  -  -  -  -  - 

accrued interest  91  91  -  -  -  -  -  - 

total  7,441  7,441  -  -  -  -  -  - 

(a) the amount of receivables excludes the gst recoverable from the ato (statutory receivable).

Liquidity Risk and interest rate exposure

the following table details the authority’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial 
assets and financial liabilities. the maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows. the interest rate 
exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.
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Interest rate exposures and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure maturity date

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest 

rate 
%

Carrying 
Amount 

 
 
 

$000

Variable 
interest 

rate  
 
 

$000

Non-
interest 
bearing 

 
 

$000

Adjust-
ment for 

discount-
ing 

 
$000

total 
nominal 
amount 

 
 

$000

Up to 1 
month 

 
 
 

$000

1 - 3 
months 

 
 
 

$000

3 months 
to 1 year 

 
 
 

$000

1 - 5 
years 

 
 
 

$000 

 More 
than 5 
years 

 
 

$000

2012

Financial Assets

Cash assets 4.7 729 729 - - - - - - - -

restricted cash 
assets

4.7 4,084 4,084 - - - - - - - -

receivables (a) - - - - - - - - - - -

accrued interest - 54 - 54 - 54 - - - - -

total  4,867  4,813 54  -  54  -  -  -  -  - 

Financial Liabilities

payables -  1,015  -  1,015  -  1,015 - - - - -

total  -  1,015  -  1,015  -  1,015  -  -  -  -  - 

2011

Financial Assets

Cash assets 4.6 663 663  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -

restricted cash 
assets

4.6 6,604 6,604  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -

receivables (a) - 83  - 83  - 83  -  -  -  -  -

accrued interest - 91  - 91  - 91  -  -  -  -  -

total  -  7,441  7,267  174  -  174  -  -  -  -  - 

Financial Liabilities

payables -  22  -  22  -  22  -  -  22  -  - 

total  -  22  -  22  -  22  -  -  22  -  - 

(a) the amount of receivables excludes the gst recoverable from the ato (statutory receivable).

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

the following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the authority’s financial assets and liabilities 
at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1 per cent change in interest rates. It is 
assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.
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-100 basis points +100 basis points 

Carrying 
amount 

$000

 
Profit  
$000

 
Equity 
$000

 
Profit  
$000

 
Equity 
$000

2012

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 729 (7) (7)  7  7

restricted Cash and cash 
equivalents

4,084 (41) (41) 41  41

total Increase/(Decrease) (48) (48)  48 48

2011

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 663 (7) (7) 7  7

restricted Cash and cash 
equivalents

6,604 (66) (66) 66  66

total Increase/(Decrease)  73 73 (73) (73)

Fair values

all financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are carried at cost or fair 
value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the 
applicable notes.

28. Remuneration of senior officers

there are no senior staff employed by the aboriginal affairs planning authority (aapa). the aapa does not employ any staff.  
the Department of Indigenous affairs (DIa) manages the aapa and the remuneration of senior staff is reported in the DIa 
statements. See also note 2(n) ‘Support from Department of indigenous Affairs’.

29. Remuneration of the auditor

remuneration payable to the auditor general in respect to the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

auditing the accounts, financial 
statements and performance indicators

13 13

The expense is included at note 9 ‘Other expenses’.

30. Related body

the aboriginal lands trust (alt) was deemed a related body by the treasurer by virtue of section 3(b) of the FMA 2006. the 
revenue, expenditures, assets and liabilities of the alt have been included within the financial statements of the authority.
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31. Special Purpose Accounts

special purpose account section 16(1)(c) fma.

C L Johnson Bequest trust Account 

the purpose of this trust account is to hold funds for the benefit of aboriginal missionaries in Western australia during 
illness in accordance with the bequest of the late Christian larsen Johnson to the Department of native Welfare  
(now abolished).

2012 
$000

2011  
$000

Balance at start of period 2 2

receipts  -  - 

payments  -  - 

Balance at end of period  2 2

Henrietta Drake-Brockman trust Account

the purpose of this trust account is to hold funds to award a prize in the form of books, apparatus, equipment, etc., to the 
aboriginal student who achieves the highest tertiary entrance examination (tee) aggregate results in Western australia in 
accordance with the bequest of the late Henrietta Drake-Brockman.

2012 
$000

2011 
$000

Balance at start of period 1 1

receipts  -  - 

payments  -  - 

Balance at end of period 1 1

Intestate trust Account

the purpose of this trust account is to hold funds received from the public trustee two years after the death of an aboriginal 
person who dies intestate. these funds are used for the betterment of aboriginal people.

2012 
$000

2011 
$000

Balance at start of period 72 83

receipts 8 8

payments (19) (19)

Balance at end of period 61 72

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

F I N A N C I A L  S t A t E M E N t S
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32. Supplementary financial information

Write-Offs
2012 
$000

2011 
$000

Bad debts written off under the authority of the accountable 
authority

 -  - 

Losses through theft, Defaults and Other Causes

2012  
$000

2011  
$000

losses of public moneys and, public and other property 
through theft or default

 -  - 

amounts recovered  -  - 

total  -  - 

Gifts of Public Property
2012  
$000

2011  
$000

gifts of public property provided by the authority  -  - 

total  -  - 

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

F I N A N C I A L  S t A t E M E N t S

FIN
A

N
C

IA
L S

TATEM
EN

TS



126

k
EY P

ER
FO

R
M

A
N

C
E IN

D
IC

ATO
R

S

Department of Indigenous Affairs

Certification of Key Performance Indicators

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting 
users to assess the Department of Indigenous affairs’ performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Department 
of Indigenous affairs for the year ending 30 June 2012.

Cliff Weeks 
Director General 
Date: 13 september 2012

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

K E Y  P E R F O R M A N C E  I N D I C A t O R S
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D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

K E Y  P E R F O R M A N C E  I N D I C A t O R S

the desired Indigenous affairs outcome for government 
in 2011-12 was to improve the social, cultural and 
economic outcomes for aboriginal people.

the Department provided two main services to  
achieve this:

1.  partnerships with key stakeholders; and

2.  Information and advice on Indigenous matters.

Effectiveness Indicators

the Department’s effectiveness in achieving its outcome 
was measured in the context of its partnering initiatives 
and its provision of information and advice.

the role of the Department is to ensure that the relevant 
parts of the broad public sector are working in concert 
to meet the needs of Indigenous people by acting as 
a catalyst to mobilise and integrate the resources of 
Commonwealth, state and local government agencies.

the Department works with aboriginal and torres 
strait Islander people, local, state and Commonwealth 
government agencies to progress sustainable 
improvement in social, cultural and economic outcomes 
for aboriginal people. this is achieved through: 

 � Working in partnership with key stakeholders to 
undertake initiatives that provide agreed outcomes for 
aboriginal communities. for example, reconciliation 
action plans help organisations advance reconciliation, 
and Wa is the lead jurisdiction in the nation for the 
number of endorsed plans.

 � providing information and advice on aboriginal 
policy, resource developments, land management 
and social issues (among others) to government, 
aboriginal people, industry, and other key stakeholders. 
for example, the Department provides advice to 
government through statutory boards and committees 
such as the Western australia aboriginal  
advisory Committee.

the effectiveness indicators reported focus on the sphere 
of influence of the Department, in particular their efficacy 
in their role of assisting other agencies to deliver improved 
social, cultural and economic outcomes for Indigenous 
people. these indicators measure the extent to which the 
Department has achieved its desired outcomes.

the Department commissioned an independent research 
consultancy to evaluate its performance against its 
effectiveness indicators through a survey of key partners. 

a telephone survey was conducted between July and 
august 2012, using the same survey questions as was 
used in previous years. a total of 148 responses were 
received from a database of 217 partners, resulting in  
a 68.2 per cent response rate. the survey achieved  
the required sampling accuracy at a confidence level  
of 95 per cent. this ensured that the results were 
representative and reliable.
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The extent to which parties in a sample of partnering arrangements 
indicate they have been assisted to achieve agreed outcomes, 

which contribute to Government objectives
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and or advice assisted their decision-making
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D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

K E Y  P E R F O R M A N C E  I N D I C A t O R S

stakeholder feedback suggests the performance variance to target reflects, in part, a lack of understanding of the role 
and functions of the Department and the need to foster stronger relationships. through its new strategic framework and 
renewed emphasis on central government leadership, the Department is building those relationships and clearly defining 
and promoting its role.

59.5 per cent of respondents agree or strongly agree that DIa provides information and advice which assists them to deal  
more effectively with Indigenous matters. stakeholder feedback was generally positive about the quality of policy and advice.
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Efficiency Indicators

the following indicators of efficiency relate to the average cost per unit of each service. 

Service 1 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12

Actual

2011-12

target

Variance

Previous 
year

target

1.1 average cost 
per land partnering 
and project initiative

69,952 63,449 64,787 70,203 53,782 71,201 -16.6% -24.5%

this indicator measures the average cost of outputs within land related 
partnerships such as those associated with maintaining the aboriginal 
lands trust estate, developing land use agreements, deriving economic 
and social benefit from the estate and working with organisations to 
transfer land.

The total actual cost in 2011-12 was relatively low compared to budgeted 
cost, resulting in a lower average cost for the year. This is mainly  
due to the restructure in the Land and Heritage business areas of  
the Department.

1.2 average cost 
per heritage and 
culture partnership 
and project initiative

52,230 70,132 53,432 69,269 84,279 68,575 13.2% 22.9%

this indicator measures the average cost of outputs within heritage 
related partnerships such as regional heritage protection projects and 
cultural activities. 

The variance compared to the previous year’s result is due to fewer 
projects (10 less than budgeted) being completed at an 8 per cent 
increased cost. The increase in cost is a result of the restructure in the 
Land and Heritage business areas.

1.3 average cost 
per coordinating, 
cooperating and 
collaborating 
partnership and 
project initiative

97,210 89,019 111,604 141,635 126,047 166,671 -15.0% -24.4%

this indicator measures the average cost per outputs within partnerships, 
such as community patrols and service coordination across  
government agencies.

The variance compared to previous year’s results is primarily due to the 
decreased costs associated with Patrols and other coordination initiatives. 
In addition, 2011-12 ended with a 57 per cent increase in the number of 
partnership and project initiatives compared to the previous year.

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

K E Y  P E R F O R M A N C E  I N D I C A t O R S
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Service 2 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12

Actual

2011-12 

target

Variance

Previous 
year

target

2.1 average cost 
per unit of advice 
offered

72,057 47,264 52,321 48,078 40,939 48,946 -12.4% -16.4%

this indicator measures the average cost per units of strategic and tactical 
policy advice offered to government and agencies. examples of this type 
of advice include items such as languages policy, regional partnership 
agreements, remote service delivery and others.

The average cost of this output varies from year to year according to the 
complexity and size of the individual policy matters  
being addressed.

2011-12 ended in a 19 per cent increase in the number of strategic and 
tactical policy advice, with only a 4 per cent increase in the total actual 
cost compared to 2010-11.

2.2 average 
cost per request 
answered/ 
recommendation 
made

1,829 2,645 1,984 2,824 3,266 2,412 16.8% 35.4%

this indicator measures the average cost of information requests from 
government, Cabinet and the minister for information  
and policy advice, including resolutions of statutory land and  
sites committees.

The average cost of this output varies from year to year according to the 
number and nature of the requests made.  

2011-12 ended with a decrease in the number of requests (54 less from 
previous year) and an 11 per cent increase in the total cost, resulting in 
the increased cost of each request.

2.3 average 
cost per unit of 
information supplied

44 65 68 54 57 79 17.1% -27.5%

this indicator measures the average cost of requests for operational 
information services, such as land permits, family history, native title 
searches, archive access and site searches.

The level of demand for these services decreased by 6 per cent while the 
total actual cost increased by 11 per cent in 2011-12, resulting in a 17.1 
per cent variance compared to 2010-11 and  
a -27.5 per cent variance from target.

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E
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Aboriginal Affairs Planning Authority

Certification of Key Performance Indicators

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting 
users to assess the aboriginal affairs planning authority’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the 
aboriginal affairs planning authority for the year ending 30 June 2012.

Cliff Weeks 
Director General 
Date: 13 september 2012

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E
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2 3

The proportion of Aboriginal organisations that are involved in land management who 
found the Authority's management of the land on their behalf satisfactory.

4 Not at all 
effective

Target 79%
Actual 87.4%

results are calculated by combining the percentage of respondents who felt the 
authority was somewhat effective through to highly effective.

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

K E Y  P E R F O R M A N C E  I N D I C A t O R S

the desired aboriginal affairs planning authority outcome 
for government in 2011-12 was that the use and 
management of the land held by the alt, or for which the 
alt is in any manner responsible, accords with the wishes 
of the aboriginal inhabitants of the area so far as that can 
be ascertained and is practicable.

Effectiveness Indicators

the aboriginal affairs planning authority’s effectiveness 
in achieving its outcome was measured in the context 
of the use and management of the land held by the 
aboriginal lands trust in accordance with the wishes of 
the aboriginal inhabitants.

the authority commissioned an independent research 
consultancy to evaluate its performance against its 
effectiveness indicators through a survey of key partners. 

a survey was conducted between July and august 2012. 
the survey questions used this year were amended. the 
amended survey questions related to the services and 
advice provided by the authority and the indicator itself 
remained unchanged. 

a total of 55 responses were received from a database of 
70 partners, resulting in a 78.6 per cent response rate. 
the survey achieved the required sampling accuracy at 
a confidence level of 95 per cent.  this ensured that the 
results were representative and reliable.

Individual scores for each of the survey questions were 
totalled and averaged across the questions to determine 
the effectiveness indicator results.
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Actual Target

the variance from target for the 2011-12 results is 8.4 per cent. 

the variance between 2010-11 and 2011-12 represents an increase of  
5.6 percentage points.

Variances from year to year can be indicative of the level of expenditure outlaid. 
this varies as a result of rate of revenue raised by activities on the land or any 
special grants received.
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0.09

Efficiency Indicators

this efficiency indicator measures the average cost per 
hectare spent managing and maintaining the estate. 
Costs include services received free-of-charge from the 
Department of Indigenous affairs for administration of the 
estate and spending on maintenance of the estate. 

the aboriginal affairs planning authority does not receive 
appropriations from government and minimal income 
is derived from the use on the land. most management 
costs are incurred by the Department of Indigenous 
affairs. unless there are significant one off income 
streams such as specific purpose grants, the annual rate 
will vary depending on the income received.

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E
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there were no ministerial directives received during 2011-12.
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D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

O t H E R  F I N A N C I A L  D I S C L O S U R E S

Pricing Policies 

the Department of Indigenous affairs does not provide 
any paid services. 

Capital Works 

the Department of Indigenous affairs did not carry out 
any capital works during 2011–12. 

Employment and Industrial Relations 

Staffing Levels

2010-11 2011-12

full-time permanent 112 142

full-time contract 19 18

part-time (permanent 
and contract)

11 7

on secondment 7 3

total 149 170

Note: approved full-time equivalent for the Department 
is 184. figures above are based on actual headcount 
of employees, as opposed to the number of full-time 
equivalent staff.

Our People 

the Department of Indigenous affairs is the lead agency 
striving to achieve an inclusive and respectful community 
where aboriginal people benefit from the same 
opportunities as other Western australians. 

our people are the linchpin for realising this mission, 
and attracting, retaining and building our workforce is, 
therefore, of paramount importance. the Department’s 
strategic Workforce plan 2011-12 seeks to address  
this challenge. 

the Workforce plan is the result of current and future-
based environmental scanning, feedback from and 
consultation with our staff, and analysis of our workforce 
profile. through this process, several challenges and 
opportunities have emerged, and the resultant strategic 
Workforce plan maps out the ways we intend to attract, 
retain and foster our people to serve the needs of 
government and the community. 

the Workforce plan captures the strategies that will 
guide our direction. every person who works with the 
Department, now and in the future, holds a key to  
our success. 

Workers Compensation

no workers compensation claims were recorded during 
this financial year, nor for the 2010-11 financial year. 
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at the date of reporting, other than normal contracts 
of employment of service, no senior officers, or firms 
of which senior officers are members, or entities in 
which senior officers have substantial interests, had 
any interests in existing or proposed contracts with the 
Department and senior officers.

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

G O V E R N A N C E  D I S C L O S U R E S
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Advertising

In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 
1907, the Department incurred the following expenditure 
in advertising, market research, polling, direct mail and 
media advertising.

1. total expenditure for 2011-12 was $71,327.96.

2. expenditure was incurred in the following areas:

Category Supplier Name Amount 
Paid

advertising agencies adcorp australia 
limited

41,137 

Advertising 
agencies total

 41,137

market research 
organisations

liz pattison pty 
ltd

2,450

market research 
organisations

Bodhi alliance 19,932 

Market research 
organisations total

 22,382 

polling organisations - 

Polling 
organisations total

 -

Direct mail 
organisations

-

Direct mail 
organisations total

 -

media advertising 
organisations

Various suppliers 7,809

Media advertising 
organisations total

 7,809 

Grand total  71,328 

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan Outcomes

In accordance with the Disability Services Act 1993 
(amended 2004), the Department has developed a 
Disability access and Inclusion plan (DaIp) 2011-2016. 
the plan outlines a range of strategies for improving 
access and inclusion for people with disabilities aimed at 
achieving the six desired outcomes of:

1.  people with disabilities will have the same opportunities 
as other people to access the services of, and any 
events organised by, the Department.

2.  people with disabilities have the same opportunities as 
other people to access buildings and other facilities of 
the Department.

3.  people with disabilities receive information from the 
Department in a format that will enable them to access 
the information as readily as other people are able to 
access it.

4.  people with disabilities receive the same level and 
quality of service from staff of the Department as other 
people receive from staff of the Department.

5.  people with disabilities have the same opportunities as 
other people to make complaints to the Department.

6.  people with disabilities have the same opportunities as 
other people to participate in any public consultation by 
the Department.

the plan ensures:

 � all Departmental events comply with the Department’s 
policies for people with disabilities;

 � all Departmental buildings and facilities provide access 
to all people including those with disabilities;

 � the DIa website, which was upgraded in the past year, 
is fully accessible and compliant with standards for 
people with disabilities; and

 � Department publications are available in  
alternate formats.

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

O t H E R  L E G A L  R E Q U I R E M E N t S
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Compliance with Public Sector Standards and 
Ethical Codes

In accordance with section 31(1) of the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994, the Department has complied 
with the public sector standards, code of ethics and 
Department’s code of conduct.

the recruitment and selection and discipline policies and 
procedures have been reviewed and amended to reflect 
the new public sector Commissioners’ employment 
standard and Discipline procedures. new employees are 
provided with information during induction and expected 
behaviours of all employees are assessed through our 
performance review and development system. staff exit 
questionnaires also provide valuable information with 
regards to meeting the standards requirements.

one breach claim against public sector Commissioners’ 
employment standard was received during 2011-12, but 
was not upheld.

no grievance claims were received during 2011-12.

Record Keeping Plans

the Department continues to operate with its record 
Keeping plan that was approved for a period of five years 
by the state records Commission on 2 october 2009. 
this was a requirement under section 19 of the State 
Records Act 2000.

the electronic document records management system 
used by this Department is trIm Context 7.2. It is a  
state records office endorsed record keeping system 
used to register and store the Department’s corporate 
business documentation.

to ensure effective use of trIm, all new staff members 
are given record keeping awareness and trIm training 
as part of their induction process. since the Department 
holds a large volume of critical and sensitive records 
associated with comprehensive cultural awareness 
information, training is provided to staff on understanding 
cultural and traditional aboriginal values. these values 
need to be applied with staff and the community when 
accessing and viewing such records. access provisions to 
these records can be viewed on the Department’s website 
www.dia.wa.gov.au.

Freedom of Information

the Freedom of Information Act 1992 (foI act) created a 
general right of access to documents held by state and 
local government agencies. In compliance with part 5 of 
the foI act, this annual report serves the purpose of an 
Information statement. 

a description of the kinds of documents held by the 
Department and arrangements for accessing those 
records can be viewed on the Department’s website  
www.dia.wa.gov.au. a formal foI application is required to 
access documents that are not available as part of DIa’s 
normal course of business.

Freedom of Information applications for 2011-12

During 2011-12, the Department received 14 valid foI 
applications for non-personal information.

Lodgement of Freedom of Information applications

foI applications, payment of application fees and any 
associated charges, if applicable, should be directed to 
the foI coordinator:

In person at the DIA Perth Office
foI Coordinator

Department of Indigenous affairs

ground floor, 151 royal street

east perth  Wa  6004

By mail
foI Coordinator

Department of Indigenous affairs

post office Box 3153

east perth  Wa  6892

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

O t H E R  L E G A L  R E Q U I R E M E N t S
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Fees and Charges

the rate of fees and charges are set under the foI act:

 � application fee for non-personal information is $30.

 � there are no fees for applications for personal 
information about the applicant.

 � Charges for dealing with the application are set at a 
standard rate of $30 per hour, or pro rata for a part of 
an hour.

 � Charges for supervising inspection of documents are 
set at a standard rate of $30 per hour, or pro rata for a 
part of an hour.

 � Charges for photocopying are $30 per hour, or pro rata 
for a part of an hour for staff time and 20 cents per copy.

 � Charges for time taken by staff transcribing information 
from a tape or other device are set at a standard rate 
of $30 per hour, or pro rata for a part of an hour.

 � Charges for duplicating a tape, film or computer 
information will be the actual cost.

 � Charges for delivery, packaging and postage will be the 
actual cost.

Processing Applications

the Director general of the Department of Indigenous 
affairs has delegated authority for making initial decisions 
to the foI coordinator, and conducting internal reviews 
into applications under the foI act to the Department’s 
principal legal officer.

the Department’s foI coordinator is also responsible for 
administering the process of foI applications within the 
Department and is the initial contact point for members 
of the community, applicants, third parties, the office of 
the Information Commissioner and other public sector 
agencies for all foI related matters.

Notice of Decision

applicants are provided with written notice of the 
Department’s decision compliant with section 30 of the 
foI act, which includes the following information:

 � date of the decision;

 � name and designation of the decision maker;

 � reasons for deleting any matter;

 � reasons for deferring access;

 � arrangements for giving access;

 � reasons for refusing access to any matter;

 � the amount and basis for any charges levied; and

 � the rights of review and procedures to be followed.

Review Rights

the foI act provides the applicant or third party the right 
to have the Department’s initial decision reviewed.  a 
written request for a review of that decision must be 
submitted within 30 days after being given notice of 
the decision. there is no lodgement fee payable for an 
internal review.

the review will be conducted by a person other than 
the person who made the original decision, and is not 
subordinate to that person. In the Department, that 
responsibility is assigned to the principal legal officer. 
the Department must complete the review and provide a 
written notice of decision within 15 days.  

If the applicant or third party is still not satisfied, then 
they may lodge a written complaint with the office of the 
Information Commissioner within 60 days following the 
internal review decision (30 days for third parties). the 
Commissioner’s decision is final unless an appeal is made 
to the supreme Court on a question of law.

Amendment of Personal Information

Individuals have the right to apply for amendment to 
personal information about them that is contained in a 
document of the agency if they believe the information 
is inaccurate, incomplete, out-of-date or misleading.  
applications must be made in writing to the Department’s 
foI coordinator, giving sufficient details to identify the 
document and the matter which the person believes to be 
inaccurate, incomplete, out-of-date, or misleading, and 
their reasons for believing this to be the case. the person 
must also give details of the amendment they want and 
provide an address for contact.

Written notice of the initial decision must be provided to 
the applicant, setting out the reasons for the decision and 
the applicant’s review rights.

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E
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Government Policy Requirements

Substantive Equality

the Department remains committed to the principles of 
substantive equality in all aspects of its operations, and 
has demonstrated this commitment by ensuring that its 
strategic planning processes and strategic documents 
recognise the diversity of the aboriginal community in Wa. 

substantive equality aspects are also embedded in 
the Department’s communication strategies for staff, 
recruitment and advertising and cultural awareness 
raising initiatives.

Consultation was undertaken with the equal opportunity 
Commission and the public sector Commission with 
respect to the development of the Department of 
Indigenous affairs substantive equality map 2012-13. the 
content of the map complements the Department’s central 
government function and is responsive to its business 
drivers. Implementation of the elements of the map will 
add value for the Department, provide an opportunity for 
improvement in aboriginal self-identification across the 
public sector and meet the intent of the policy framework 
for substantive equality. 

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management

the Department is committed to the provision of a 
working environment that is safe from injuries and risk to 
the health of its employees and visitors, and to providing 
injury management support to all employees who sustain 
a work related injury, illness or disability. the Department 
works collaboratively with the injured employee, the 
insurer, medical practitioners and/or approved vocational 
rehabilitation providers in support of this commitment. 
the focus is to work as a team in managing the injury and 
facilitate a safe and early return to meaningful work, and 
in accordance with the Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981. Information on occupational safety 
and Health (osH) and injury management is available to all 
employees on the Department’s intranet site.  

the osH Committee was re-established, with the osH 
Committee terms of reference endorsed by the Corporate 
executive and osH committee meetings held on a 
quarterly basis. osH representatives are located in the 
perth office and all main regional locations. thirteen 
managers also received training in osH management 
responsibilities.  osH polices, processes and forms are 
currently being reviewed in preparation for the re-design 
of osH information on the intranet site.

Measure Actual Results Results against target

2010-11 2011-12 target Comment on result

number of fatalities - - -

lost time injury/disease incidence rate - - -

lost time injury severity rate - - -

percentage of injured workers returned 
to work within 28 weeks

not applicable not applicable not applicable

percentage of managers trained in osH 
management responsibilities

57% 65% greater than or 
equal to 50%

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

O t H E R  L E G A L  R E Q U I R E M E N t S
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East Kimberley District:
District Office
Lot 2250 Coolibah Drive
P.O. Box 672
Kununurra WA 6743
Ph: (08) 9166 5500
Fax: (08) 9168 2435

West Kimberley District:
D
and

istrict Office

1 Short Street
Cnr Dampier Terrace
P.O. Box 1538
Broome WA 6725
Ph: (08) 9194 3400
Fax: (08) 9192 2850

Pilbara District:
District Office
Lot 2, 18 Tonkin Street
P.O. Box 2634
South Hedland WA 6722
Ph: (08) 9160 2200
Fax: (08) 9140 2588

Midwest District:
District Office
2nd Floor, SGIO Building
45 Cathedral Avenue
P.O. Box 2105
Geraldton WA 6531
Ph: (08) 9920 9600
Fax: (08) 9964 5473

Metro District:
District Office
151 Royal St   
P.O. Box 3153
East Perth WA 6892
Ph: (08) 6551 8071
Fax: (08) 6551 8088

Southern District:
District Office
129 Aberdeen Street
P.O. Box 5091
Albany WA 6330
Ph: (08) 9845 7300
Fax: (08) 9842 3517

Goldfields District:
District Office
Unit 8, Brookman Mews
Cnr Brookman & Cassidy Streets
P.O. Box 10387
Kalgoorlie WA 6430
Ph: (08) 9093 9900
Fax: (08) 9021 5271

Regional Operations Centre:

D I S C L O S U R E S  &  L E G A L  C O M P L I A N C E

W H E R E  t O  F I N D  U S
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